

BS Department for Business Innovation & Skills

RESEARCH PAPER NUMBER 61

Review of Research and Evaluation on Improving Adult Literacy and Numeracy Skills

DECEMBER 2011

The views expressed in this report are the authors' and do not necessarily reflect those of the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills.

Department for Business, Innovation and Skills

1 Victoria Street

London, SW1H 0ET

www.BIS.gov.uk

BIS Research paper number 61

December 2011

Contents

3	ontents	2
Ξ	xecutive Summary	. 10
	Introduction	. 10
	Evidence	. 11
	Findings	. 12
	Economic, personal and social returns to learning	. 12
	Quality and effectiveness of provision	. 12
	Number of learning hours	. 13
	Learner persistence	. 14
	Skills acquisition, retention and loss	. 14
	The literacy and numeracy skills that are needed	. 14
	Conclusion	. 15
	Further research	. 15
n	troduction	. 17
	About this literature review	. 17
	Background	. 19
	Context of this review	. 20
V	ethodology	. 22
	Step 1: conducting bibliographical searches and retrieving documents	. 22
	Step 2: populating the review templates	. 27
	Step 3: analysing the review templates and drafting the report	. 27
)	utcomes of learning: economic returns	. 28
	Evidence	. 28

F	-indings	29
	Earnings	29
	Employment	34
	Training and promotion	35
	Job-skills and job-seeking skills	35
	Unemployment	36
	Costs and benefits for employers	37
	Costs and benefits for the Exchequer	41
(Conclusion	42
Ou	tcomes of learning: personal and social returns	44
I	ntroduction	44
E	Evidence	44
F	Findings	44
	Impact of improving skills in adulthood	44
	Personal and interpersonal skills	45
	Confidence and self esteem	46
	Social capital	48
(Conclusion	49
Qu	ality and effectiveness of provision: learning and learning-related outcomes	50
I	ntroduction	50
E	Evidence	50
F	-indings	52
	Reviews of evidence on effective teaching	
	Participation and achievement: the Skills for Life strategy	
	Practice and proficiency	54

L	earning gains	55
ν	Vorkplace programmes	57
F	Family literacy and numeracy	60
C	Offender learning	60
F	Formative assessment	61
E	Embedded provision	62
Cor	nclusion	62
Qualit	ty and effectiveness of provision: teaching and learning	64
Intro	oduction	64
Evid	dence	64
Find	dings	65
F	Reading	65
ν	Vriting	66
L	iteracy (evidence on both reading and writing)	67
li	nspection evidence (literacy)	68
٨	lumeracy	68
li	nspection evidence (numeracy)	69
Cor	nclusion	71
Qualit	ty and effectiveness of provision: the workforce, teaching qualifications and skills	73
Intro	oduction	73
Evid	dence	73
7	eacher qualifications and skills	74
7	eacher qualifications and learner gains	76
7	eacher education	78
Cor	nclusion	78

Quality and effectiveness of provision: efficiency	80
Introduction	80
Evidence	80
Findings	80
Conclusion	82
Quality and effectiveness of provision: motivation	83
Introduction	83
Evidence	83
Findings	83
Motivation to join learning programmes	83
Motivation to persist in learning	87
Conclusion	88
Quality and effectiveness of provision: technology	90
Introduction	90
Evidence	93
Findings	
Enabling learner progression	
Flexible delivery	
Engaging and motivating learners	
Conclusion	
Number of learning hours	
Introduction	
Evidence	
Findings	
Conclusion	104

Persistence in literacy and numeracy learning	106
Introduction	106
Evidence	107
Findings	108
Barriers to persistence	108
Provider support	110
Programme support	112
Practice	114
Policy support	114
Conclusion	115
Skills acquisition, retention and loss	116
Introduction	116
Evidence	116
Findings	116
The effect of (un)employment on skills acquisition, retention and loss	117
Skills retention following literacy programmes	119
Conclusion	120
What literacy and numeracy skills are needed?	121
Introduction	121
Evidence	121
Findings	122
The scale of skills needs	122
Skills needs assessment	123
Demand for literacy and numeracy provision	124
What literacy and numeracy skills do adults actually need?	125

Conclusion	131
Conclusion	134
Introduction	134
Overarching conclusions	134
Assessing the evidence	135
Economic, social and personal outcomes	136
Quality and effectiveness of provision	136
Number of learning hours	136
Persistence	137
Skills retention and loss	137
Literacy and numeracy skills needs	137
Recommendations	138
Economic, social and personal outcomes	138
Quality and effectiveness of provision	139
Number of learning hours	139
Persistence	140
Skills retention and loss	140
Literacy and numeracy skills needs	140
Future research priorities	140
The need for high quality studies	141
A research strategy: large- and small-scale studies	141
Annex A: Bibliography	143
Annex B: Detailed methodology	178
Step 1: conducting bibliographical searches and retrieving documents	178
Step 2: populating the Rapid Review templates	185

S	tep 3: analysing the review templates and drafting the report.	189
K	eywords used for each bibliographic database	. 189
	Australian Education Index (AEI)	. 189
	British Education Index (BEI)	. 195
	British Education Index Free Collections	202
	Education Resources Information Center (ERIC)	202
	Elsevier Economics and Finance	209
	Emerald	209
	Oxford Economic Papers	209
	PsycINFO	209
	Social Policy and Practice	209
	Social Science Research Network (SSRN)	210

Executive Summary

Introduction

- Until the results of the International Adult Literacy Survey in 1996 revealed the low levels of literacy and numeracy in the UK in comparison with other OECD countries, adult basic skills education was not a priority for the national government. Teaching basic skills to adults was marginalised and under-resourced and classes were mainly delivered by a volunteer workforce. The subsequent investigation into the perceived basic skills crisis by Sir Claus Moser's working group precipitated the launch, in 2001, of the Skills for Life strategy for England, a major government initiative to raise the language, literacy and numeracy (LLN) skills of the adult population. Skills for Life introduced a learning infrastructure including national standards, a core curriculum, materials and tests, new qualifications and professional standards for LLLN teachers as well as national targets for the numbers of adults the strategy aimed to reach and the number of formal qualifications to be gained. The first systematic research programme for investigating adult literacy and literacy (ALN) was set up in 2002 with the creation of the National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy (NRDC). Thus only very recently has there been a systematic, nationallyfunded attempt to professionalise practice in teaching and learning and to provide robust evidence on ALN.
- 2. The purposes of this literature review are threefold. First, this review summarises findings of the research from the last decade in six fields identified by the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS) as critical to its forward planning: (1) the economic, personal and social returns to learning; (2) the quality and effectiveness of provision; (3) the number of learning hours needed for skills gain; (4) learner persistence; (5) the retention and loss of skills over time; (6) the literacy and numeracy skills that are needed. Second, this review assesses this evidence base in terms of its quality and robustness, identifying gaps and recommending ways in which the evidence base can be extended and improved. Thirdly, this review attempts to interpret the evidence base to suggest, where possible, how returns to ALN learning for individuals, employers and wider society might be increased through effective and cost-effective interventions.
- 3. This review was undertaken by SQW, NRDC and the National Foundation for Educational Research (NFER) with additional assistance from a panel of experts from the London Knowledge Lab, the Centre for the Economics of Education and NRDC, all at the Institute of Education, London, and the National Institute for Adult Continuing Education (NIACE). It was carried out rapidly, over a period of 13 weeks between March and May 2011, in four stages: bibliographic searches and document retrieval (conducted by the NFER using keywords and search strategies devised by SQW and NRDC); review of sources and population of review templates in NVivo software; analysis of review templates and drafting of the report, including consultation with the project's panel of experts; reporting to BIS. The age range to be covered by this review was from 19 upwards, and evidence was to be drawn primarily from English-language and UK-based sources.

Evidence

4. Since the introduction of the Skills for Life strategy in 2001, the evidence base on ALN has expanded greatly and now includes national data on ALN levels and needs (from the 2003 Skills for Life survey, with the results of a follow up survey expected in 2011); national evaluations of the impact of Skills for Life on learners and teachers; longitudinal studies on the impact of ALN in the workplace and in further education (FE); studies of relationships between teaching practices and learners progress in reading, writing and numeracy; studies on specific groups such as those perceived to be 'hard to reach' and learners with learning difficulties, and studies in particular contexts, including prisons and families. There is also an increasing body of international evidence, in particular from the United States (US), New Zealand and Australia.

There is strong evidence on the following features of ALN:

- good practice in teaching literacy and numeracy
- the benefits of embedding ALN in vocational programmes
- the positive impact on learners of working with qualified teachers
- the personal and social impact of ALN
- the need for multiple ways of engaging in learning in class, self study, distance learning, ICT supported learning.

There is promising evidence in relation to the following features of ALN:

- blended learning combining face to face and technology based, formal and self-study methods
- the significance of techno-mathematical literacies a combination of ICT, literacy and numeracy skills
- the time required to make significant learning progress often in excess of 100 hours.
- 5. Looking across the six areas included in this review:
- good evidence was found on adult basic skills levels, teaching and learning, and personal, social and economic returns
- limited evidence was found on skills acquisition, retention and loss, and on adults' everyday practices in literacy and numeracy, including patterns of self-study

- little evidence was found on the cost-effectiveness of ALN programmes, either as a whole or of specific delivery models and methods
- the evidence of the impact of ALN on productivity was found to be very weak; it is stronger but far from robust on further learning, and on employment and wages
- there is a lack of good evidence on information and communications technology (ICT), and on the role and impact of ICT in blended learning provision.

Findings

Economic, personal and social returns to learning

- 6. There is growing evidence that gaining literacy and numeracy *skills* in adulthood has a positive effect on earnings and employment. However, the acquisition of literacy and numeracy *qualifications* in adulthood has not yet been shown to be related to significant gains in earnings and employment.
- 7. There is insufficient UK evidence on the economic impact of literacy and numeracy *provision* in the context of FE and the workplace.
- 8. There is clear, convincing and statistically significant evidence that participation in ALN provision, and having higher levels of ALN, have a positive personal and social impact on individuals and communities. The personal and social impact of literacy and numeracy learning often takes time to emerge, and emerges in forms and contexts that are removed from formal learning environments.
- Whilst there is strong evidence on the positive impact of ALN on learners' confidence, it is less clear whether improved confidence is a prerequisite of learning progress.

Quality and effectiveness of provision

- 10. Teachers of adult basic skills need to have both good generic teaching skills and good subject specific teaching skills. Effective practice in literacy occurs where teachers build on learners' experience, encourage fluent oral reading, use reciprocal teaching and explicit comprehension strategies and adequate time is allowed for active reading in class. Effective practice in numeracy occurs where teachers build on knowledge learners already have and help them overcomes their fear of maths, expose and treat misconceptions as a subject for discussion, promote reasoning and problem solving over 'answer getting', and make creative use of ICT. However, although much is known about what is effective in teaching and learning, these practices are often not observed in delivery.
- 11. Learner progress in literacy is greater where teachers have qualified teacher status, and in numeracy where teachers are qualified in maths to Level 3 or above (irrespective of qualified teacher status). Benefits for learners are associated with teachers who work full-time; nevertheless the proportion of sessional teachers in the basic skills workforce is rising.

- 12. The Skills for Life strategy contributed to a substantial increase in enrolment, completion and achievement in ALN. Studies have show there were worthwhile gains in numeracy for numeracy learners, and in reading for literacy learners, but not in writing for literacy learners.
- 13. Literacy courses tend to cost more than numeracy courses, and Entry level provision is considerably more costly than Level 1 and Level 2 provision, reflecting the greater needs of learners with the lowest skills. Longer courses tend to be delivered more efficiently than shorter courses due to fixed start-up costs. Evidence from one robust study shows that providing top-down provision on a workplace-specific basis is very expensive; as learner gains were small at best, this model of literacy delivery was demonstrated to be inefficient.
- 14. Retention rates and success rates are higher on vocational programmes where literacy and numeracy learning is embedded, as compared with non-embedded programmes. Results are lower, however, where a single teacher had dual responsibility for teaching vocational skills and ALN.
- 15. Participation in short workplace training programmes has not been demonstrated to make substantial improvements to employee literacy skills in the short term. However workplace basic skills courses reach people who are not normally involved in continuous education or training, and learners who participate in these courses voluntarily and who actively use their literacy skills at work and in everyday life continue to improve their skills and are more likely to engage in FE and training.
- 16. Many adults are motivated to gain new qualification and skills; many others are (also) motivated to improve their basic skills for 'self-development' whether personal, social and/or occupational. A common aspiration is for learners to seek to 'better themselves'. Not all learners are motivated by the desire to acquire qualifications or specific skills; they may be motivated by intrinsic goals (for example, regaining confidence lost at school) along with, or instead of the extrinsic goals of career development, better wages and improved employment.
- 17. Learning technology may improve learner progress and achievement, and may help to attract, engage and motivate learners, but what little evidence there is on these topics is at best mixed.

Number of learning hours

18. Better gains for learners seem to be associated with courses which allow for levels of participation in excess of 100 hours; learners require more time to make educationally significant progress than they generally spend in provision. For those who only need to 'brush up' existing skills, short courses are often adequate for learner gains; in contrast, learners working at a higher level may find it more difficult to achieve a qualification within the learning hours allocated to a single-year course. There is some limited evidence to show that learners who engage in self-study between classes make better progress.

Learner persistence

- 19. Basic skills learners are more likely to withdraw from courses in the earlier stages than in the later stages; learners working at lower levels are more likely to withdraw than learners working at higher levels and learners with prior qualifications and experiences of learning are less likely to withdraw than those who have no prior experience.
- 20. Persistence is supported where learner progress is monitored and recognised on a regular basis, by setting and revisiting learner goals. It is therefore important that progress towards 'soft' outcomes, such as improvements in self-confidence, are recognised within a broad framework of achievement and that formative assessment recognises small steps as well as significant gains.
- 21. Breaking off from learning programmes can be a rational and positive response to changing circumstances. What is important in terms of learner persistence is that these breaks from learning are supported, principally by distance and blended learning, so that learners are not penalised and do not have the door to learning closed on them. However, the use of ICT needs to be well-supported as learners who encounter problems with ICT resources away from class can lose confidence and motivation.

Skills acquisition, retention and loss

- 22. There is evidence of a life course trend in skills acquisition and loss, with skills improving up to early middle-age, reaching a plateau in middle age and declining in older age. Use of literacy and numeracy skills in the workplace and in daily life helps adults retain and develop those skills. Where it is available, workplace training can offset the loss of literacy and numeracy skills; the offer of training is, however, dependent on occupational sector and level.
- 23. Unemployed adults are more likely to experience a loss in skills than adults in work, and numeracy skills' loss is greater for those out of work than literacy skills' loss. The loss of numeracy skills for unemployed men is greater than for unemployed women, perhaps because women are more likely to use basic maths on a daily basis. Individuals who attain a threshold level of competency in literacy and numeracy by the time they leave school are less likely to face a decline of skills when out of work than those whose literacy and numeracy skills are poor at age 16.

The literacy and numeracy skills that are needed

- 24. There is a lack of consensus over which ALN skills are needed, or the importance of literacy and numeracy alongside personal and technical skills in the workplace. Perceptions of skills needs vary by perspective, purpose, learner type, service provider, skill types and who needs the skill.
- 25. There is growing evidence of the need amongst employees for a more complex combination of skills than in the past, including a combination of ICT and mathematical literacies. Individuals in employment who struggle with skills in ICT or literacy or numeracy are likely to suffer losses in the other two areas. The growing range of demands and contexts for reading and writing, and for using and

- manipulating numeric data, is further evidence in favour of a focus on functional skills.
- 26. Employers frequently cite the need for (improved) reading, writing and maths skills in the workplace, and report a significant gap between the skills levels of employees and skills needs in the workplace. However, there is much less evidence on employees' perceptions, and there is scope for the use of more refined assessment instruments to determine the skills that employers need.

Conclusion

- 27. Continuing investment in improving ALN skills is required, but based on stronger evidence of which skills are required than currently exists. The forthcoming results from the Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competences (PIAAC) will provide an indication of the UK's progress relative to international comparators, and suggest where investment should be focused.
- 28. There is little evidence explicitly linking the assessment of skills needs to the design and delivery of effective, efficient and economical provision leading to demonstrably cost-effective outcomes, such as improved employment, productivity, civic participation or learning progression.
- 29. No cost-benefit analyses of literacy and numeracy programmes have been carried out that would enable identification of the most efficient modes and models for delivering literacy and numeracy provision.
- 30. There has been relatively little funded work on the development of software and new e-learning techniques for adults in this field. Robust trials are required to clarify which are the effective practices in using technology for different groups of learners, and for different types of learning outcome.
- 31. There remains a need to establish, on the basis of rigorous cost-benefit analyses, the costs and benefits to employers of lower and higher levels of literacy and numeracy, considered separately, and in respect of small, medium and large employers in different sectors.

Further research

- 32. One reason for the lack of robust evidence in several areas is the prevalence of inadequately designed studies and poor quality interventions. We need better quality interventions, and large, well designed and more sophisticated studies, that allow for the time and complex causality that connects learning interventions to their outcomes. Such studies are expensive, but they would provide a large pay off; an extensive body of reliable evidence that can be used as a solid basis for policy, development and further research.
- 33. Given the promising evidence on blended learning, its potential cost-effectiveness, and the increasing importance of employment and employability in ALN, it is a priority

- is to develop high-quality blended programmes for employees in the workplace and other contexts, and to conduct a robust evaluation of their impact and effectiveness.
- 34. A priority for any future large-scale research is that it should include quality controls, particularly as these apply to teachers and teaching strategies. Past evaluations yielding negative conclusions often included very short interventions and teachers who lacked subject-specific teaching qualifications. Research design should build in an evaluation of implementation quality, to allow any assessment to distinguish between the principles of an intervention and how effectively or otherwise they were put into practice.
- 35. Any single large scale study should be focussed on one context within the post 19 sector. The quality of ALN teaching is generally higher than in many other post 19 contexts. If there was scope for only one future large scale longitudinal or experimental project, we recommend that it is exclusively focussed on the FE sector (though, clearly, all post 19 contexts would benefit from studies of this kind.)
- 36. In relation to the personal and socio-economic outcomes of ALN, longitudinal research provides as much potential as any other research design for yielding a reliable and extensive body of evidence. It is recommended that lessons are learned from the Longitudinal Study of Adult Learning (LSAL) study in the US. This is a well designed study, with a large and representative sample of a local population, repeatedly followed up over nine years, using measures for reading, writing and maths, and also a broad range of learning-related activities and practices.
- 37. Along with large scale research we recommend studies on a smaller scale. One strategy is to focus on a development programme of the best pedagogies and delivery methods (combining face-to-face and technology-based, formal and self-study methods), and to carry out small-scale but intensive case studies to follow individuals all the way from pre-test to intervention, to assessment, through to application in the home and workplace. Individual longitudinal case studies make it possible to explain the (un)successful features of interventions, in terms of the personal and local conditions experienced by the individual learners.
- 38. Evidence on skills needs often relies on learners' and employers' self report. There is a need for more robust research, including objective measures, on the literacy and numeracy skills that learners and employers actually use and need.
- 39. It is cost effective to exploit and build on existing data sources, including PIAAC, and, particularly if additional ALN questions were included, the British birth cohort studies.

Introduction

About this literature review

- 1.1 SQW and the National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy (NRDC) were commissioned by the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS) to provide a review of available literacy and numeracy evaluation and research literature. Bibliographical searches were conducted by the National Foundation for Educational Research (NFER). Additional assistance was provided by a panel of experts from the London Knowledge Lab, the Centre for the Economics of Education and NRDC, all at the Institute of Education, London, and the National Institute for Adult Continuing Education (NIACE). This review draws in the main from English-language and UK-based sources published from the year 2000 onwards. The age range covered is from 19 upwards, and English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) is not addressed. The review was conducted rapidly, over a period of 13 weeks between March and May 2011.
- 1.2 The goals of this review were to appraise the evidence in terms of robustness and quality, identify gaps where these exist, and make recommendations for areas where further research is needed to strengthen the evidence base that supports policy development. This review also attempts to interpret the evidence base to determine, as far as is possible, how the economic, personal and social returns to adult literacy and numeracy (ALN) learning for individuals, employers and wider society might be increased through effective and cost-effective interventions.
- 1.3 Broadly, this review investigates the different elements a logic chain covering how the delivery of ALN skills (i.e. the funded activities) makes best use of the investment (i.e. inputs) to achieve the greatest economic, social and personal returns (i.e. outcomes) with the widest possible effects (i.e. impacts). It does so by considering six themes:
- learning outcomes: the economic, personal and social returns to learning
- the quality and effectiveness of provision
- the number of learning hours needed for skills gain
- the current culture and practice relating to learner persistence
- the acquisition of skills and the retention and loss of skills over time
- the literacy and numeracy skills that are needed.
- 1.4 Further details about each of these six themes, including the questions posed for the review in agreement with BIS, are set out in Table 1-1. Across these six themes, four areas are considered where they enhance our understanding of that theme: workplace and non-workplace provision; meeting the needs of 'hard-to-reach'

- learners; differences between findings for literacy and numeracy; and the need for cost-effective, outcome-based approaches.
- 1.5 The findings of this review are presented in 12 chapters, each of which contains an introduction, an evaluation of the evidence base, findings and conclusions. The first two themes, learning outcomes and quality and effectiveness of provision, are split into multiple chapters to divide up an otherwise large body of material. We end the report with conclusions which bring the analysis from the preceding chapters together with recommendations for policy, practice and research.

Table 1-1: Questions guiding the six themes under review		
Theme	Questions for the review	
Learning outcomes	What are the economic, personal and social returns of improving adults' literacy and numeracy skills? (Economic outcomes include getting a job, sustaining employment, progressing in employment, wage returns, increasing productivity.) Where do positive outcomes occur and why do they occur? That is, what is the link between the features of provision and the outcome, and how we can improve outcomes? How can we improve our evidence base in this area?	
Quality and effectiveness of provision	What does the evidence tell us about current provision in terms of the amount and quality of teaching that takes place, the motivation of learners and the link to expected benefits/outcomes? What do we know about the most effective and efficient modes and models of engaging learners and delivering literacy and numeracy provision? What are the most effective pedagogical approaches and how have they been applied through different delivery models? What is the available evidence on the use of technology to deliver literacy and numeracy provision? To what extent is it currently used? Which types of learners use it? What is the relative effectiveness of different approaches?	
Number of learning hours	What does the evidence tell us about the number of learning hours needed for skills gain? To what extent does own-time learning impact on the length of courses and the outcomes? What do we know about current practice and expectation in terms of the balance between guided (tutored) learning and own-time learning?	

Table 1-1: Questions guiding the six themes under review		
Theme	Questions for the review	
Persistence in literacy and numeracy learning	What does the evidence tell us about the current culture and practice relating to learner persistence and the most effective ways to keep people in learning for long enough to make significant progress?	
Skills acquisition, retention and loss over time	What does the research tell us about skills acquisition and retention, why skills loss occurs and what can and has been done to reduce it?	
What literacy and numeracy skills are needed?	What literacy and numeracy skills are most needed/ demanded by learners, employers and society, to support progression, employability, improved productivity and civic participation?	

Background

- 1.6 Until the results of the International Adult Literacy Survey (IALS) in 1996 revealed the low levels of literacy and numeracy in the UK in comparison with other OECD countries, adult basic skills education was not a priority for the national government. Teaching basic skills to adults was marginalised and under-resourced and classes were mainly delivered by a volunteer workforce. The subsequent investigation into the perceived basic skills crisis by Sir Claus Moser's working group precipitated the launch, in 2001, of the Skills for Life strategy for England, a Labour Government initiative to raise the language, literacy and numeracy (LLN) skills of the adult population. Skills for Life introduced a learning infrastructure including national standards, a core curriculum, materials and tests, new qualifications and professional standards for LLN teachers as well as national targets for the numbers of adults the strategy aimed to reach and the number of formal qualifications to be gained. Thus only very recently has there been a systematic, nationally funded attempt to professionalise practice in ALN.
- 1.7 Following the publication of the Moser report, the NFER was commissioned by the then Department for Education and Employment (DfEE) to carry out a review of research on adult basic skills. As that review's title makes clear, Assembling the Fragments (Brooks et al, 2001b) drew on an evidence base that was patchy and scattered, with large gaps in knowledge on the scale of need, on numeracy as compared to literacy, on teaching practice, on assessment and on attainment and progress and an absence of any intervention or training studies from the UK in the adult basic skills field.
- 1.8 The Skills for Life survey (2003) delivered robust baseline data on the scale of need in ALN in England for the first time, with important contributions also coming from a series of increasingly sophisticated surveys, including the Programme for the

International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC). As part of Skills for Life, the first systematic research programme in basic skills was established, with the creation, in 2002, of NRDC. Through the work of NRDC and other research groups, including a major contribution by the National Center for the Study of Adult Learning and Literacy (NCSALL) in the US, there has been an unprecedented progress in the growth and quality of the evidence base on basic skills. But as is evident from this review, there remain a series of significantly under-researched issues, some of which have risen in importance as a result of recent developments that include the growing number of unemployed people, and unemployed young people in particular, and the changing demands on employers, SMEs and the private sector. Although many parts of the basic skills picture have been clarified since 2001, others are still confused, and new questions have come to the fore.

Context of this review

- 1.9 The major driver in English basic skills policy since the commissioning of the Moser report in 1998 has been the need to reduce the cost to the country of low levels of literacy and numeracy, in terms of lower incomes, reduced productivity, poorer health and expenditure on benefits and welfare services. The Skills for Life strategy grew out of the recognition that improving adult basic skills brings multiple benefits to individuals, families and the wider society. Improved literacy and numeracy skills are understood to be of crucial importance in raising Britain's standing in international measures of educational achievement and in promoting social participation and social mobility as well as fundamental to the growth of the economy and to the UK's international economic competitiveness.
- 1.10 In publishing the new skills strategy for England, Skills for Sustainable Growth, in November 2010, the Coalition Government made a commitment to funding provision in full for those without basic literacy and numeracy skills, and to do so within a demand-led system driven by its 'users' (learners and employers). However, given the challenging fiscal climate and the Government's focus on achieving sustainable economic growth and improving social mobility, the government needs also to identify the most economical, efficient and effective ways of delivering its commitment to basic skills training. The immediate context for this review, then, is to provide an assessment of what the evidence base has to say about where the best returns on investment of public money lie, in terms of the effectiveness and outcomes of provision, and how this area can deliver best value for money for the public purse.
- 1.11 Despite the success of the previous Government's Skills for Life strategy in achieving the Public Service Agreement (PSA) qualifications targets by 2010, 3.25 million adults in England had achieved a nationally-recognised qualification questions remain about the impact of the strategy on overall levels of literacy and numeracy and on the sustainability of the skills gains. For example, the UK Commission for Employment and Skills (UKCES) in assessing progress toward the previous Government's 2020 ambitions for skills signalled the danger that, although the skills profile of the UK is improving, other countries are improving at a faster rate. Based on current progress, UKCES predicts that the international skills standing of the UK

- is unlikely to improve by 2020, let alone become world class, with the overall skills gap between the UK and higher ranked countries widening.
- 1.12 One concern for Government is therefore to ensure that there is a good match between the basic skills offer, the functional literacy and numeracy skills that individuals and employers need, and the basic skills that have been demonstrated to bring the highest economic, social and personal returns. Skills for Sustainable Growth signalled a move away from a centrally-determined target system where qualifications were used as a proxy for skills gain (the PSA targets set as part of Skills for Life have been abolished) towards a system that gives providers the flexibility to respond to local needs and focuses on improving the effectiveness of provision.
- 1.13 A survey is currently underway which will measure progress in tackling low literacy and numeracy by updating the findings of the 2003 Skills for Life Needs and Impact Survey. In advance of the publication of that survey (forthcoming in Autumn 2011), this review provides an assessment of several critical dimensions of basic skills provision, and of the best available evidence. This review is the first phase in a wider review process, and is designed to inform the Department's short-term policy actions and longer-term commissioning plans.

Methodology

- 2.1 This chapter provides a summary description of the methodology used to carry out this review. A more detailed account of the methodology is available at Annex B.
- 2.2 The review was carried out in three steps:
- conducting bibliographical searches and retrieving documents
- populating the review templates
- analysing the review templates and drafting the report.

Step 1: conducting bibliographical searches and retrieving documents

- 2.3 Bibliographic searches to identify literature on ALN evaluation and research were carried out by the NFER Centre for Information and Reviews. The NFER's information specialists matched database keywords to the research questions and agreed the search strategy with the review team at SQW and NRDC. The keywords comprised sets which were devised to cover concepts for each of the six themes; in addition, a set of terms devised to define the 'population' of interest to the review was incorporated into all searches.
- 2.4 Three types of sources were searched to ensure thorough coverage of the evidence base within the available time:
- a range of general bibliographic databases
- websites of key organisations
- publication and references lists compiled by subject experts and earlier literature reviews.
- 2.5 All bibliographic database searches were limited to publication years 2004-2011, with the exception of the British Education Index on which a trial search for the period 2000-2011 was carried out. This produced a volume of hits so high that a decision was taken to use the start date of 2004 on other sources. This year was chosen so that literature published as a result of the 2003 Skills for Life survey would be retrieved. In order to ensure that no important research from the period 2000-2004 was overlooked, members of the panel of experts identified significant publications as well as essential pre-2000 sources.
- 2.6 Bibliographic databases and organisational websites included in the search are listed in Tables 2-1 and 2-2. Websites were searched on main keywords and/or the publications/research/policy sections of each website were browsed, as appropriate.

Table 2-1: Bibliographic databases searched		
Database	Description	Search details
Australian Education Index (AEI)	AEI is Australia's largest source of education information covering reports, books, journal articles, online resources, conference papers and book chapters.	searched via Dialog Datastar 16/03/11
British Education Index (BEI)	BEI provides information on research, policy and practice in education and training in the UK. Sources include over 300 journals, mostly published in the UK, plus other material including reports, series and conference papers.	searched via Dialog Datastar 04/03/11
British Education Index Free Collections	The free collections search interface of the BEI (formerly the British Education Internet Resource Catalogue) includes access to a range of freely available internet resources as well as records for the most recently indexed journal articles not yet included in the full BEI subscription database.	searched 17/03/11
Education Resources Information Center (ERIC)	ERIC is sponsored by the US Department of Education and is the largest education database in the world. Coverage includes research documents, journal articles, technical reports, program descriptions and evaluations and curricula material.	searched via Dialog Datastar 15/03/11
Elsevier Economics and Finance	Elsevier is the world's leading publisher of science and health information.	searched via Elsevier 14/03/11

Table 2-1: Bibliographic databases searched		
Database	Description	Search details
Emerald	Emerald is a long established publisher with over 200 titles in the fields of management, information science and engineering.	searched via Emerald 14/03/11
Oxford Economic Papers	Oxford Economic Papers is a general journal publishing papers in a wide range of areas in theoretical and applied economics.	searched via Oxford Journals 14/03/11
PsycINFO	PsycINFO contains references to the psychological literature including articles from over 1,300 journals in psychology and related fields, chapters and books, dissertations and technical reports.	searched via Ovid SP 17/03/11
Social Policy and Practice	Social Policy and Practice is a bibliographic database with abstracts covering evidence-based social policy, public health, social services, and mental and community health. Content is from the UK with some material from the USA and Europe. Searches were carried out across the descriptors, heading word, title and abstract fields, to enable retrieval of terms both as keywords and free text.	searched via Ovid SP 17/03/11
Social Science Research Network (SSRN)	Social Science Research Network (SSRN) is devoted to the rapid worldwide dissemination of social science research and is composed of a number of specialized research networks in each of the social sciences.	searched via SSRN 11/03/11

Table 2-2: Websites of key organisations searched						
URL						
http://www.bis.gov.uk/						
http://www.cbi.org.uk/						
http://www.cfbt.com/						
http://www.education.gov.uk/						
http://www.excellencegateway.org.uk/						
http://www.idea.gov.uk/						
http://www.ilo.org/						
http://www.nao.org.uk/						
http://www.literacytrust.org.uk/						
http://www.oecd.org/						
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/						
http://www.tuc.org.uk/						
http://www.unesco.org.uk/						
http://www.skillscommission.org/						
http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/						
http://www.worldbank.org/						

Source: NFER

2.7 Three bibliographic databases produced more than 1,000 items, including more than 4,000 in the case of the Education Resources Information Center (ERIC). The NFER information specialists then carried out a manual review of these search results and selected shorter lists of items for the SQW and NRDC review team to consider. Items were selected on the basis of relevance to the research questions, pertinence to one

- or more of the four cross-cutting considerations, and to the quality of the study, judged according to type (for example, randomised controlled trial, other experimental, quasi-experimental, longitudinal, case study, ethnographic study, grounded theory study) and fidelity to the research methods appropriate to that type.
- 2.8 Based on these short-listed results, the SQW and NRDC review team created a database of unique source reference; this database comprised in excess of 1600 unique entries. Each entry included bibliographic data on the source as well as information on how the source had been identified (the name of the bibliographic database, website or expert recommendation) and which of the research review's six themes the source pertained to.
- 2.9 The NRDC team reviewed each source listed and graded for importance (none, low, medium, high). Around 650 items were excluded from further review during this process; this category in the main consisted of sources that were not relevant to the research review because of the subject, cohort (e.g. school children) or geography (e.g. adult literacy in developing countries) studied. Sources prioritised as 'low' (around 435) included items that focused primarily on theoretical discussions and frameworks, items where the research review's six themes were assessed to be peripheral to the content, articles published in non-peer reviewed publications (such as sector specific magazines), publications where it would not be cost- or time-effective to retrieve the source, and minor/interim publications from research studies where more detailed or final reports were available elsewhere.
- 2.10 For many items assessed as 'medium' or 'high' priority sources, the review and grading process included online retrieval and a brief consultation of that source. Sources included in the 'medium' priority list (around 325) included some where reliable summaries were known to be available via sources already graded as high priority, publications highly relevant in subject matter but published prior to the introduction of Skills for Life, publications from small-scale studies where findings were less robust and might have limited their applicability in other contexts, items with a strong focus on pedagogy and practice, and sources that were high-quality but considered single or narrow themes (e.g. learning persistence of women domestic workers; use of Individualised Learning Plans; Virtual Learning Environments in Scotland). Those identified as high priority were those assessed to be highly relevant (focused on adults, on literacy and numeracy, on skills, on learning, and on interventions and their impact) and of high quality; the vast majority of these high priority sources were those already familiar to the research teams due to their expertise in these areas.
- 2.11 Once sources had been provisionally graded, senior members of the SQW and NRDC teams reviewed all 'high' and 'medium' priority items, taking account of notes made on the database by the first level review team, producing a slightly revised database. The Expert Panel members reviewed the list of high priority items, suggesting additions or deletions as appropriate. Additional sources were identified by members of the review team and through citations in the literature reviews included in the review. The final list included 175 high priority items. For a number of these sources, the review team drew upon reliable summaries or syntheses carried out for earlier literature reviews.

Step 2: populating the review templates

2.12 Next a small team from SQW and NRDC reviewed the sources, completing a template for each which was stored using QSR NVivo qualitative research software. The template captured basic information, including the full bibliographic reference, the abstract, research questions and methods, and sources of evidence. In the main body of the template reviewers recorded findings pertinent to the six themes of the study, including sub-themes under 'quality and effectiveness of provision' and 'learning outcomes', and to the four cross-cutting considerations. The template was also used to record the full bibliographic reference for any significant findings drawn from other sources.

Step 3: analysing the review templates and drafting the report

2.13 Once templates were completed for all the sources under review, these templates were themselves reviewed in order to draft findings. This analysis was carried out by a four person team from SQW and NRDC: Michael Frearson and Stuart Johnson from SQW and John Vorhaus and Jennifer Litster from NRDC. Members of the Expert Panel were also asked to comment on an early draft of the review.

Outcomes of learning: economic returns

Introduction

3.1 This chapter presents recent quantitative evidence on the economic returns to improving literacy and numeracy skills, including evidence on the following: earnings and employment; training and promotion; job-skills and job-seeking skills; and the costs and benefits to employers and to the Exchequer and of lower or higher levels of basic skills.

Evidence

- 3.2 The study of the economic returns to learning is well developed, and this field is notable for the prevalence of well designed rigorous econometric research. There is conclusive evidence that having literacy and numeracy skills, whenever these are acquired, has a positive impact on earnings and employment. There is less evidence on the economic returns to attaining basic skills in adulthood, although most of the evidence suggests a positive impact on labour market outcomes (Patrignani and Conlon, 2011, is one example of this).
- 3.3 Two British birth cohort studies, the National Child Development Study (NCDS) and the 1970 British Cohort Study (BCS70), provide an invaluable source of data for exploring the relationship between economic and social outcomes and levels of ALN. However, owing to the small number of individuals in any birth cohort having taken ALN courses, these studies provide limited evidence on the effects of adult basic skills interventions. For this reason, use of these sources is kept to a minimum in this chapter.
- 3.4 Econometric evidence is complex; whilst technicalities are kept to a minimum, they cannot be altogether removed without also making it impossible to assess the main findings.
- 3.5 Beyond a number of general messages expert opinion is often divided, and this chapter therefore includes details from sources that do not always point towards the same conclusion.
- 3.6 Owing to the complexity of the evidence, this section includes a tabular summary of evidence on wage and employment returns to gaining or improving literacy and numeracy in adulthood.

Table 3-1: Map of UK evidence – attaining skills in adulthood						
	Impact of attaining literacy skills on earnings	Impact of attaining numeracy skills on earnings	Impact of attaining literacy skills on employment	Impact of attaining numeracy skills on employment	Comment	
Metcalf et al, 2009	No	No	Inconclusive	Inconclusive	High levels of attrition	
Bynner and Parsons, 2006	Yes	Yes	Yes: men	Yes: women		
Machin et al, 2001	Yes: men	Yes: men	n/a	Yes: men		
McIntosh and Vignoles, 2001	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Consistent results from two data sets. Employment effects small/ statistically insignificant	
BIS, 2011	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	McIntosh 2010 is primary source. Literacy and numeracy not distinguished	

Findings

Earnings

3.7 BIS (2011) reported on the economic value of government-funded qualifications provided by the post-19 FE sector. Since approaches to estimating wage returns vary, and the literature presents conflicting evidence, McIntosh (2010) identified a set of premia that are (as far as possible) consistent with each other. The wage returns from Skills for Life are assumed to increase as prior qualification levels increase. The model assumes a wage premium of 3% compared to individuals with no prior qualifications, and 5% compared to those previously qualified to Levels 1-5.

- learners taking Skills for Life courses in FE colleges leading to qualifications in 2002 and 2003. Their progress was compared with a comparison group who also had low or no literacy or numeracy qualifications, but who did not take Skills for Life courses. Between Wave 1 (2002/03) and Wave 4 (2006) learners experienced an increase in net annual earnings of £560 compared to £542 for non-learners. This small difference is not statistically significant. This study, therefore, did not find evidence of wage returns to college-based courses in literacy and numeracy. But it is not correct to infer that the study finds conclusive evidence of no wage return. Statistical significance is difficult to establish, owing to sample attrition; there is the possibility of bias brought about through sample loss; and the numbers fluctuate significantly over the period of measurement.
- 3.9 Using learner attainment information from the Individual Learner Record (ILR) between 2002/03 and 2005/06 and data on annual earnings (between 2003/04 and 2009/10), London Economics (Patrignani and Conlon, 2011) found a sizeable earnings return to gaining Skills for Life qualifications at Level 1. In the short to medium term the returns to literacy learning aims were greater than to numeracy learning aims (in excess of 7% in the first three years post completion compared to 3% for numeracy) but the returns to numeracy qualifications increased steadily over time (from 3% in year one to approximately 12% in year six). In numeracy, the earnings returns to Level 2 learning aims were 'immediate and persistent' (p. 16), starting at approximately 1.7% immediately post attainment rising to more than 13.7% at the end of seven years, while those attaining Level 2 literacy qualifications saw a negative impact on earnings for the first four years after attainment (around -2.5%) before returns of between 2.7% and 8.8% in the fifth to seventh years post attainment. Those attaining both literacy and numeracy qualifications at Level 2 also experienced a positive return on earnings after an initial dip in the first year post attainment. In years six and seven, the earnings return of gaining both literacy and numeracy at Level 2 is approximately 10%.
- 3.10 Evidence from Bynner and Parsons (2006) drawing from the two British cohort studies points to a strong relationship between poor basic skills and income. Compared with women who had a poor grasp of literacy or numeracy at both age 21 and 34, women who had improved their literacy or numeracy by age 34 were more likely to be generally better off and to have savings and investments. Compared with men who had a poor grasp of literacy or numeracy at both age 21 and 34, men who had improved their literacy or numeracy by age 34 were more likely to own their own home, and they were less likely to be living on state benefits and to have borrowed money from a friend, family member or other source.
- 3.11 Machin (2001) assessed the impact of skills improvements between age 16 and 37 using skill measurement tests in the NCDS at age 37. Individuals who reported that their skills had improved generally earned more than those who did not believe their skills had improved. For example, males who claimed to have improved their numeracy skills earned 3% more than those who did not make such a claim. Women who claimed to have improved their numeracy skills earned 11% more than those who made no such claim.

- 3.12 Focussing on the *wage effect* of having Level 1 skills, relative to below this level, numeracy skills appear to have a greater effect on earnings than literacy skills. However when focussing on the *change* in skills between the ages of 16 and 37, literacy skills have a greater wage effect, for men at least, and if the male was initially at the upper end of the skills distribution at age 16.
- 3.13 These results suggest that for adults with very low basic skills, improving their numeracy to at least Level 1 will have a greater effect on earnings than improving their literacy. Adults who already have a good grounding in basic skills will see the greatest wage gains from further increasing their literacy rather than their numeracy skills. Thus, for numeracy the key seems to be to get skills to an acceptable level, while for literacy, the gains will go on rising as skills continue to be improved (at least for males).
- 3.14 Using data from NCDS and IALS, McIntosh and Vignoles (2001) estimated the potential impact on earnings from improving the literacy and numeracy skills of adults. The model includes controls for a range of additional factors that might be correlated with literacy and numeracy: educational level; social class and background; type of school attended as a child; variables measuring parental interest in education; region; and ability in reading and mathematics on entering school. Once these factors are controlled for the wage premium from having Level 1 or above numeracy skills is 8-10%, whilst the wage premium from Level 1 literacy skills is 2-6%. There are two notable features of these results: (1) the two data sets, which include two completely different groups of workers of different ages, show strikingly consistent results; (2) the large effect of numeracy on earnings, even after allowing for many other factors that might also influence earnings.
- 3.15 In the US, Reder (2010) found strong relationships between literacy proficiency and earnings among high school dropouts. This replicates Tyler et al.'s (2004b) finding (see below), and extends it to all high school dropouts within a population rather than just those who take GED tests. Analysis of the Longitudinal Study of Adult Learning (LSAL) shows that dropouts' basic skills can improve after they leave school. The initial level of literacy proficiency affects both the initial level of earnings and the rate of subsequent earnings growth for the individual. This suggests that literacy affects the economic return on work experience, possibly reflecting the role that literacy proficiency plays in gaining access to continuing and postsecondary education or workplace training. Literacy proficiency may also affect what individuals are able to learn and accumulate through work experience.
- 3.16 Literacy growth rates for individuals influence their earnings, both the starting level of their earnings and possibly the rate of growth of their earnings. Further analysis is required: it could be that growth in literacy proficiency is a proxy for omitted variables that influence the rates of both literacy and earnings growth for example, non-cognitive skills and motivational and dispositional attributes (Heckman et al, 2006).
- 3.17 Evidence from the United States and Canada shows the relationship between literacy and earnings to be unidirectional, leading from literacy to earnings and not vice versa. There is no evidence of a reciprocal effect between literacy and earnings in the LSAL population. An important question is the extent to which the

effects of literacy on earnings observed in the LSAL data reflect employee productivity growth rather than selection effects. Additional research is needed to resolve this matter, but there is a body of previous cross-sectional research that suggests that literacy affects earnings through enhanced productivity. Raudenbush and Kasim (1998) analysed National Adult Literacy Survey (NALS) data and examined wage premiums for literacy skills (with education and many other variables statistically controlled) in a variety of occupations. They found larger skill premia in knowledge-intensive occupations, suggesting that it is the application of literacy skills that matters for productivity. Boothby (2002), working with the Canadian IALS data, analysed cross-sectional wage variations in terms of education and literacy skills within various occupations. Boothby found wage premia in jobs where the incumbent appeared to have more skills than the minimum required for the job, which should only be the case if literacy confers direct productivity benefits.

- 3.18 The relationship between literacy and earnings varies with labour market conditions. When the LSAL was being designed, there was no expectation that there would be a major recession in the Oregon economy during the study. The unexpected downturn provided an opportunity to examine the impact of a tight labour market on a low-education population. Literacy proficiency was found to have a statistically significant effect on earnings growth rates during the recession period but not during the pre-recession period. This is an example of how the relationships among skills, employment and earnings vary with prevailing labour market conditions.
- 3.19 Tyler (2004a) tested the extent to which the accumulation of basic cognitive skills, as measured by a post school maths test, mattered for young dropouts entering the 2002 labour market. Based on a sample of dropouts aged 16-18 when administered a maths test in the late 1990s, estimates indicated that a standard deviation increase in the test score was associated with 6.5% higher average earnings over the first three years in the labour market. These results provide evidence that young dropouts are not relegated to jobs where basic cognitive skills are not rewarded, and they stress the importance of skills acquisition for students who may eventually drop out.
- 3.20 Tyler et al. (2004b) used a sample of 16,300 individuals aged 19-20 in Florida. The dataset was constructed from Florida General Education Development certificate (GED) and Unemployment Insurance (UI) administrative records to estimate the relative earnings of two groups of male high school dropouts who took the GED exams in 1995: those who passed the exams, obtaining the credential, and those who failed. Estimates show greater mean quarterly earnings growth among those who obtained a GED than among unsuccessful candidates. The advantage was small in absolute terms—only about \$1,400 annually, six years after the exams—but, given the very low initial earnings of these school dropouts, it was large in relative terms, growing from zero immediately after the 1995 exams to 13%–20% six years later. Tyler et al. (2000) found that the signalling value of the GED increased the 1995 earnings of young white dropouts on the margin of passing the exams by 10 to 19 percent. The results are robust across natural experiments that use different treatment and comparison groups.

- 3.21 Using data from two large nationally representative surveys from the United States, the National Household Education Survey (NHES) and the Current Population Survey (CPS), Hollenbeck (1996) estimated the impact of workplace literacy programmes. This research found that workplace literacy programme participation increased earnings by an estimated 17% (NHES) or 11% (CPS). Part of the impact comes from the industries and occupations of participants. However, the impact remains substantial even when industry and occupation are controlled for, with the estimated increase falling to 13% (NHES) and 8% (CPS).
- 3.22 Estimates from the two data sets are inconsistent. Estimates from the NHES data set show that males receive a 20% higher earnings payoff from participation in literacy programmes than otherwise identical males who do not participate. The return is only slightly less when industry and occupation controls are added to the model. In the CPS estimates, males are shown to receive no payoff. On the other hand, from the CPS estimates, women receive a 14-17% earnings payoff that hardly changes when industry and occupation are added to the model. But from the NHES, the payoffs for women, while positive, are not statistically significant.
- 3.23 However, these positive findings should be set aside less encouraging studies. Cunha and Heckman (2007) found that, at historically funded levels, public job training programmes and adult literacy and educational programmes, like the GED, that attempt to remediate years of educational and emotional neglect among disadvantaged individuals have a low economic return and produce meagre effects for most people. The evidence suggests that for many skills and abilities, later remediation for disadvantage may be possible but is much more costly than early remediation to achieve a given level of adult performance.
- 3.24 Cameron and Heckman (1991) found that exam-certificated high school equivalents are statistically indistinguishable from high school dropouts. Both dropout and exam-certified equivalents had comparably poor wages, earnings, hours of work, unemployment experiences and job tenure. This is so whether or not ability measures are used to control for differences.
- 3.25 Jenkins et al. (2003) examined whether qualifications obtained by adults between the ages of 33 and 42 had an effect on their wages at the end of this period, controlling for a wide range of other factors. In general there were no effects on wages. The exception was men who left school with only low-level qualifications (for example, lower grade CSEs) and who acquired degrees in their 30s or early 40s. These men earned more than their peers who did not engaged with lifelong learning. The research also uncovered employment effects. Gaining a qualification between 1991 and 2000 was associated with a higher probability of being in employment in 2000 amongst women who were out of the labour market in 1991.
- 3.26 In general the wage effects found by Jenkins et al. are weak, and that is consistent with conclusions reached previously about low-level qualifications acquired in people's twenties (Machin et al, 2001). Dearden et al. (2000, 2002) and Jenkins et al. (2003) all found that sub-degree level qualifications obtained in adulthood (including basic skills awards) have, on average, no discernable positive impact on earnings.

Employment

- 3.27 Compared to the literature on wage returns, the literature on employment returns is less well developed.
- 3.28 BIS (2011) estimates of employment premia are derived from analysis of the Labour Force Survey (LFS), combined with a series of assumptions which reflect the difficulties of measuring the employment impact of vocational qualifications. The analysis calculated the difference in employment rates for groups of individuals with different levels of previous highest qualifications. It then estimated the impact of increasing qualification levels as the differential between the employment rates at each level. For Skills for Life qualifications, the model assumes an employment premium of 1.4% as compared with individuals qualified at Level 1 or below, and a 0.3% premium for individuals qualified at Level 2 and above.
- 3.29 Patrignani and Conlon, 2011, by contrast, found more pronounced impacts on employment for Skills for Life attainment at Level 2 compared to Level 1, although all Skills for Life learning aims were found to have strong and positive employment returns. (Employment outcomes were measured in terms of the proportion of the financial year for which an individual was in employment.) Drawing on data provided by HM Revenue and Customs analysed in conjunction with the Individualised Learner Record, Patrignani and Conlon found that learners completing a numeracy learning aim at Level 1 registered a 2.1% employment boost within two years of qualification completion, increasing to approximately 6.5% by the end of year seven. Literacy learning aims were also demonstrated to have a consistently strong impact on employment, with an immediate 1.3% effect in the first year post attainment, increasing to approximately 3.2% by year 7. At Level 2. those completing numeracy courses saw an immediate 3.5% increase in employment outcomes compared to non-completers. This employment effect increases steadily over time to almost 10% after seven years. The general impact of attaining literacy learning aims at level 2 is also positive with a 4.8% impact at the end of year seven.
- 3.30 Whilst emphasising that the tests administered were short, and comparatively prone to unreliability (Meadows and Metcalf 2005, pp. 12-13), Metcalf et al. (2009) found that, for employment at Wave 4 there was not a statistically significant difference in the change in the proportions employed between learners and non-learners. The authors conclude that it can take a long time for those undertaking literacy/numeracy courses to move into paid employment. Literacy and numeracy will not of themselves deliver workplace skills but they form a foundation which people can use to gain relevant skills.
- 3.31 The study provides convincing evidence of this. The most substantial evidence of employment effects derives from the self appraisal measures, including positive changes in self esteem, perceptions of literacy and numeracy skills, and commitment to education and training. These show convincing and statistically significant patterns of improvement; there was a large and significant difference between learners and non-learners. However the results showed no significant improvements in literacy for the learners overall, and this may explain the apparent absence of labour market effects.

- 3.32 Bonjour and Smeaton (2003) analysed the outcomes for learners on Pathfinder Extension courses. The Pathfinder Extension activities included residential, intensive, highly structured and prescriptive courses, together with individual financial incentives for learners and fixed rate replacement costs. These new extension activities were found not to have any advantage over traditional basic skills courses in terms of learning outcomes, but they led to a significantly higher likelihood of employment after the course. Within the group of different extension activities, the incentive schemes for individuals appear on the whole to be the most successful in terms of the intermediate and labour market outcomes considered.
- 3.33 Bynner and Parsons (2006) looked at members of the BCS70 cohort whose literacy and numeracy skills changed between 1991 (aged 21) and 2004 (aged 34). Men who improved their literacy skills were more likely to be in full-time employment (94% compared to 81% of those whose skills were poor at 21 and remained poor). Women whose numeracy skills had improved were more likely to be in full-time employment at age 34 (43% compared to 27% whose numeracy skills were and remained poor).
- 3.34 Machin et al. (2001) found that males who improved their numeracy skills between the ages of 16 and 37 had a great probability of being employed.

Training and promotion

- 3.35 Early research by Bynner and Parsons (1997) discovered that individuals with poor basic skills were less likely to receive work-place training in early employment than those who were competent at numeracy. These people were also less likely to see their earnings increase or get promotion.
- 3.36 Analysis of BCS70 cohort data (Bynner and Parsons, 2006) showed that better numeracy skills were associated with a greater likelihood of receiving work-related training. Among men born in 1970, 18% of those with poor (Entry 2 or below) numeracy received work-related training, compared to 26% of those with fair (Entry 3) skills, 31% of those with good (Level 1) numeracy and 38% of those with Level 2 or above. Among women, the pattern was less consistent. Seventeen per cent of women with poor numeracy received work-related training, as did 16% of those with fair numeracy, 22% of those with good numeracy and 26% of those at Level 2 or above. Men with poor numeracy were also much less likely to have been promoted at any time (38% versus 58%). Only one-third of women with poor numeracy had been promoted, compared to more than half of those with good skills.

Job-skills and job-seeking skills

- 3.37 Evidence (as cited in MacLeod and Straw, 2010) of the impact on job search skills includes: increased confidence in applying for jobs (Hamilton and Wilson, 2005; Tett et al., 2006; White, 2003); more confidence in actually getting a job (Peters et al., 2003), and having greater aspirations for what that job might be (White, 2003; Terry, 2006); increased motivation to actively look for a job (Peters et al., 2003); and enhanced job search skills (Frontline Consultants, 2006).
- 3.38 The impact on job skills includes: working with others, more appropriate behaviour at work, and being willing and able to take on more responsibility at work (for

- example, Dench et al., 2006; Evans and Waite, 2008); better timekeeping; being able to use reading skills at work; and better stocktaking skills (for example, Dench et al., 2006; Hamilton and Wilson, 2005).
- 3.39 The National Audit Office (NAO, 2009) report on Train to Gain learners identified benefits including improved work skills, self-confidence and attitude. Roughly a quarter of respondents said that their qualification had led to a pay increase, promotion, or a bonus. The vast majority (86%) of those who completed their qualification felt they had acquired skills which would help them do a better job in the future. Three-quarters (75%) felt they had gained skills to help them do their current job better.
- 3.40 Ofsted (2008) found that Train to Gain led to participants experiencing a sense of pride and fulfilment, as well as improved self-confidence. Reference is made not only to the improved knowledge and understanding of employees, but also to their increased motivation and self-esteem. The Employer Evaluation Sweep 5 Report (LSC, 2010) focuses on the last group of employers to use the skills brokerage service, which ended in March 2009. Over three-quarters (77%) reported that Train to Gain training had equipped staff with valuable job-related skills which had resulted in an increase in their performance.
- 3.41 However a Canadian study of 94 participants in adult literacy programmes (Malicky and Norman, 1994) paints a more negative picture. It found that the majority of participants believed that the programmes would improve their job opportunities, and cited this as one of the prime reasons for enrolling. However, over the course of the programmes, the participants' optimism about the employment impacts of the programmes tended to decrease. Individuals reduced their expectations about their future job prospects, and often became frustrated and discouraged. The authors found that at the end of the programmes, almost all participants returned to the same type of poorly paid, often temporary work they have engaged in before taking the literacy course.

Unemployment

- 3.42 A number of UK government programmes for the young and longer-term unemployed have included basic skills courses of various types, with attendance more voluntary or less voluntary according to programme details. Wolf (2011) reported that these courses either make no significant difference, or that this approach is less effective, in terms of employment outcomes, than some others (notably those involving direct work placements). However, the results are difficult to interpret because the groups being compared often differ on important dimensions (see Lessof, et al., 2003; National Centre for Social Research, 2003).
- 3.43 Using data from the Department of Work and Pensions, Patrignani and Conlon (2011) assessed the impact of qualification attainment on benefit dependency, where the outcome measure was the proportion of time an individual was in receipt of particular benefits including Job Seekers Allowance (JSA) and/or Incapacity Benefit (IB). Their analysis found an immediate and relatively persistent impact of literacy and numeracy attainment on JSA benefit dependency and, as with their findings on employment returns, the impact was found to be stronger at Level 2

than at Level 1. Attaining a Level 1 numeracy learning aim reduced the proportion of the financial year in receipt of JSA by approximately 1.6%; the impact of attaining Level 1 literacy learning aims was greater in the short term (2.5%) though eroded by the end of the seven year period. At Level 2, the difference in JSA dependency between completers and non-completers stands at 2.2% and 2.7% for literacy only and numeracy only, while the impact of attaining both literacy and numeracy qualifications stands at 2.5%. Over the seven year period, only 25% of this reduction in benefit dependency was observed to have eroded.

- 3.44 One major evaluation of work-based learning for adults (Speckesser and Bewley 2006) used extensive controls to adjust for differences between participants and comparison populations, and found that Basic Employability Training, which offered up to 26 weeks of basic literacy and numeracy instruction, had no impact on levels of benefit receipt but did seem to increase numbers in employment 40 months later compared with a matched population. Short, occupational training ('Job-Focused Training') was more effective in reducing benefit claimant rates and slightly more effective in increasing later employment (Wolf 2011: 50). Wolf emphasises that most of these programmes lack key attributes conducive to effective learning; significant improvements in literacy skills often require considerable amounts of contact and study time.
- 3.45 An exhaustive evaluation of a training programme was carried out for US Job Corps programme (McConnell and Glazerman 2001). This is a highly intensive, often residential programme for young people (typically in their 20s) who dropped out of high school and were socially disadvantaged, and it provides both academic and vocational training over a complete year. It is expensive, but also, as evaluations have established, extremely cost-effective, with net benefits to society in the first few years of over \$17,000 per participant (2000 prices), measured by increased earnings and employment levels compared with matched non-participant groups. Just as employer-based and employer-provided training can often yield significant earnings benefits, so too can government programmes if they are structured correctly and involve volunteer learners (cited in Wolf 2011: 51).

Costs and benefits for employers

Costs

- 3.46 Based on a large number (6000) of interviews in the workplace, Canadian research found that numeracy errors and numeracy-related inefficiencies can affect production and lead to accidents (HRSDC, 2005). Ananiadou et al. (2003), in their NRDC review of the research on benefits to employers of raising workforce basic skills levels, summarised the evidence on cost to employers and the economy of poor basic skills. The following discussion draws on that summary.
- 3.47 Gallup was commissioned by the (then) Adult Literacy and Basic Skills Unit (ALBSU) in late 1992 to conduct a survey of employers which aimed to establish the levels of basic skills difficulties among the workforce as perceived by employers; and to quantify and describe the costs to employers of poor basic skills and the effect of these on their operation. Around one in seven (15%) of the 400 companies sampled were able to provide an estimate of costs, and all percentages are based on only those who responded. The average overall cost of poor basic

skills for a company employing 51 employees or more was £166,000 per year in 1993 figures (£208,000 in 2002 prices). The cost for smaller companies (51–100 staff) was estimated to be approximately £86,000 (£108,000) per year and for larger companies employing more than 1,000 employees around £500,000 (£626,000) per company per year.

- 3.48 As Ananiadou et al. report, these data were then used to provide an estimate of the total cost of basic skills problems to industry as a whole, i.e. all 40,000 UK companies estimated to employ 51 staff or more. Those estimates amount to a total of 4.8 billion pounds overall (equivalent to £6 billion in 2002). The authors of the original study argue that these costs are likely to be underestimated, as they do not account for costs associated with lost future business, the need for additional training because staff may be unable to cope with written material or the cost of work that needs to be re-done.
- 3.49 The Gallup/ALBSU study has been criticised because the estimated costs to the whole of industry are based on estimates given by only 15% of companies. Importantly, most companies in this study did not believe that poor basic skills led to financial losses: 71% of those surveyed said that their company had never experienced a financial loss which they felt could be attributed to poor basic skills, and a further 16% said that while this had happened, it occurred only rarely.
- 3.50 Despite its flaws, the study has nevertheless been highly influential in UK policy discussions. Ernst and Young used it in their 1993 report on the impact on the UK economy of literacy, education and training (Ernst and Young, 1993) citing the figure of £8.4 billion, a 'grossed-up estimate to take account of companies of all sizes'; however, no information is given on how they arrived at this estimate. The Moser report's figure of £10 billion may also be based on this figure, adjusted for inflation up to 1999.

Benefits

- 3.51 In their review of research on workplace basic skills, Ananiadou et al. (2003) concluded that there was a convincing body of evidence on the positive benefits of workplace training. These benefits accrue both to employees and employers. However, there is very limited evidence with regard to the benefits of workplace basic skills training. Therefore projections of the value to the economy of improving basic skills tend to be extrapolations, based almost entirely on the well-documented economic benefits arising from workplace training in general. And relationships between basic skills improvements and operational effectiveness, business efficiency, retention and train ability, for example, have only rarely been tested objectively, and the wider benefits remain uncosted.
- 3.52 In one of the few high quality studies in this area, Krueger and Rouse (1994, 1998) carried out research in the US comparing outcomes for recipients/non-recipients of basic skills training. As reported in Ananiadou et al. (2003), a basic skills tuition programme was delivered to 480 low-skilled, hourly-paid workers at two mid-sized American companies (one service, one manufacturing). It ran for approximately 16 months and classes were taught on-site in five 8–12 week blocks. The programme was subsidised by the federal government, so employers only had to meet indirect costs.

- 3.53 The researchers found small, positive effects of the programme on all outcomes investigated (although note that the follow-up period was quite short). Results appeared context specific. Returns to wages were especially strong for those who undertook training with a strong company-specific focus (e.g. blueprint reading). Workers who participated in the programme had a lower absenteeism rate during the weeks in which they had classes and this effect continued for the next two months. Participation in training did not appear to make workers either more or less likely to leave the company after training.
- 3.54 As Ananiadou et al. report, the authors were not able to measure changes in productivity directly, but they did try to take indirect measures by querying participants about their own self-perceived productivity as well as about other relevant issues, such as: attitude towards their job, desire to take additional classes, satisfaction with their company and membership of community organisations. For almost all of the variables measured, differences between training programme participants and non-participants were insignificant. One exception was that training participants at both companies were significantly more likely to report that they planned to take additional classes in the future compared to non-participants. This finding is consistent with other research which has found that participation in training begets further participation, and is indicative of positive experiences employees report from education and training.
- 3.55 This study attempted to provide estimates of the rate-of-return to the employer of the training expenditure. On the basis of the actual costs incurred, based on the fact that the federal subsidy covered approximately half the costs of the training, the authors concluded that, at least in the manufacturing company, the training paid for itself but may not have done so without the subsidy. This rough estimation is based on a conservatively-estimated initial return to the training.
- 3.56 Much of the published evidence concerning the benefits of workplace basic skills training is qualitative, subjective or aspirational. The general message is that businesses that have undertaken literacy and numeracy training programmes for their employees have rated the experience highly. As Ananiadou et al. (2003) note, this is a meaningful finding: such programmes can be both disruptive and costly, so positive feedback from the employers bearing those costs suggests meaningful benefits, whether direct or indirect.
- 3.57 As reported by Payne (2002), a 1998 evaluation of workplace basic skills projects in Oxfordshire found that managers were most impressed by the programmes' impact on staff retention, confidence and interest in learning. Payne points to research by Frank (1996) and Benseman and Moore (2000); both of these studies found evidence for a wide range of benefits of workplace basic skills training, both in the workplace and in other areas of workers' lives.
- 3.58 As Wolf (2002) illustrates, training does not lead to increased turnover; in contrast, companies that offer more training appear to be better at retaining their staff. Wolf points to the positive impact of training on motivation: access to training can persuade employees that they are with a good employer who cares about their potential for advancement.

- 3.59 Basic skills training can have a positive impact on relationships between employees and employers (Dench et al., 2006; Hamilton and Wilson, 2005). Some impacts such as reduced staff turnover and enhanced workforce stability (White, 2003) may be contingent on employers themselves providing the training.
- 3.60 Ananiadou et al. 2003 cite studies identifying improvements in attendance (also noted by White, 2003; and Evans and Waite, 2008) and timekeeping (also reported in Dench et al. 2006). Increased flexibility, capacity to engage in innovative practice (Ananiadou et al., 2003) and improved use of new technology (White, 2003) are also significant outcomes of basic skills development.
- 3.61 Despite being most likely to benefit, Hartley and Horne (2006a) find that small businesses tend to place less emphasis on literacy and numeracy skills compared to medium and larger firms. Franchises in particular may have specific training but little knowledge of the literacy levels of those they employ.
- 3.62 Bassi (1994) found that about half the management representatives in her study reported that basic skills training had either moderate or significant impact on quality of output and ability to use new technology: 30% to 40% of respondents said that it had moderate or significant impact on error rates, customer satisfaction, time savings and safety.
- 3.63 In a survey of 30 Australian workplaces representing 13 industries, Pearson (1996, as reported by Ananiadou et al., 2003) found that language and literacy training was considered to have had a positive effect on five aspects of the workplace: direct cost savings; access to and acceptability of further training; participation in teams and meetings; promotion and job flexibility; and the value of training (which included issues such as worker morale, confidence to communicate etc.).
- 3.64 Asked for a quantitative estimate of savings, 70% of respondents said that their organisation had made perceptible cost savings as a result of language and literacy training in the workplace. The nature of these savings varied, but the most consistently cited ones were related to time-saving (both of supervisor and worker time) when carrying out language or literacy work tasks. The type of saving which received the second most mentions was related to more accurate and fuller completion of workplace documentation.
- 3.65 The NAO (2009) report on Train to Gain found that a majority of employers reported no difference to profit margins or sales as a result of Train to Gain, although two-thirds reported improved long-term competitiveness and roughly one half noted an increase in productivity. Ofsted (2008) found that fewer than one in ten employers surveyed had formal mechanisms in place to help assess the impact of training on business performance. Nonetheless, the majority reported that Train to Gain training and assessment had had some tangible results in terms of making their business more competitive and effective (e.g. higher qualification levels led to greater confidence amongst clients and more success in competitive tendering processes).

Costs and benefits for the Exchequer

- 3.66 Using data from NCDS, BCS70 and the Family Resources Survey, Dearden et al. (1999) estimated the impact to the economy of eliminating poor basic skills below Level 1. For eliminating poor numeracy it was calculated that the overall earnings would increase by 3.2% (£10 billion in 2000), that there would be an increase of 1% in employment (200,000 people in 2000), and that tax receipts would increase by just under £5 billion. For literacy the increase in earnings was projected as £4 billion (1.3% increase) with a net tax receipts increase of £0.61 billion.
- 3.67 Bynner et al. (2001) estimated the total change in earnings and employment if initial Skills for Life basic skills targets are met. They also estimated what the net impact of this change in employment would be on government finances. The results suggest that if the numeracy target was met, employment would rise by over 100,000, earnings by £7.27 billion, and government finances would save £2.54 billion. If the literacy target was met, employment is estimated to rise by 45,000 and earnings by £1 billion, thus reducing government spending by £0.44 billion.
- 3.68 Looking at the impact of realising or exceeding the Leitch ambitions by 2020, Coulombe et al. (2004) estimated that if the numbers of people with below Level 1 literacy and numeracy needs was reduced to 2.7 million and 2.4 million respectively, the costs would be £800 million but there would be a net benefit of £50-70 billion over the period. It would increase the employment rate moderately by 0.15-0.25 percentage points and output per worker would be 0.47% higher in 2020.
- 3.69 BIS (2011) presented a model of Net Present Value (NPV) reflecting the allocation of FE participation funding in 2008/09. The NPV is calculated by estimating the discounted benefits from achieving a qualification over the working life of the learner, and subtracting the costs associated with undertaking the qualification. The future benefits consist of higher wages and better employment prospects for learners, as well as 'spillovers' to other individuals and employers. The costs consist of government funding and fees paid by individuals or employers, as well as output forgone during learning.
- 3.70 The table below shows the NPV of basic skills. It differentiates between 'first' qualifications, where the learner has reached this level of qualification for the first time, and 'all qualifications' where, in calculating the average, learners who already had that level of qualification are included. For both cases, estimates of the following are provided: the NPV for each qualification achieved; the NPV for each qualification started (including learners who are not successful the model assumes no benefits from non-completions); and the NPV per £ of state funding, which is derived by dividing the total NPV for qualifications started by the government funding directed towards it. Based on aggregating the NPV according to 2008/09 funding allocations, the NPV to the economy of basic skills is estimated to be around £13bn.

Table 3-2: Net Present Value per start, per achievement, and per £ of government funding					
First only			All qualifications		
NPV per a'ment (£000s)	NPV per start (£000s)	NPV per £	NPV per a'ment (£000s)	NPV per start (£000s)	NPV per £
27	20	23	27	20	23

Source: BIS (2011)

Conclusion

- 3.71 There is growing evidence that gaining literacy and numeracy skills in adulthood has a positive effect on earnings and employment. However, there is insufficient UK evidence on the economic impact of literacy and numeracy provision in the context of FE and the workplace, and the acquisition of literacy and numeracy qualifications in adulthood has not yet been shown to be related to significant gains in earnings and employment.
- 3.72 Several high profile estimates of the costs and gains of basic skills to employers are the subject of significant criticism. There remains a need to establish, on the basis of rigorous cost-benefit analyses, the costs and benefits of lower and higher levels of literacy and numeracy, considered separately, and in respect of small, medium and large-scale employers in different sectors. Studies would benefit from including the role of ICT skills in their analysis.
- 3.73 There is extensive and robust evidence on the relationship between ALN and the wide-range of economic outcomes discussed in this chapter. Much less is known about the impact of basic skills interventions designed to promote these outcomes, or about the features of interventions best designed to promote them. The limited evidence yields mixed messages. It is a priority to conduct robust research on the promising features of interventions in order to establish whether and to what extent they affect earnings and employment. Further research is also required to establish whether participation in ALN is associated with improvements in skills and attitudes that serve as a foundation for improved economic outcomes, including, for example, positive changes in self esteem and a commitment to education and training. The LSAL study in the US provides an example of an innovative research design fitted for this purpose, including its measures of ALN, which, as with PIAAC, put an emphasis on learners' practices.
- 3.74 The British birth cohort studies represent a primary source of data for exploring the relationship between economic (and social) outcomes and levels of ALN. Notwithstanding the limited samples engaged in adult basic skills provision, there remains enormous potential to explore in more detail the relationships between economic outcomes and ALN, and, in particular, to explore the role of adult basic

skills in the processes and dynamics that help to shape adult trajectories and life chances.

Outcomes of learning: personal and social returns

Introduction

4.1 This chapter discusses the available evidence of the personal and social outcomes of literacy and numeracy on individuals, families and communities. After considering the evidence base, the discussion addresses the following topics: the impact of improving skills in adulthood; personal and interpersonal skills; confidence and self esteem; and social capital.

Evidence

4.2 The evidence on social and personal outcomes is at least as extensive as it is for economic outcomes, but it is frequently less robust, often relying on small-scale qualitative studies and subjective measures of impact. There is extensive evidence of the relationship between ALN and learners' self esteem and confidence, and there is a similar volume of evidence on the impact of adult basic skills on individual and collective social capital. Whilst there is evidence of the impact of adult learning on such non-economic outcomes as health, social tolerance and crime, there is no reliable data specific to ALN and no such evidence, therefore, is included here. Since the British birth cohort studies provide limited evidence of the impact of adult basic skills interventions on personal and social outcomes, use of these sources is kept to a minimum in this chapter.

Findings

Impact of improving skills in adulthood

- 4.3 Brazier et al. (2010) found limited evidence on the effectiveness of education programmes aimed at reducing recidivism in young people, both in Britain and internationally (Utting and Vennard, 2000). A Canadian study (Poporino and Robinson 1992) followed offenders who had participated in Adult Basic Skills Education (ABE), and found that recidivism rates for those who completed their courses were lower (30%), as compared with those released before completing (35.5%) or who withdrew from the course (41.6%).
- 4.4 Using BCS70, Bynner and Parsons (2006) compared the outcomes of cohort members with poor numeracy skills at age 21 and who continued to have poor skills at age 34 (non-improvers), with cohort members with poor numeracy skills at age 21 but had good numeracy skills at age 34 (improvers). Their results showed that:
- female improvers were more likely to have used a computer at work (80% versus 61%) and were more likely to have access to a computer at home (83% versus 69%)

- male improvers were nearly twice as likely to disagree with the statement 'I am not at all interested in politics' (28% versus 13%)
- in terms of civic engagement, female improvers were almost twice as likely to have signed a petition or been on a rally or demonstration (31% versus 17%)
- female improvers were more likely to be involved in social or community organisations (55% versus 41%)
- female improvers were much less likely to report that they never got what they wanted out of life (12% of improvers versus 20% of non-improvers).

Personal and interpersonal skills

- 4.5 In a review of evidence on ALN, NFER (Macleod and Straw, 2010) identified 17 sources with evidence of the impact of developing adult basic skills on adults' personal and interpersonal skills. Evidence tends to take the form of self report. The most commonly reported impacts were: self-confidence (Balatti et al., 2006; Cutter et al., 2004; Tett et al., 2006; Wolf, 2008) and confidence to try new things (Frontline Consultants, 2006); self-esteem, worth and image (Goodison et al., 2004; Hamilton and Wilson, 2005; Metcalf et al., 2009); belief in own ability and sense of personal achievement (Dench et al., 2006; Evans and Waite, 2008); reduced stigma and embarrassment (Frontline Consultants, 2006; Rhys Warner and Vorhaus, 2008); better physical and mental health (Metcalf et al., 2009); and a more positive attitudes towards life (Terry, 2006).
- 4.6 The impact on individuals' home and everyday lives included: feeling better able to help children with their homework, including reading with children (Evans and Waite, 2008; Frontline Consultants, 2006; Peters et al., 2003; Rhys Warner and Vorhaus, 2008); increased confidence and capabilities to undertake everyday tasks involving literacy and numeracy (Peters et al., 2003; Rhys Warner and Vorhaus, 2008; White, 2003); and greater ability to contribute to family life (Tett et al., 2006; HM Inspectorate of Education, 2005).
- 4.7 The impact on attitudes to and participation in learning included: increased confidence and/or motivation to engage or re-engage in learning (Evans and Waite, 2008; Frontline Consultants, 2006; Goodison et al., 2004; Peters et al., 2003); and increased take-up of other learning or continuation with learning (Cutter et al., 2004; Hamilton and Wilson, 2005; Metcalf et al., 2009; Rhys Warner and Vorhaus, 2008).
- 4.8 Ofsted (2003) noted that learners who completed their courses developed their interpersonal and computer skills, increased in self-confidence and self-efficacy, and improved their employment opportunities. Learners also often improved their oral communication.
- 4.9 Silver-Pacuilla (2008) examined the effectiveness of AlphaRoute, an online learning environment. Students reported an improvement in confidence and self-directedness. Learners working with the lowest two levels of materials in AlphaRoute (56% of participants) reported that the greatest benefits came from intangible competencies such as confidence and sticking with a task. Warschauer

- and Liaw (2010) found that use of the 'LifeChoices' blog encouraged learners to interact with others outside their class and immediate group.
- 4.10 McIntosh (2004) examined the Skills for Life pathfinder projects carried out by DfES (2002). He found that the course participants sampled (not representative) more frequently mentioned gains to self-confidence as benefits from their training than gains in basic skills proficiencies. From a list of possible outcomes of their training, respondents reported most often that they were 'encouraged to get other qualifications' (54%), 'helping children with schoolwork' (46%) and 'being put in a stronger position to get a job' (35%).
- 4.11 Griffin (2001) examined evidence on literacy classes, reading and employment prospects. In one study (Fingeret, 1983), survey participants experienced positive changes as a result of their involvement in courses. Sixty-eight per cent felt more confident to speak out in a group, another 68% felt they had gained respect, 76% readily gave reading and writing advice to their friends, and 65% also now thought their opinions were important.

Confidence and self esteem

- 4.12 Confidence and self esteem are included in the previous section as two of the most commonly reported personal benefits for adult learners. These are the subject of extensive research.
- 4.13 In NRDC's Learner Study (Rhys Warner and Vorhaus, 2008) many learners described a growth in confidence after attending a literacy or numeracy course. This related not only to what they were learning but also more widely to the literacy and numeracy practices they used at home, at work and in their everyday lives. Nearly all those who attended literacy classes mentioned the social aspect of learning and improved confidence. The social aspect was described as providing intellectual interest, structure in the day and contact with other people. Whether learners were young or old it was described repeatedly as 'getting out of the house' and 'keeping my brain alive'. Confidence was directly related by learners to improvements in their reading, writing and spelling, something people described being embarrassed about previously. Confidence also related to everyday tasks and practices, including having the confidence to cook a family meal independently and being able to read road signs and directions whilst driving.
- 4.14 In the NRDC Effective Practice Study in numeracy, Coben et al. (2007) found that, once numeracy learners overcame initial anxiety about their courses and mathematics, the courses could have positive effects on confidence and self-esteem, and enable learners to develop positive dispositions towards learning.
- 4.15 NIACE (Eldred, J., et al., 2006) described a qualitative research study into learners' and practitioners' views on the development of confidence in relation to learning. Eight Adult and Community Learning Fund (ACLF) supported projects and one other associated programme took part. One of the outcomes reported was a growth in confidence and self-esteem among learners, along with an increase in self-worth, self-assurance, happiness and well-being. One of the most notable changes was a new or enhanced ability to 'speak out' in different ways and

- circumstances. Learners began to view themselves as able to take on new challenges.
- 4.16 Changes in confidence had an impact on, and were affected by, relationships with family and friends as individuals became more assertive and independent in their home environments. Parents and grandparents became more confident to support their children at school. Some learners started to confront oppressive or abusive situations. Enhanced confidence enabled people to build new friendships more easily, often at the learning centre. Enhanced confidence appeared to have a role in increased levels of community involvement on a spectrum that ranged from accessing amenities, such as local libraries, to becoming active in campaigning for change. This involvement represented a significant change for learners who had been experiencing social isolation resulting from low self-esteem, illness, caring responsibilities, cultural expectations or lack of money.
- 4.17 Studies of family learning programmes show that adult participants gain in self-confidence (Mallows, 2008; Swain et al., 2009), self-advocacy (Padak and Rasinski, 2003) and self-efficacy (Benseman and Sutton, 2005; Rodriguez-Brown, 2004), and increased confidence in ability to learn (Padak et al., 2002b). A number of sources cite improvements made to parenting skills, confidence and attitudes (Bensemann et al., 2005; Judkins et al., 2008; Brooks et al., 2008a; Ofsted, 2009). Swain et al. (2009) found that 64% of parents reported that they had become more involved with their children's school after engaging in family literacy and numeracy provision; a greater proportion (76%) reported that they had changed as a person, most expressing this in terms of gains to confidence and personal capabilities. Over half (55%) of parents had progressed to another course of education and 84% said they were thinking of taking another course.
- 4.18 Within the Army, half of respondents to a learners' survey (BSA 2007) reported that their basic skills course had given them confidence. Over half of learners also felt that basic skills training had encouraged them to take another personal development course, suggesting that literacy and numeracy programmes can enhance the confidence of Service personnel to engage with further learning opportunities. Benefits for the confidence and self-esteem of basic skills learners are also fairly widely recognised by line managers in the Army. This suggests that gains in confidence within the classroom translate, to some extent, into increased confidence in other aspects of learners' working lives.1
- 4.19 Whilst the evidence strongly suggests that ALN provision improves learners' confidence it is less clear whether improved confidence is a necessary condition of (improved) learning progress. Beder (1999) analysed the wider benefits of the 23 'most credible' adult basic skills evaluations in the US up till then, and concluded that participation in adult education had a positive effect on learners' self-image (six studies out of the eight measuring this). However, a comparison of those data with

47

¹ An ongoing national longitudinal study of basic skills in the Armed Forces will report in late 2011. The study will include evidence of the personal and social effects of literacy and numeracy on the operational effectiveness of personnel in the Royal Navy, Army and Royal Air Force

data on progress gathered by Brooks et al. (2001a, pp. 129–130) showed no convincing correlation. Brooks et al. (2007) found that students' self-confidence and reading both improved, but that the two were not correlated, and Burton et al. (2010) had similar findings. Grief et al. (2007) found that students' writing improved, but that their confidence improved as a *result* of attending a course. This suggests that working on student's skills may itself improve self-confidence rather than vice versa.

Social capital

4.20 The Centre for Literacy of Quebec (2010) reviewed studies on the outcomes of adult learning and literacy interventions in Canada (Bossort, Cottingham and Gardner 1994; Lefebvre et al 2006: 7-8), the UK (Metcalf et al. 2009; Eldred 2004,2006), Australia (McGrath 2007: Birch et al 2003) and New Zealand (Benseman and Tobias 2003; Benseman 2009). It reports that

These studies, as well as related discussions (Sticht 1999, 2000, 2006, 2007), and literature surveys such as those produced by Benseman and Tobias (2003), Westell (2005), Gray (2006), Hartley and Horne (2006), and Salomon (2009), point overwhelmingly to social capital as an almost ubiquitous outcome of adult learning and literacy interventions internationally in the past twenty years' (p.8).

Social capital outcomes include communicating and becoming involved with others, whether at work or home, with the family, or in the community (p. 8).

- 4.21 There is an increasing body of literature exploring the relationship between social capital and adult learning (e.g. Allison et al., 2006, Balatti and Falk 2002, Falk 2006, Falk et al. 2000, Field and Spence 2000, Kearns 2004, Kilpatrick 2002). In the area of adult literacy, such research is limited but growing (Balatti et al., 2006, Falk 2001, Tett et al., 2006). Course participation has been shown to present students with the opportunity to meet new people and to make new friends. Some non-English speaking background classes have been found to produce rich student networks. Balatti et al. (2007) reported that a growing body of research indicates that learning outcomes are a function of the social capital students bring to their course, and that learning can produce additional social capital outcomes for students (for example, Coleman 1988, Field 2005, Schuller et al., 2004).
- 4.22 A study of over 600 literacy and numeracy learners in Scotland (Tett and Maclachlan, 2007), a longitudinal study of adult literacy learners in California (McDonald and Scollay, 2009) and a study of community-centre based learning programmes in Australia (Raferty, 2002) all found links between participation in ALN and increased social activity and social networking. (See also Preston and Hammond [2002] on FE colleges in England and Balatti et al. [2006] on Vocational Education and Training [VET] learners in Australia). Other studies (Brassett-Grundy, 2004; McDonald and Scollay, 2009) have found that learners become better parents and nurture the literacy behaviours and educational achievements of their children: engaging with children more; becoming role model learners; becoming more involved in education in the home and community. Social capital outcomes have also been linked to better health and to social integration and

- inclusion, although links to civic participation are under-studied. (See Bynner and Hammond [2004] for the conclusion that taking courses between the ages of 33 and 42 predicted greater levels of civic and political participation.)
- 4.23 Research from Australia (Balatti et al., 2006) found that the relationships and networks developed by learners in VET 'provided them with opportunities to learn or to implement what they had learnt' (p. 5). The review suggests that 'a workplace programme can facilitate relationship building and networking among staff that in turn enhances their ability to acquire, apply and teach those skills' (p. 10). These relationships and networks between staff also make for a better workplace environment, where employers have better reason to retain and retrain existing staff: workplaces that rely on teamwork are more likely to invest in training.
- 4.24 Macleod and Straw (2010) found evidence of impact relating to social wellbeing, including increased social networks and socialisation, and reduced isolation (Metcalf et al., 2009; Frontline Consultants, 2006; Rhys Warner and Vorhaus, 2008) and increased confidence to take up volunteering opportunities and engage in society (Frontline Consultants, 2006; Hamilton and Wilson, 2005).

Conclusion

- 4.25 There is clear, convincing and statistically significance evidence that participation in ALN provision, and having higher levels of ALN, has a positive personal and social impact on individuals and communities.
- 4.26 The personal and social impact often takes time to emerge, and emerges in forms and contexts that are removed from formal learning environments. There remains considerable potential to: build on the evidence base for the social returns on investment in ALN; better understand, assess and monitor personal and social outcomes; and better understand the structure of provision and the conditions for adult learning that are best suited to promoting these outcomes.
- 4.27 Whilst there is strong evidence on the positive impact of ALN on learners' confidence and other personal outcomes it is less clear whether improved confidence is a prerequisite of learning progress. Some evidence suggests that improved skills supports improved confidence rather than vice versa. Virtuous (or vicious) cycles may also apply, whereby, for example, improved skills lead to improve confidence which in turn leads to further improvements in skills. More research is required to establish how and whether these relationships between personal outcomes and learning progress obtain.
- 4.28 As with economic returns, and assuming the introduction of an additional set of targeted questions, the British birth cohort studies could become an invaluable source of data for exploring the relationship between social and personal outcomes and levels of ALN. There remains enormous potential to explore in more detail the relationships between one or more social and personal outcomes and ALN, and, in particular, to explore the role of adult basic skills in the processes and dynamics that help to shape adult trajectories and life chances.

Quality and effectiveness of provision: learning and learning-related outcomes

Introduction

5.1 What do we know about the most effective modes and models of engaging learners and delivering literacy and numeracy provision? This chapter looks at the learning, learning-related and educational outcomes of interventions and skills' levels, as three measures of the effectiveness of provision. In addition, evidence is provided on the measures and research designs best fitted to capturing these outcomes. The evidence is considered in relation to: participation and achievement; practice and proficiency; learning gains; workplace programmes; family literacy and numeracy; offender learning; formative assessment and embedded provision.

Evidence

- 5.2 A number of studies have identified effective approaches to promoting learner engagement and progress in literacy and numeracy at programmatic and classroom levels; however, robust evaluations of the relationship between learning interventions and educational outcomes remain thin on the ground. In general, research from the UK seeking to measure the effectiveness of literacy and numeracy provision is small-scale and conducted over a short time-scale, during which learner gains may not be apparent or remain hard to measure. Moreover, few studies are of high quality or are sufficiently well-designed to capture the complexities of the connections between interventions and outcomes. The principal sources of evidence considered below are Rhys Warner and Vorhaus (2008), Wolf and Evans (2011), Brooks (2010), Reder (2009, 2010), Benseman (2010) and Casey et al. (2006); these sources report on the most promising, largest or best designed studies in the field.
- 5.3 Rhys Warner and Vorhaus (2008) examined the impact of the Skills for Life learning infrastructure on the experiences and achievements of adult literacy, numeracy and ESOL learners. The study included two quantitative strands. In the first, data from the Learning and Skills Council's Individualised Learner Record (ILR) were analysed, looking at trends in participation and achievement between 2000/01 and 2004/05. In the second, new data were gathered from two samples of learners in 2004/05 and 2005/06, using literacy and numeracy tests, attitude questionnaires, and profiles of learners' background characteristics. A qualitative strand included six case studies in six learning sites, drawing on data from in-depth interviews, observations and focus groups.
- 5.4 There are limitations to ILR data. Numbers in the ILR represent 'learning aims' rather than individuals, whilst the Skills for Life targets were concerned with individual learners rather than learning aims. The full dataset does not permit

- identification of individual learners and analysis was therefore confined to learning aims. ILR data are collected by providers and returned to the Learning and Skills Council (LSC); they are therefore dependent on whether providers interpret data fields correctly and collect data accurately. Both the LSC and practitioners in colleges have expressed concerns about the robustness of the data.
- 5.5 Wolf and Evans (2011) conducted a longitudinal study of the impact on learners and their organisations of government-funded workplace programmes designed to increase the literacy skills of employees, involving 567 learners and over 53 workplaces. The reading and writing skills of participants were tested at the start of their courses, and then a year and two years later. In-depth information was gathered on all three occasions about their jobs, learning experiences, education, attitudes to work, and aspirations. At the same time, managers, training managers and course tutors were interviewed. A sub-set of sites and learners were studied and interviewed in greater depth. The courses studied typically offered 30 hours of tuition, after which learners had no further free workplace entitlement; these courses therefore were shorter than is average for literacy (64 Guided Learning Hours in 2006/07) and numeracy courses (62 Guided Learning Hours) and well short of the 100 plus hours thought necessary for educationally meaningful learner progress to be made (see Chapter 11 of this review). The project examined whether this period has the hoped-for impact on skills, and whether it changed participants' 'learning trajectories'.
- 5.6 The Longitudinal Study of Adult Learning (LSAL) followed a population of high school dropouts for eight years. In periodic interviews, these adults were asked about a broad range of their life activities and about changes in their reading, writing and maths skills. The LSAL panel was representative of a local population for ALN education. This local target population was defined as residents of the Portland, Oregon, metropolitan area, aged 18–44, proficient (but not necessarily native) English speakers, high school dropouts (i.e. they had not received a high school diploma and were no longer enrolled in school) and had not received a General Educational Development (GED) diploma or other high school equivalent qualification. A statistically representative sample of this population was drawn, containing 940 men and women, and weighted so that population statistics could be estimated from the sample data. Six 'waves' of data were collected between 1998 and 2007. At Wave 5, about 90% of the original sample was retained in the study.
- In an analysis disputed by New Zealand government statisticians, Benseman (2010) explores the effectiveness of workplace LLN programmes based on an evaluation of 18 workplace courses, set up by 16 companies in New Zealand. The companies covered a range of industries, locations, company sizes and organisational structures, while the courses covered a range of programme formats, duration and types of learners. The courses used either an embedded LLN approach or teaching material related to the companies' operations and the participants' jobs. The evaluation took place over three years, and quantitative and qualitative data were gathered to identify outcomes for the course participants, their workplace practices, the companies they work for and their lives outside work. Reading and writing skills were assessed using Go!, an assessment tool commissioned by NRDC experts from the NFER. A total of 491 course participants

- were interviewed and assessed pre-course and 343 (69.8%) of these participants were also interviewed and assessed post-course.
- 5.8 Casey et al. (2006) explored the impact of embedded approaches to LLN on 79 vocational programmes. The courses were based in 15 FE colleges and one large training provider located in five regions of England. The 1,916 learners who took part in the research were preparing for National Vocational Qualifications (NVQ) at Levels 1 or 2 in one of five areas of learning: Health and Social Care; Hair and Beauty Therapy; Construction; Business; Engineering. The sample was selected to ensure a balance of the five vocational areas, the two levels of courses, and those with and without embedded approaches. A four-point scale was developed to differentiate courses in which LLN was not embedded, through to those that were fully embedded or integrated.

Findings

Reviews of evidence on effective teaching

- In a literature review for CfBT, NFER (MacLeod and Straw, 2010) found that effective teaching included: recruitment and retention strategies for learners; embedded provision tailored to meet individual need; the assessment and diagnosis of need; progression opportunities for learners; inter-agency and stakeholder collaboration and coordination that includes employers in all stages; and qualified trainers with their own professional development opportunities.
- 5.10 A review of effective basic skills teaching conducted by the Basic Skills Agency (BSA, 2000) found that effective programmes have high expectations of learners' achievements and enable learners to gain credit and accreditation for their learning and enable them to move into further study if they so desire. Factors thought to correlate with better progress for learners include: provision for skills to be acquired in a range of contexts; clearly structured teaching; a learning plan for each learner; teachers who regularly assess and review progress, and adjust the length of programme to the level of skills required.
- 5.11 Benseman et al. (2005) found evidence of effective strategies in a range of educational contexts:
- in family literacy programmes, effectiveness is associated with public celebrations of milestone events and achievements, progression routes for adult learners to further learning opportunities
- in community-based programmes, effectiveness is associated with community ownership of programmes and resources and strong collaboration between providers and communities
- in bridging programmes, effectiveness is associated with programmes being coordinated centrally rather than run by individual academic departments

- in workplace literacy programmes, effectiveness is associated with commitment from the employer, classes scheduled during worktime, the relationship of the curriculum to real-life contexts
- in prison-based programmes, effectiveness is found where a community-building process is incorporated, and contextualised content has been shown to increase attendance rates and levels of engagement.
- 5.12 In Hannon et al. (2003) principal among the factors associated with successful community-focused ALN provision were: holistic approaches to learning, whereby learning was aligned with learners' lives and interests; sensitivity to any prior negative experiences of education; a learning location that was fit for purpose; and having basic skills integrated into provision, without overtly labelling training as basic skills so as not to discourage potential learners.
- 5.13 On the basis of a review of major US studies Condelli et al. (2010) identified a number of promising approaches to teaching literacy and numeracy:

Effective practices from the United States

- contextualized basic skills instruction, in which skills are taught in meaningful work-related, family-related, or other individually engaging contexts
- differentiated instruction, in which career orientation and/or job training can be provided to adults at a broad range of literacy and numeracy skills
- flexible career pathways, in which adults take a set of complementary basic skills, occupational, and (in some cases) postsecondary education modules related to a particular learning goal or outcome
- innovative public-private partnerships, that break down the traditional distinction between basic skills and job-specific skills training for incumbent workers.
- 5.14 Ofsted (2007) found that the best forms of teaching were adapted to the needs of different cohorts including part-time learners, work-based learners and 14-16 year olds. In the best form of 'in class' support the subject teacher and support tutor planned the lesson together. By working together, lessons could be planned to ensure that long-term LLN skills were met as well as covering the learners' immediate needs. 'In class' support was less effective when the support tutor acted mainly as a classroom assistant, with the tutor having to focus narrowly on the task in hand rather than the development of transferable skills. Support tutors working with learners outside lessons were most effective when liaising closely with a vocational team and were familiar with the learner's programme.

Participation and achievement: the Skills for Life strategy

- 5.15 The most comprehensive analysis of participation and achievement under Skills for Life focussed on the years 2001-2005. During this period there was a considerable increase in overall figures for enrolments, completions and achievements. Literacy enrolments more than doubled from 411, 187 to 934, 796, and achievements rose from 171,961 to 539, 115. Numeracy enrolments rose from 362, 340 to 686, 223, and achievements rose from 119,666 to 345, 161 (Rhys Warner and Vorhaus, 2008).
- 5.16 There were much higher rates of achievement where programmes of learning were completed, and the number of achievements as a proportion of completions rose steadily over the five-year period.
- 5.17 Overall achievements were highest for Level 1 qualifications throughout the five years. They were lowest for Entry level at the start of the five-year period in 2000/01, but Entry level figures increased substantially in 2002/03, overtaking the number of achievements at Level 2. From this year on, Level 2 achievements represented the lowest number for all three levels.
- 5.18 Women were more likely than men to achieve a qualification on literacy courses, but women were 8% less likely than men to achieve a qualification in numeracy. In literacy and numeracy courses, older learners were more likely than younger learners to complete their course and achieve a qualification (Cara et al., 2009).
- 5.19 Literacy and numeracy learners studying on Level 1 and Level 2 courses were more likely to complete their course, but less likely to achieve a qualification, as compared with those on Entry level courses. Similarly, those with prior qualifications were more likely to complete and achieve their courses as compared with those with no qualifications. (Cara et al., 2009).
- 5.20 The National Audit Office (NAO, 2008b) found that, between 2001 and July 2007, more than half the qualifications counting towards the Public Service Agreement target for Skills for Life were gained by 16- to 18-year-olds. However, the pattern of achievement was changing the percentage of target-bearing qualifications gained by adults aged 19 years and over increased from 38% in 2000-01 to 52% in 2006-07. Fewer people participated in and achieved qualifications (or relevant learning aims) in numeracy than in literacy: 10 numeracy qualifications achieved for every 100 people with below Level 2 numeracy compared to 18 literacy qualifications. Participation was lower, with 17 numeracy course participations per 100 people with below Level 2 compared with 30 in literacy. Rates of literacy and numeracy achievement were higher in the North East and North West than in the East of England and East Midland (lowest rates literacy) and the East of England and London (lowest rates numeracy). These positions had changed little since 2004.

Practice and proficiency

5.21 Analysis from several stages of the Longitudinal Study of Adult Learning found that, whilst there is not a clear relationship between programme participation and changes in proficiency, there is a strong relationship between programme participation and changes in practices. With many statistical controls in place, the

- study found strong relationships between participation in adult education programmes and changes of engagement in literacy and numeracy practices. Programme participation influences practices rather than vice-versa. Reder (2010) also finds effects of Stage 1 engagement in literacy practices on Stage 5 proficiency (t=2.355, p=.019). This is consistent with practice engagement theory: more frequent reading and writing activities lead over a long period of time to greater proficiency.
- 5.22 This finding is consistent with the relationship that Purcell-Gates et al. (2004) reported between types of adult education programmes and changes in practices observed among programme participants. Purcell-Gates et al. found that adult education students from programmes that focus instruction around authentic literacy materials and practices report greater changes in their literacy practices than students from programmes not centred around authentic literacy practices. LSAL contrasted the development of literacy and numeracy practices between programme participants and non-participants, whereas Purcell-Gates et al. contrasted the development of literacy practices among participants in different types of programmes.
- 5.23 There is thus a strong chain of evidence linking programmes to increased engagement in practices, and linking practice engagement over longer periods of time to increased proficiency levels. Without measures of literacy practices, a systematic connection between programmes and proficiency is not revealed. Hence the importance of using such measures to show that increased levels of practice engagement something that courses produce lead to increased proficiency.

Learning gains

- 5.24 Torgerson and colleagues (Torgerson et al., 2003; Torgerson et al., 2004) found just enough evidence from randomised controlled trials (all of it from the US) to demonstrate rigorously in a meta-analysis that receiving adult literacy (and numeracy) instruction does produce more progress than not receiving it.
- However, there is also evidence that adults' average progress in literacy is modest. 5.25 For the US, Sticht and Armstrong (1994) summarized evidence from over 30,000 students attending a large number of programmes, all of which had shown statistically significant gains (but, given that providers have a strong financial incentive not to report non-significant results, and an even stronger one not to report negative ones, this suggests publication bias); the gains ranged between a half and 1.5 grade levels, following amounts of instruction ranging between 1 and 229 hours. Beder (1999) appears to have set a stricter criterion for the quality of the research he summarized, and based his conclusions on two attempted national studies (one was the National Evaluation of Adult Education Programs carried out in 1990–94) and six local ones, plus a secondary analysis of data from the NALS of 1992. None of the studies reported data on writing, and only four on numeracy; all tested reading. Because of serious attrition, neither national study provided reliable data. In their re-analysis of NALS data, Sheehan-Holt and Smith (2000, p. 227) were able to compare adults 'at the lower end of the literacy skills continuum' within the survey who had participated in adult literacy provision in the previous year with directly comparable people who had not. The main finding was that 'no association

- was found between participation in [basic skills] programs and literacy skills'. The local studies provided mixed results. Beder's (1999, p. 5) conclusion from all the evidence he analysed was that 'As measured by tests, the evidence is insufficient to determine whether or not participants in adult ... education gain in basic skills.'
- 5.26 The evidence for modest gains by learners in England comes from three studies. In 1998–99 Brooks et al. (2001a) measured the progress of over 1200 adult literacy students in reading and over 700 in writing. About half the reading items were drawn from the least difficult tasks in IALS (they were supplemented by even simpler tasks from British sources), and the statistical model used was that used to analyse IALS data. The average gain in reading was significant - 3 percentile points, from the 19th to the 22nd percentile on the IALS scale. The average gain in writing was tiny; an increase in the average number of words written from 19 to 21. with no significant change in sentence length, accuracy of grammar or spelling, or handwriting. In 2004–05, in the Effective Practice in Reading study Brooks et al. tracked the progress of 179 adult literacy students, and found their average gain was equivalent to about half of one IALS level. Brooks and Pilling (2009, in press) report the progress in numeracy of adult numeracy learners and in reading and writing of adult literacy and ESOL learners after three-to-six months of instruction (typically one two-hour session a week) in 2004–06. Adult literacy learners' gain in writing was non-significant; the other four gains were statistically significant, but all represented about one third of (the British equivalent of) one IALS level.
- 5.27 Reasons for the modest progress may include: low participation rates (only a few per cent of adults with poor skills are receiving instruction at any one time); low starting points; substantial numbers of students with mother tongues other than English; the fact that many tutors are on part-time, insecure contracts; relatively high dropout rates (routinely around 50% in a year); and insufficient attention to effective teaching strategies.
- 5.28 To increase the rate at which adult basic skills students advance to and succeed in college-level occupational programmes, the Washington State Board for Community and Technical Colleges (SBCTC) developed the Integrated Basic Education and Skills Training, or I-BEST. In the I-BEST model, a basic skills instructor and an occupational instructor team teach occupational courses with integrated basic skills content, and students receive college-level credit for the occupational coursework (Zeidenberg et al, 2010). A robust evaluation of this model showed that enrolment in I-BEST had a positive impact on all but one of the educational outcomes considered (persistence was not affected). The differencein-differences (DID) analysis found that students who attended colleges with I-BEST after the programme was implemented were 7.5 percentage points more likely to earn a certificate within three years and almost 10 percentage points more likely to earn some college credits, relative to students who were not exposed to I-BEST. The DID approach allows causal inferences about the effectiveness of I-BEST. The DID findings are impressive in the light of the fact that that they are based on the effects of I-BEST during their first year of implementation at the subset of colleges offering the 'treatment' examined.

Workplace programmes

- 5.29 Wolf and Evans (2011) found that workplace basic skills courses have reached people who are not normally involved in continuous education or training. Two thirds of the participants in the sample were male, compared with only 41% and 23% in publicly funded courses available through colleges and community-based adult learning centres. Older learners were more in evidence in the sample than in other forms of adult education provision. Many of the learners in the sample had not undertaken any learning in the recent past and very few of them might have been attracted to a basic skills course at an FE college. The research identified a strong appetite for learning among many adults who have not found it possible to attend conventional classes.
- 5.30 The experience of formal learning can have a lasting effect on participants' attitudes and activities. Most of the sample had undertaken little previous, formal post-school learning. There were strong levels of learner satisfaction with the courses, and, following these, there was a statistically significant increase in the numbers undertaking additional formal learning. The large majority were more positive about education and learning, and many also reported increasing the amount they read.
- 5.31 There were major differences here between the large majority who participated voluntarily, and those who were obliged to study by their employers. This suggests that the reported changes are genuine, and that voluntary adult learning in the workplace can change learning trajectories.
- 5.32 Learners were motivated by a far wider range of factors than the wish to improve job performance, including helping children with their homework, pursuing interests outside work, learning new skills as a form of personal development. Managers were motivated largely by factors other than the desire to 'plug' skill gaps or improve productivity: the main impulse was to strengthen the psychological contract between employer and employee, to demonstrate to employees that they were valuable and valued. Managers believed the courses improved staff confidence and morale, but reported very few examples of direct impact in narrowly economic terms.
- 5.33 The short workplace courses did not, in general, have any substantial immediate impact on participants' literacy skills. Among learners for whom English was their first language, there were no statistically significant improvements in literacy attainment. Amongst ESOL learners, there were small but statistically significant gains, but it is very likely that these resulted from continued exposure to an English speaking environment. Participants' average performance continued to improve over a two year post-instruction period. Learners who used their literacy skills actively, in and out of the workplace, were most likely to show consistent gains.
- 5.34 Participation in workplace learning was correlated with higher rates of later participation in further education (FE) and training. Most of the learners were volunteers, whilst a small number were effectively forced to participate by their employers. The latter showed no increased inclination to undertake further learning or read more, whilst the former group clearly did. The changes were small and not universal, but they were statistically significant.

- 5.35 In the host organisations the research found no stable legacies or outcomes that could be ascribed to government activity, either in the form of ongoing provision or in changes in employers' training activities. These findings are consistent with those of both other researchers who have examined the institutional impact of workplace-oriented initiatives in the skills sector (Finlay et al., 2007) and of evaluations of their impact using national datasets (Abramovsky et al., 2005).
- 5.36 The context for Wolf and Evans' findings includes the following factors:
- The funding of much of the provision was short-term, including Union Learning Fund and European Fund money, whereby recipients would expect one project, or one tranche of funding.
- Courses were short typically 30 hours in total, and the use of quantitative targets
 places pressure on providers to ensure that learners are not stretched, but entered
 for qualifications they will pass.
- Few individual enterprises are in a position to develop stable learning institutions.
 In just over two years the authors found that 14% of their sites had closed altogether. In over half, there was no manager in post who had any recollection of or knowledge about the courses which had taken place.
- Workplace provision which uses the model tracked by Wolf and Evans is expensive. Top-down provision, on a workplace specific pattern, involves multiple contracts for each course, small groups and heavy fixed costs.
- 5.37 Benseman (2010) explores the effectiveness of workplace LLN 'Upskilling' programmes in New Zealand. 60% of course participants reported changes in how they think about themselves, especially in terms of improved self-confidence, feelings of satisfaction with their language, literacy and numeracy (LLN) skills and an increased belief in their ability to do their jobs. Of the 278 participants who were re-tested for reading at the end of their course, 86% showed an improvement in their reading scores, while the reading scores for 4% remained the same and for 10% decreased. Average reading scaled scores increased by 10.1 points out of 100.
- 5.38 The relationship between teaching hours and reading gain was not significant. A limitation of the study is that while it was possible in most cases to find out how many total teaching hours were received by each course participant, it was not always possible to measure the number of hours of learning that focused specifically on reading skills or to monitor the quality of the teaching.
- 5.39 When asked how much the course had improved their reading skills, 23% of participants reported that their reading skills had improved 'a lot' as a result of the course, 36.1% said 'a bit' and 40.9% said 'not at all'. Around two-thirds (66.1%) of participants made gains in their writing score. There was no relationship between hours of learning and degree of improvement in writing scores.

- 5.40 There was a limited amount of numeracy teaching in Upskilling. All course participants (343) were asked to self-assess their maths skills, pre- and post-course. Their average rating increased from 3.6 to 4.1 on a six point scale. Only seven numeracy learners completed pre- and post- course numeracy assessments, and they increased their average score from 12.1 to 15.3 out of 46.
- 5.41 Course participants were asked, pre-course and post-course, to rate their confidence on a 1-6 scale (1 = low) in speaking to a workmate or supervisor one-to-one; a small group; a large group; and someone they don't know, such as a new customer. There were small but consistent increases across all four workplace speaking contexts, especially in speaking one-to-one to people they don't know. Around three-quarters of participants (73%) reported that their speaking skills had improved as a result of the course, and 77% said their listening skills had done so.
- 5.42 Eighty per cent of course participants reported doing their job better as a result of the course. Those who said they were more confident about doing their job were more likely to report they were doing their job better and those who said their LLN skills had improved were more likely to report they were doing their job better. There was a positive relationship between improved reading scores and improvement in self-assessed job performance.
- 5.43 In 12 of the 18 courses supervisors rated the course participants before and after the course. Around 60% of all supervisor ratings of the participants increased. Providers reported that the most notable outcomes for their course participants were increases in personal confidence and job confidence, improved communication with other workers and a greater interest in training. These four outcomes were also in the top five outcomes reported by managers most of whom also commented that communication between management and workers had improved.
- 5.44 The following features were frequently associated with the high-impact courses.

Features of high-impact courses

All key stakeholders within the company had a clear understanding of the course purpose and processes; managers from senior level through to supervisors actively demonstrated high levels of support; provision was integrated into long-term training.

Providers supported their tutors in terms of professional support and strong planning and logistics; providers had a high level of experience of running workplace LLN; tutors were experienced in both LLN teaching and workplace programmes and had LLN-related qualifications.

Employers or providers recruited participants who closely matched the purpose of the course; course purpose and content were explained clearly to participants.

Courses were run in work time; teaching content was closely related to

companies' priorities and participants' specific learning needs.

Participants with high motivation and a sense of commitment were selected.

Source: Benseman 2010

Family literacy and numeracy

- 5.45 Benseman et al. (2005) found that family literacy programmes with a clear focus on literacy/numeracy development are most likely to produce learning gains for parents. The more effective programmes have parents committed to improving their children's chances, have teaching sessions for parents only and children only, as well as together; have home visits; collaborate with other participating groups, to ensure programme and services integration; and have staff whose skills match the unique challenges of family literacy.
- 5.46 Brooks et al. (2008a) conducted a UK-wide and international review of family literacy, language and numeracy programmes and practices. The authors found little evidence of the impact on parents' skills, with the following exceptions:
- three studies (Family literacy demonstration programmes, Family literacy for new groups, Family literacy and numeracy in prisons) reported benefits to parents' literacy, and the two randomised controlled trials which reported a literacy finding for parents (Even Start In-Depth Study, PEFaL) showed no benefit, though Even Start did show a benefit to general education, as did the Family literacy demonstration programmes ('further study') and Early Start
- two studies (Early Start, FLAME) reported benefit to parents' spoken language
- two studies (Family numeracy pilot programmes, Family literacy and numeracy in prisons) reported benefit to parents' numeracy.
- 5.47 Brooks et al. concluded that, on balance, this strongly suggests that parents' skills benefited, but there is a clear need for more systematic gathering of data.

Offender learning

- 5.48 The Adult Learning Inspectorate, now part of Ofsted, found (ALI, 2007) that, when the partnership between the Probation Service, the training provider and the offender is well co-ordinated, teaching of basic skills is seen as integral to the offender's total programme. Some providers give considerable support to offenders on basic skills programmes, effectively engaging them in the learning process, to the extent that some offenders continue with their training beyond the completion of their supervision order. The ALI also found little variety in the teaching methods used to engage offenders in their learning programmes. Over-reliance on handouts and paper-based information was found to be unsuited to offenders with low levels of literacy and numeracy.
- 5.49 The National Audit Office (NAO, 2008a) was critical of the quality of many Individual Learning Plans and 61% of their sample who were engaged in learning and skills

- activity had no learning plan on file at all. Roughly 28% of courses started by offenders in custody within the NAO's sample were not completed.
- 5.50 A meta-analysis by Lipsey (1995) of what is effective in programmes for young people involved in offending found positive results for:
- interventions that focused on the young people's behaviour and skills (including basic skills)
- interventions delivered in multimodal packages, for example, including elements addressing behaviour, academic skills, vocational skills and communication skills.

Formative assessment

- 5.51 Formative assessment has been shown to make a significant contribution to learning gains relative to other teaching and learning strategies (Black and Wiliam, 1998, 2003). Looney (2007) reviewed European evidence on adult literacy, language and numeracy provision, drawing on case studies from nine member states (including England) and focussing on formative assessment. Looney identified the following as principal elements in a learner's journey: diagnosis of learning needs, and establishment of learners' motivations and goals; the development of strong relationships within the classroom, through dialogue and peer assessment; the use of assessment to provide information on learning, and to be used as feedback by learners and instructors to modify teaching and learning activities. Instructors develop effective questioning techniques, and set tasks and challenges at the right level to help learners address gaps; a focus on building learner autonomy, including skills for self assessment and for addressing the literacy and numeracy tasks of daily life independently; tracking of learner progress toward goals and recognition of achievement.
- 5.52 As part of an OECD review, Derrick and Ecclestone (2008) reviewed English-language evidence on formative assessment. Conclusions are based on a wide ranging, but not formally systematic review of evidence. Few sources are based on systematic research; many are small-scale studies, handbooks or other training materials designed to support teachers. The findings reported here, however, were repeated across a wide range of studies.

Elements in good formative assessment

Dialogue between teachers and learners: teachers should structure learning as far as possible as dialogue between themselves and their students.

Communication skills: teachers need continually to be evaluating, maintaining and extending their communication skills, with a particular focus on listening and understanding, and on questioning and feedback to develop learning.

Feedback and marking: feedback should focus on the task rather than the person, be constructive and practical, and be returned as soon as possible.

Developing an atmosphere conducive to learning: students should be sufficiently secure to face challenges and take risks in asking questions or advancing propositions that may reveal their lack of understanding.

Peer assessment and self-assessment: self-assessment and peer-assessment should be central elements of all learning situations.

Collaborative learning activities: collaborative discussions, tasks and activities and debate, can have benefits for many learners.

Source: Derrick and Ecclestone 2008

Embedded provision

Except where a single teacher had dual responsibility for teaching vocational skills and LLN, Casey et al. (2006) found that learners on embedded courses had better staying-on rates than those on non-embedded courses, and more positive attitudes to the value of LLN study. On the embedded courses retention was 16% higher. The embedded courses also had higher success rates than the non-embedded courses. When these data are analysed by vocational level, the increase in success rates associated with embedding is particularly strong for vocational Level 2 courses, with a 26% difference between fully embedded and non-embedded courses. For learners on the fully-embedded courses, 93% of those with an identified literacy need achieved a literacy/ESOL qualification, compared to only 50% for those on non-embedded courses. On the fully embedded courses, 43% more learners achieved literacy qualifications. For learners on the fully-embedded courses, 93% of those with an identified numeracy need achieved a numeracy/maths qualification, compared to 70% for those on non-embedded courses. On the fully embedded courses, 23% more learners achieved numeracy qualifications.

Conclusion

- 5.54 The Skills for Life strategy contributed to a substantial increase in enrolment, completion and achievement in ALN. There were worthwhile gains in numeracy for numeracy learners, and in reading for literacy learners, but not in writing for literacy learners.
- 5.55 Improved practice often precedes improved achievement: participation in ALN programmes leads to increased engagement in literacy and numeracy practices, and over time this can lead to gains in proficiency and achievement. Evidence from the LSAL shows that participation in ALN programmes leads to increased engagement in literacy and numeracy practices, which in turn can lead to achievement gains. Measures of engagement in literacy and numeracy practices can be used with proficiency measures to provide a framework for identifying and tracking ALN development.
- 5.56 Workplace basic skills courses can reach people who are not normally involved in continuous education or training. Learners are often motivated by a far wider range

of factors than the wish to improve job performance, and managers by factors other than the desire to fill skill gaps or improve productivity. There is conflicting evidence on whether workplace courses have any substantial impact on participants' literacy skills. In workplace provision employees require the motivation and opportunities to exercise their (improved) skills. Employers and managers therefore need to create environments that allow or encourage the use of new skills. Conditions for effective workplace learning include voluntary engagement, extensive contact and study time, and sustained formal and informal opportunities for acquiring and improving skills. These conditions were often absent in cases where research reports little impact.

- 5.57 Embedding literacy and numeracy in vocational programmes can lead to higher retention and course success rates, and increased learner achievement in literacy and numeracy qualifications. Embedded provision should be promoted and treated as the norm and not the exception for Level 1 and 2 vocational courses by policy, quality and funding agencies.
- 5.58 Adult literacy and numeracy programmes have significant positive effects. However some are not yet well understood, or they tend to be neglected in formal evaluations. This is either because, although significant, these effects are not large, or because they take a long time to emerge, or because they are a feature of adults' everyday practices which existing instruments are not yet designed to capture. Effective provision is often characterised by a whole organisation approach and commitment to ALN, qualified teachers and trainers, sustainable funding and infrastructure, and adequate time for learners to acquire and consolidate their skills and knowledge. It is a priority both to understand the full range of positive effects, and to devise programmes and evaluations that are best suited to promote and capture these benefits.

Quality and effectiveness of provision: teaching and learning

Introduction

6.1 This chapter discusses the evidence on quality and effectiveness in respect of teaching and learning practices. Effective practices in reading, writing and numeracy are identified on the basis of evidence presented in research and inspection reports. Evidence on effective delivery models is included in Chapter 5.

Evidence

- In England, the largest study of teaching and learning strategies in basic skills is NRDC's suite of five Effective Practice Studies exploring teaching and learning in reading, writing, numeracy, ESOL and ICT. The studies also represent the first attempt to correlate evidence on teaching strategies with measures of change in learners' attainments and attitudes. This chapter draws on the Effective Practice Studies in reading (Brooks et al., 2007), writing (Grief et al., 2007) and numeracy (Coben et al., 2007a). Each study gathered data from a sample of learners broadly representative of the national distribution, and statistical data on progress were supplemented with qualitative interview data.
- There are limitations to the evidence provided by these studies. The amount of time between assessments is likely to have been too short for evidence of substantial progress to emerge (for example, in numeracy, only 39 hours of teaching time occurred between the first and second assessments). In reading, the assessment instrument assessed only comprehension at text level, and no data were gathered on progress in other aspects of reading. The writing study was conducted with a sample smaller than is ideal for analysis of this type. Most classes in the study were 'literacy' classes and therefore included reading, speaking and listening, as well as writing. It was a challenge to find an assessment instrument equipped to measure sensitively and validly the progress made by numeracy learners. For numeracy, robust evidence can also be drawn from NRDC's 'Maths4Life' programme, a three-year national development and research project focused on educational practices in numeracy/mathematics classrooms within Skills for Life.
- 6.4 Whilst not strictly speaking 'research evidence', and therefore to be treated with circumspection, inspection reports nevertheless provide valuable evidence on effective practices in teaching and learning, particularly in relation to staying in class, progressing and achieving. Findings in this chapter draw primarily on two recent reports from the Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills (Ofsted) Removing Barriers to Literacy (Ofsted, 2011a) which reported on effective approaches that might help education providers (from early years to adult learning) improve their practice in literacy and Tackling the challenge of low numeracy skills in young people and adults (Ofsted, 2011b) which examined the

- quality of numeracy provision for post-16-year-olds in programmes up to and including Level 2 through an evaluation of programmes offered by 59 providers across England.
- 6.5 Evidence of effective delivery models is included in chapter 5 and not here because there is practically no rigorous research on the impact of specific teaching and learning practices in relation to specific models of delivery. To take one example: reciprocal teaching has been found to have positive effects on reading comprehension, but there is no evidence on the impact of using this teaching method in the context of one delivery model as opposed to another. This illustrates a large gap in the evidence base.

Findings

Reading

- 6.6 The NRDC Effective Practice Study in Reading (Brooks et al., 2007) is the largest study in Britain to date of the strategies used to teach reading in adult literacy classes, and marked the first attempt to correlate that evidence with measures of change in learners' reading attainment and attitudes to literacy.
- 6.7 The most frequent patterns of classroom activity observed were either a whole-class opening section followed by individual practice or entirely based on individual work. In both cases learners worked alone for substantial amounts of time this was the most frequent grouping strategy, corresponding with silent reading as the most frequent specific teaching strategy. However, the study found that learners who spent more time working in pairs made better progress in reading, as did learners who spent less time working alone in class.
- As this suggests, Brooks et al. (2007) found that several approaches which the literature suggests are effective in reading pedagogy were rarely seen in the classroom practices observed: encouragement of fluent oral reading; reciprocal teaching (where pairs of learners take turns to be 'tutor' and student'); explicit comprehension strategies; accurate phonics teaching; language experience approaches. Researchers concluded that in order to support learner progress, teachers should allow more time for learners to engage in 'active reading' or reading aloud as opposed to reading silently or non-reading activities. On average, active reading tuition occupied less than half the class time.
- 6.9 Besser et al (2004) carried out seminal exploratory research on adult learners' difficulties in reading (the first study of its kind). The study was designed to investigate areas of reading difficulty in adult literacy learning through focused observation of practice and close study of learners. The principal finding was that there appeared to be a less than perfect match between learners' difficulties and pedagogy. Whilst a wide range of strategies was being used and teaching was observed that targeted some of the identified difficulties, intensive, focused reading instruction did not comprise a significant amount of teaching time.

Experimental research findings

- reciprocal teaching has positive effects on reading comprehension (Rich and Shepherd, 1993)
- a 'diagnostic prescriptive' approach had positive effects on reading comprehension, but not on word identification (Cheek and Lindsey, 1994)
- for inmates at a US prison, a 'community-building group process' accompanied by the SRA reading programme had a positive effect on reading (Roberts and Cheek, 1994)
- In a review of US evidence on adult reading derived from randomised controlled trials (Kruidenier, 2002b) found that:
- phonemic awareness and/or word analysis instruction may lead to increased achievement in other aspects of reading for adult beginning readers
- word analysis may be taught using approaches that include direct instruction in word analysis along with instruction in other aspects of reading
- fluency (greater speed in reading aloud) may be taught to adult basic education students and fluency practice may lead to increases in reading achievement
- providing explicit instruction in reading comprehension strategies may lead to increased reading comprehension achievement
- combining comprehension instruction with instruction in various other components of reading may lead to increased reading comprehension achievement.

Source: Torgerson et al. (2004)

Writing

- 6.10 The NRDC Effective Practice Study in Writing (Grief et al., 2007) explored effective strategies for the teaching and learning of writing. The study recruited 341 learners across 49 classes in 25 organisations and complete data were obtained for 199 learners across 40 classes in 20 organisations.
- 6.11 The study suggests that the following are features of effective teaching of writing:
- learners spend time on the composition of texts of different kinds
- meaningful contexts are provided for writing activities

- time is given for discussion about writing and the writing task
- individual feedback and support is provided as learners engage in composition.
- 6.12 Grief et al. (2007) also found that making links between what happens in the classroom and life outside the classroom, including the use of real materials, can enable learners to become more confident about the writing they undertake at home. However, this study found that few teachers make this link strongly; use of real materials is limited and few teachers ask learners to engage in authentic writing tasks that have a purpose and audience beyond the classroom.
- 6.13 Two significant relationships between teaching and learning suggest that in writing, a flexible approach to teaching and responsiveness to learners' concerns as they arise, as well as a willingness to 'go with the teachable moment', has a positive impact on learners' progress in writing, and also that practice that makes a strong link with the real world beyond the class may help learners to feel more confident, particularly in the everyday writing tasks they undertake at home. At the same time negative correlations were found between the use of authentic materials and tasks and changes in learners' assessment scores, and asking learners to work in collaborative groups and learners' self-reported confidence in writing in a public place or at work. The first finding runs counter to earlier research and appears to contradict the findings above. Perhaps authentic practice has a greater impact on confidence than on competence in writing? The second should be seen against evidence from the learners themselves that they liked to work collaboratively. This is material for further development and research.

Literacy (evidence on both reading and writing)

6.14 From a literature review, Benseman et al. (2005) identified the following factors as associated with literacy teaching likely to enhance learner gain.

Factors associated with learner gains

- sustained acts of teaching focused on learners' diagnosed needs
- clearly structured teaching using a range of methods
- learning plans related to regular assessments and reviews with learners
- explicit teaching of reading, by teachers who are well trained in the reading process, and who are skilled in identifying reading difficulties and using appropriate teaching strategies to address them
- reciprocal reading, oral reading, and strategies to increase comprehension and fluency
- assessment processes that are sensitive to four components of reading: alphabetics, fluency, vocabulary and comprehension.

Source: Benseman et al. (2005)

Inspection evidence (literacy)

- 6.15 Ofsted (2011a) identified the following factors in raising the attainment of literacy learners most at risk of not gaining the skills they need:
- teachers with high expectations for pupils' achievements in literacy
- a rigorous, sequential approach to developing speaking and listening, and teaching reading, writing and spelling through systematic phonics
- assessment of progress in order to determine the most appropriate programme or support, and rigorous monitoring of the impact of provision.
- 6.16 The most successful sessions were those where teachers drew on learners' experiences and ensured that learning activities were closely related to language used in everyday work and social settings. Successful providers understood the often multiple barriers facing learners from disadvantaged groups which prevented them from acquiring literacy skills. The most effective providers had at least one senior member of staff with an excellent knowledge of literacy and its pedagogy. They also visited, reflected on and adapted their curriculum, including any intervention programmes, to meet changing needs, and they taught literacy in contexts that were relevant and meaningful to their learners.
- 6.17 Across all providers, inspectors saw a wide variety of effective approaches to the teaching and learning of literacy that built on the consistent use of phonics. However, inspectors saw few instances of systematic phonics teaching in colleges and other providers of adult education and training; providers felt there was a lack of teaching materials on systematic phonics suitable for adults as most were designed for young children. The National Tests of Literacy did not assess learners' writing; as a result, these did not offer learners and providers confirmation of improvement in writing skills.

Numeracy

- 6.18 The NRDC Effective Practice Study in Numeracy (Coben et al., 2007a) investigated approaches to the teaching of numeracy, aiming to identify the extent of learners' progress, and to establish correlations between learners' progress and teachers' strategies and practices. The study involved 412 learners and 34 teachers in 47 classes: 250 learners were assessed in pre- and post-assessments and 243 completed attitude surveys.
- 6.19 Coben et al. (2007a) found that most teachers gave clear explanations, which were much valued by learners. It was important for teachers to develop good relationships with learners and to treat and respect them as adults. Most teachers were enthusiastic, generous in giving praise, and there was a high level of mutual respect. However, few teachers incorporated learners' personal interests into schemes of work, and it was uncommon for teachers to differentiate work, make connections to other areas of mathematics, or to ask higher-order questions to encourage higher-level thinking or probe learners' misconceptions. Although

- activities were often varied, there was little use of practical resources or ICT, little group or collaborative work, and it was unusual to find learners collaborating with, and learning from, each other.
- 6.20 Maths4Life developed a series of teaching and learning materials based on principles derived from work carried out with practitioners by Malcolm Swan, which have been extensively trialled and evaluated.

Effective numeracy teaching ...

- builds on the knowledge learners already have
- exposes and discusses common misconceptions
- uses higher-order questions
- uses co-operative small group work
- encourages reasoning rather than 'answer getting'
- uses rich, collaborative tasks
- creates connections between topics
- uses technology.

Source: Swan 2006; Swain and Swan 2007; Ofsted 2011c.

6.21 Maths4Life confirms the importance of enabling learners to think through problems for themselves. Students' algebra learning was related to the number of discussion and reflection activities and also to the manner in which these were used. Greater gains were associated with an increased use of the discussion-based resources and with student-centred approaches. No gains were made in a 'control group' where students had been taught their standard algebra curriculum in teachercentred ways. The greatest gains were made when the discussion material had been used in student-centred ways in a sustained way. These principles were commended by Ofsted (2011c).

Inspection evidence (numeracy)

6.22 In an evaluation of numeracy provision Ofsted (2011c) identified the following characteristics of good adult numeracy teaching.

Characteristics of good adult numeracy teaching

 planning individualised learning: good understanding of the practical application of numeracy in everyday and generic work contexts, and of the reasons why learners have returned to learning numeracy

- teaching strategies to overcome learners' fears: exploring why learners
 have struggled with numeracy in the past; ensuring that individualised
 learning programmes identify and build on the skills that learners bring with
 them
- addressing misconceptions and developing understanding of mathematical concepts: developing understanding of mathematical concepts beyond Level 2; ensuring that learners get to the root of any misconceptions; analysing any incorrect answers
- involving all learners and developing their independence: using different types of activity to allow learners to explore mathematical problems; using a wide range of resources, including information technology, to develop learners' ability to use their learning independently and in contexts that are relevant to them
- making numeracy purposeful: focuses on problem-solving and applying numeracy to build learners' confidence in using it in everyday situations and at work and help them understand the practical purpose and application of each mathematical concept
- assessing learners' progress: assessing the progress of learners during sessions, and adjusting teaching methods accordingly; providing constructive feedback on learners' progress in understanding individual mathematical concepts.

Source: Ofsted (2011c)

6.23 In an evaluation of numeracy provision, Ofsted (2011b) also identified common features of effective numeracy teaching and learning.

Effective numeracy teaching and learning

- developing learners' ability to tackle numeracy-related problems by setting them in purposeful contexts
- showing learners how to build on their previous knowledge and skills to develop their understanding
- providing opportunities for learners to work out the most appropriate approaches to problems individually and with other learners
- encouraging learners to tackle their misconceptions by analysing incorrect answers
- developing learners' conceptual understanding of numeracy through

- activities which helped them reach the stage where they could explain why a specific method worked
- enabling learners to apply mathematical techniques in their training, at work or in their personal lives.

Source: Ofsted (2011b)

- 6.24 However, the Ofsted evaluation found that tutors did not have enough opportunities to increase their technical skills in teaching numeracy through sharing good practice and frequent access to subject-specific continuing professional development (CPD). Neither was the potential for the use of information technology exploited sufficiently in advancing learners' practical application of numeracy skills or as a resource to develop the teaching skills of vocational and specialist tutors.
- 6.25 In the most successful provision, learners developed their understanding of underlying mathematical concepts through practical and vocational applications. Teaching in numeracy was more successful where providers had developed the role of one or more well-qualified and experienced numeracy specialists to support vocational trainers in planning and delivering learning sessions.

Conclusion

- 6.26 Teachers of adult basic skills need to have both good generic teaching skills and good subject specific teaching skills. In general terms, the best teachers will have an excellent command of both the technical aspects of their subject and the interpersonal and related skills most suited to the disparate learning and pastoral needs of adult learners.
- 6.27 For adult literacy, subject specific teaching skills include knowing how to teach phonics, oral reading fluency, comprehension and appreciation of what is read, and how to apply these and other skills to texts on both paper and screen. Effective practice in literacy builds on learners' experience, and includes encouragement of fluent oral reading, reciprocal teaching, explicit comprehension strategies and adequate time for active reading in class.
- 6.28 For adult numeracy, subject specific skills include knowing how to discuss common misconceptions, use higher order questions, use co-operative small group work, encourage reasoning, use technology and create connections between topics. Effective practice in numeracy builds on knowledge learners already have and overcomes their fear of maths, exposes and treats misconceptions as a subject for discussion, promotes reasoning and problem solving over 'answer getting', and makes creative use of ICT.
- 6.29 More than enough is known about good teaching practice in literacy and numeracy to inform development and research programmes, in which providers and other stakeholders collate, monitor, analyse, evaluate and share data on the experience of applying principles of good practice. Yet observational studies the NRDC

studies in particular – commonly report the absence of approaches to teaching literacy and numeracy which the evidence suggests are effective. Too few intervention studies have been undertaken to determine rigorously whether teaching strategies are actually effective in raising students' achievement. There is a need for more research, including experimental studies, quantitatively to assess the effectiveness of one or more promising aspects of literary and numeracy teaching strategies.

Quality and effectiveness of provision: the workforce, teaching qualifications and skills

Introduction

- 7.1 This chapter explores the profile of the teaching workforce and considers evidence on the relationship between teacher qualifications, skills and learner gains. In 2007/08 there were an estimated 24,782 Skills for Life teachers in England, making up the equivalent of 10,461 FTE staff. This workforce included 9,805 teachers of literacy and 7,353 teachers of numeracy. (These figures are higher than the total number of individual teachers, due to the number of teachers who teach more than one subject specialism.) The literacy and numeracy workforce is predominately female (75%), white British (80%), middle-aged (one-third were aged between 40 and 49) and employed on part-time contracts (72% of literacy teachers and 70% of numeracy teachers). These figures represent an increase in the proportion of sessional teachers in the period between 2004/05 and 2007/08: from 39% to 53% in literacy and 39% to 51% in numeracy (LLUK, 2009).
- 7.2 After considering the evidence base, the chapter addresses the relationship between teacher qualifications and literacy and numeracy skills, and between teacher qualifications and learner gains, before considering teacher education.

Evidence

- 7.3 Most evidence on effective practice in ALN teaching comes from research that focuses on the links between learner outcomes and pedagogy and practice; less research explores the links between learner outcomes in literacy and numeracy and teacher characteristics. In part, this is because until the early 1990s there was little teacher accreditation for ALN; far more evidence on the link between teacher quality and learner gains emerges from the compulsory schooling sector. In reviewing teacher education for adult literacy, language and numeracy teachers, Morton et al. (2006) note that research on the impact of different teacher education options on the achievement of learners has produced very limited or inconclusive results. A report of evaluations and evidence on effectiveness produced by the Basic Skills Agency in 2000 drew attention to the ways in which effective programmes make use of staff; and Brooks et al. (2001a) gathered data on teacher factors which could be correlated with learner progress; these studies, and others from New Zealand, emphasise the importance of effective initial training for tutors and comprehensive professional development programmes (Benseman et al., 2005, p. 32).
- 7.4 In England, robust and representative evidence on the literacy and numeracy workforce has been gathered in pace with the professionalisation of that workforce. A rich source of data is provided by a three-year longitudinal study ('The Teacher

Study') carried out by NRDC for the (then) Department for Education and Skills (DfES) (Cara et al., 2010). The Teacher Study used a mixed-methods design, gathering quantitative data from an initial sample of over 1000 Skills for Life teachers (including teachers of ESOL) three times between 2004 and 2007 and supplementing these data with in-depth qualitative interviews with a purposive subsample of 63 teachers. The dataset contains information on teacher characteristics, employment characteristics, exposure to the Skills for Life learning infrastructure, and attitudes towards the Skills for Life strategy, professional identity, working environment and career plans. Although the Teacher Study was conducted with a volunteer sample, data were subsequently weighted using representative data collected for Lifelong Learning UK (see below).

- 7.5 A linked study, 'The Learner Study' (also carried out by NRDC for DfES) assessed the progress of learners taught by a subsample of the Teacher Study teachers. Data from these two studies have been analysed to provide evidence of the relationship between teacher characteristics and learner progress.
- 7.6 Data on the Skills for Life workforce have been collected twice (in 2006 and 2008) for Lifelong Learning UK via a survey carried out by NRDC of all literacy, numeracy, ESOL and Key/Functional Skills providers. Responses were collected from a fifth of providers, representing 22.7% of the volume of literacy, numeracy and ESOL provision recorded by the LSC ILR. Research by LLUK has also build up the evidence base on teacher training provision by identifying current and future capacity to train literacy, numeracy and ESOL teachers.

Teacher qualifications and skills

- 7.7 Several studies (mostly from the US and mostly concerning compulsory education) suggest that teacher quality is vital to student progress and achievement (e.g. Darling-Hammond, 2000; Hanushek, 1992; Sanders and Rivers, 1996), although questions have also been raised about how teacher quality should be defined, what characteristics should be used to measure it and what areas should be focused on in seeking to improve teacher quality. Proxies for teacher quality include qualifications, degree level, certification and subject area of teaching qualification. Most research on effective teaching and learning identifies the teacher/learner relationship as a highly significant factor in affecting learner outcomes (MacLeod and Straw, 2010). This may resonate particularly in ALN, where for many students, the teacher may be the only person they get to know well and who is educated, relatively knowledgeable in areas that are important to the student or who is a member of networks that could be useful to them. For many more, the teacher is a person of authority or of some standing who treats them with respect – this can be a new experience for ALN learners who have frequently had negative experiences in compulsory schooling (Balatti et al., 2007).
- 7.8 A core component of the Skills for Life strategy was to improve the quality of teaching in the sector by developing mandatory qualifications for new teachers and offering a range of induction, training and CPD courses and initiatives for teachers of literacy, numeracy and ESOL. However, the rapid increase in demand for ALN courses, and the time needed to introduce and undertake new teaching qualifications, led to concerns being expressed by the inspectorates (e.g. Ofsted, 2003) and the National Audit Office (NAO, 2004, 2008b) about the serious shortfall

in qualified and experienced literacy and numeracy teachers and about insufficient numbers of numeracy teachers in particular. Shortfalls were particularly acute in workplace learning for young people, *learndirect*, prisons, and Job Centres, learning contexts more likely to be accessed by adults with the greatest levels of need, and where there are fewer resources and lower budgets for staff training. Ofsted inspections (2006-07) found that recruiting and retaining experienced ALN teachers presented difficulties for providers, partly due to the part-time nature of many available posts.

- 7.9 In 2007/08, 48% of the Skills for Life (literacy, numeracy and ESOL) workforce was classed as fully qualified (LLUK, 2009), where fully qualified is used to denote teachers with both a generic teaching qualification, such as a Cert Ed or a PGCE and a Level 5 subject-specialist qualification. This proportion had risen from 35% of the workforce in 2005 while the proportion of unqualified teachers (those with neither a generic nor subject specialist qualification) fell from 22% to 16% in this period; these figures reflect a growth in activity aimed at supporting the development of appropriate teacher training courses and to encourage teachers to become fully qualified. Looking at qualified status in terms of subject taught, 47% of literacy teachers were fully qualified in 2007/08, more than double the proportion that were fully-qualified in 2005/06 (21%). The proportion of fully-qualified numeracy teachers also rose in this period, although less dramatically, from 29% to 43% (LLUK, 2009).
- 7.10 Data from the Teacher Study suggest that Skills for Life teachers who teach only one subject tend to be more qualified in that subject than teachers who teach more than one subject. This is particularly the case in numeracy; those teaching numeracy only were the most qualified subset of Skills for Life teachers, and it is those who teach some numeracy in addition to literacy or another subject who lack qualifications. There are implications here for the management of provision and which staff are given responsibility for teaching adult numeracy. In general, female teachers are more likely to be qualified than male teachers and ALN teachers working in FE colleges are more likely to be qualified to higher levels than teachers working in other learning contexts. Those qualified only to lower levels are more likely to be found in contexts outside of FE and Adult and Community Learning (Cara et al., 2010).
- 7.11 Although the House of Commons Public Accounts Committee (PAC) (2006) identified a skilled teaching workforce as the key to quality in learning, and evaluated the new courses for teachers as of good quality, concerns about teacher quality, and the shortage of numeracy teachers, have persisted. Research by LLUK using statistical data from the Higher Education Statistics Agency (HESA), the LSC's ILR and data on FE teacher trainee enrolments (LLUK, 2010) found that there had been a decline in the numbers of teachers in training over the preceding three years, with participants in literacy courses dropping from 1,325 to 1,190, although there was a slight increase in numeracy trainees in 2008/09. In a recent evaluation of the quality of numeracy provision for young people and adults, Ofsted (2011b) found that in the 46 providers visited who were able to provide data on teacher qualifications only 28% of teachers had the required qualifications in teaching numeracy at Level 5 or equivalent. Only one-third (15) of the 46 providers had more than half their specialist numeracy teachers with qualifications at this

level. Managers reported difficulties in recruiting qualified specialist numeracy tutors and in finding the appropriate training courses locally. In vocational learning, Ofsted inspectors observed that teaching in numeracy was more successful where the role of one or more well-qualified and experienced numeracy specialists had been developed to support vocational trainers in planning and delivering learning sessions.

Teacher qualifications and learner gains

- 7.12 Studies that have looked at the contribution of teacher qualifications to student achievement and progression are inconclusive or have found no significant effect with respect to general teaching qualifications or certification status (e.g. Croninger et al., 2007). However, studies looking specifically at the subject area of teacher qualifications have found that gains in student achievement in high school for mathematics and science are associated with teachers holding a mathematics or science undergraduate or masters degree (Goldhaber and Brewer 1997, 1998, 2000; Rowan et al. 1997). Other research suggests that overqualified teachers can sometimes be less effective (Rowan et al. 2002; Croninger et al., 2007).
- A number of quantitative studies have identified a link between teacher qualifications/skills and learner gains in ALN. Early research (pre-Skills for Life) conducted by Brooks et al. (2001a) for the Basic Skills Agency in 1998-1999 showed significantly larger gains for adult literacy course participants where tutors had qualified teacher status, and where tutors benefited from having teaching room assistants (an association, not a causal link). The average gain in reading scores between pre- and post- tests in institutions with support for all tutors was 15.8 points (on the IALS scale), compared to 11.4 points in institutions where some tutors had such support and 0.3 points in institutions where no tutors had support. The average gain in institutions where all tutors had qualified teacher status was 17.1 points, compared to 9.4 points in institutions where only some tutors had qualified teacher status. Overall, the gains observed in this study were characterised by the authors as 'undramatic but worthwhile' (p. 53), with an effective size falling a little short of that which indicates educational significance. In this study there was insufficient evidence to show that a number of characteristics were important for skills gain: tutor having a degree; tutor having a basic skills teaching qualification; years of teaching experience; management support for teachers; frequency of staff meetings; one-to-one teaching as opposed to smallgroup teaching.
- 7.14 Brooks et al. (2004), reviewing controlled trials of literacy and numeracy interventions, found evidence demonstrating that greater impacts are associated with trainers who have qualified teacher status, who have assistance in the classroom and/or who have high expectations of their learners.
- 7.15 NRDC's work on embedded learning (Casey et al., 2006) found that where a single teacher was asked to take dual responsibility for teaching vocational skills and ALN, the probability of learners succeeding with literacy and numeracy qualifications was much lower than when embedded courses were delivered by a team of teachers with vocational and literacy and numeracy specialisms working in combination. The benefits of embedding learning found in this study cannot be achieved by simply adding ALN to the vocational teacher's responsibilities. Rather, learners benefit

- when taught by teams of staff, with their own different areas of expertise, working closely together.
- 7.16 In the NRDC's Effective Practice Study in reading, although not statistical correlations, it was found that when the nine classes that made the greatest progress were compared with the nine classes that made the least progress, it was found that the teachers in the top nine classes were all trained, and most had substantial experience, while some of those in the bottom group of classes were not trained and overall the teachers had less experience (Brooks et al., 2007).
- 7.17 Using the Teacher and Learner Studies, Cara and De Coulon (2008) examined linked datasets relating to 84 adult *numeracy* teachers: 15% were fully qualified (meaning that they hold a full generic teaching qualification and a subject-specialist qualification in numeracy); 52% were part-qualified (holding either a generic teaching or a subject specialist numeracy qualification); and 33% were unqualified. Learner progress was examined solely in relation to their teacher's subject and teaching qualifications by testing for the effect of these qualifications, individually and in combination, while controlling for other learner and teacher characteristics. This analysis showed that teachers with a qualification in maths at Level 3 or above had a highly positive and strongly statistically significant effect on learner progress, as measured between pre- and post-course tests. This was compared with learners who were taught by teachers with level 2 qualifications in maths, and did not make progress. It also showed that years of teaching experience had a positive but not statistically significant effect and that learners whose teachers were qualified to degree or postgraduate-degree level in maths had a more positive attitude towards their daily use of maths and seemed to enjoy maths more. However these learners also appeared to be less self-confident in their maths abilities once their course had ended.
- 7.18 Two conclusions were drawn from this research. Firstly, that teacher experience matters and second, that subject knowledge is important. This research strongly endorses the requirement of teachers to have Level 3 or above qualifications in numeracy (there had been dissent in the field about this requirement).
- 7.19 Benseman et al. (2005), in a comprehensive review of literature on effective LLN teaching (citing Basic Skills Agency, 2000; Benseman, 2001; G Brooks et al., 2001a; Fitzgerald and Young, 1997; Kruidenier, 2002b; Padak, Sapin, and Baycich, 2002b) identified the following factors as associated with teaching likely to enhance learner gain: appropriately skilled teachers who can identify the strengths and weaknesses learners have in speaking, reading, writing and numeracy; and full-time teachers these are more likely to enhance learner gain, and learners benefit from the assistance of teaching assistants/volunteer tutors.
- 7.20 The BSA report *Effective Basic Skills Provision for Adults* (2000) concluded that effective programmes are ones which have limited reliance on teachers who work only 2-4 hours a week and instead should use full-time staff, with recognised qualifications in the field, to ensure better consistency of teaching methods and better use of professional development resources.

Teacher education

- 7.21 In a review of adult literacy, ESOL and numeracy teacher education 2003-05, Lucas et al (2006) explored the experience of 28 teacher education programmes across England in the early years of the introduction of the new generation of subject-specific qualifications. The recommendations from this report fed into the 2007 review of teacher qualifications. The study includes a profile of 54 teacher educators: all were graduates and 63% also held postgraduate qualifications; 63% had more than five years' experience of literacy, numeracy or ESOL teacher education; only one had less than a single years experience; and 50% also had experience of delivering generic teacher education programmes. It describes how earlier subject-specific teaching qualifications were developed in response to the limitations of generic initial teacher training in meeting the needs of ALN teachers. These qualifications remained on the margins until the reforms introduced in post-16 teacher education from 2001 onwards, but represented the well of experience from which the teacher educators of the Skills for Life decade were drawn.
- 7.22 In reviewing research in teacher education, Morton et al. (2006) drew a number of conclusions about ALN teacher education programmes, including that they should: provide opportunities for teachers to reflect on their own beliefs and values about what and how they teach; be based on what is known about how adults learn; take into account the strong influence of context on learning and not make assumptions that knowledge learned in one context can be applied to another; not assume that raising the level of subject matter in syllabuses on its own will have an effect on practice; should take into account the process-orientated and holistic nature of teachers' knowledge, and should exploit this by using data-based case-study methods which portray to trainee teachers the richness of expert teachers' cognitions underlying their practices; should develop adequate measures of the impact of training and professional development. This review of programmes also emphasised the need for all teachers to be exposed to a wide range of professional development activities throughout their careers no matter how much experience they have, and that teachers should be encouraged to reflect critically on the factors that affect their practice and critically to have opportunities to experience the subject from the learners' point of view.

Conclusion

- 7.23 For both literacy and numeracy there is a positive association between teacher qualifications and experience and learner progress. The recognition that learners make better progress with qualified teachers provides support for the ongoing strategy to up-skill and professionalise the workforce. Contrary to popular belief, teaching basic literacy and numeracy to adults is not something that anyone can do; having qualifications does make a difference.
- 7.24 Having started from a very low base, achieving a qualified teaching workforce in numeracy presents more challenges than literacy, although a significant proportion of both the literacy and numeracy workforce have not achieved fully qualified status. Numeracy has struggled to build momentum, not least because of a short supply of numeracy-teacher trainers. There are signs (LLUK 2010) of change in a slight growth in numeracy teacher education courses against the wider trends, but

- there are still dangers that in the current context growth may be challenging to sustain.
- 7.25 Teacher shortfalls are particularly acute in learning environments most likely to be accessed by learners with the greatest needs. It should be a priority to attract, recruit and retain significantly higher numbers of teachers into ALN. However, literacy and numeracy teaching is characterised by part-time, temporary contracts and this presents challenges for recruitment and retention (Swain and Cara, 2010; Cara and Litster, 2009). Existing teachers, especially those on temporary or part-time contracts, may not feel persuaded of the benefits of improving their teaching skills or feel supported to do so (NAO, 2004). Moreover, the research evidence indicates that specific benefits to learners are associated with having teachers who are on full-time contracts.
- 7.26 There is a need for models of teacher training and professional development that emphasise both technical expertise and positive teacher qualities, and which integrate the teaching of subject and pedagogic knowledge.

Quality and effectiveness of provision: efficiency

Introduction

8.1 This chapter considers the available evidence on efficiency in literacy and numeracy provision, where efficiency is defined as the balance of the intervention benefits (the net outputs or outcomes) and its costs expressed in the form of cost-benefit or cost-effectiveness ratios. Efficiency is one of the three standard components of an assessment of an intervention's value for money (the others being economy and effectiveness). This chapter considers what is known about the most efficient modes and models of engaging learners and delivering literacy and numeracy provision.

Evidence

- 8.2 The evidence base on the most efficient modes and models of engaging learners and delivering literacy and numeracy provision is extremely thin. The findings presented below are drawn from the only four sources that were applicable to this topic.. One of these reports (NAO, 2008b) is based on national administrative (ILR) data for publicly-funded provision and so provides robust evidence on the per capita cost of ALN courses. The other three sources report the findings from experimental research or research on specific types of provision. Two of these (Swain et al., 2009 and Wolf et al., 2010) are robust, based as they are on medium-or long-term studies with decent sample sizes. The third (Brooks et al., 2008b) is based on a robust approach, but with a relatively small sample and so only limited weight should be placed on its findings.
- 8.3 Overall, the evidence base does not exist to answer in full the research questions on efficiency in literacy and numeracy provision. This is a major gap in the evidence base and an area in need of attention in any future research.

Findings

8.4 The National Audit Office (NAO, 2008b) examined the progress made by the Department for Innovation, Universities and Skills, the then Department for Education and Skills, and the Learning and Skills Council in improving adult literacy, numeracy and English language skills. Although headline figures on the costs of ALN provision in 2006/07 were provided, these were not set against the delivery mode or model. The average cost per course or per qualification varied according to the type and level of qualification. Courses in English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) were typically more expensive (£1,030) than literacy courses (£460); and Entry level courses were typically more expensive (£960) than Level 1(£570) and Level 2 courses (£400), reflecting the greater learning needs of these learners. In an earlier progress report (NAO,

- 2004), the NAO reported that it was harder to work out the specific costs of literacy and numeracy provision where those skills are embedded in the work of vocational and other learning programmes.
- 8.5 Swain et al. (2009) presented the findings of a two-year evaluation of a family literacy programme in England, which investigated the impacts on parental skills, children's skills, family relationships, progression and social mobility. Family literacy is believed to be a particularly helpful approach for getting harder to reach people into provision, by identifying parents with literacy needs through their children (NAO, 2004). The research covered 74 family literacy courses in 42 local education authorities. The courses were either short courses (lasting 30-49 hours) or standard courses (72-96 hours). The estimated costs per participant-learning hour for the programmes evaluated in this project were £7.39 for the short courses and £6.84 for the standard ones. (These were calculated by dividing the average available funding per course by the number of participants and by the contact time.) The implication for the question of efficiency is that longer courses provide better value for money than shorter ones, a result that is primarily related to fixed start-up costs being spread over a longer time period. What should be taken into account, however, are the potential opportunity costs, particularly to the parents and children, which, assuming they are meaningful, are greater for the longer courses.
- 8.6 Wolf et al. (2010) presented findings from a longitudinal study that tracked 53 workplaces that hosted Skills for Life courses subsidised by the LSC in order to examine the impact on both the employers and the employees, particularly low-skilled workers. The study found that the model of providing top-down provision on a workplace-specific basis was very expensive as a result of the multiple contracts for each course operated, the small size of the groups and the heavy fixed costs. In terms of outcomes, learners reported high levels of satisfaction, but were found to have made at best only small gains in literacy, with no discernable effect on productivity. Together the clear finding from this study is that this model of literacy training is an inefficient one. (The learning-related outcomes of workplace basic skills provision more generally are discussed in Chapter 5).
- 8.7 Brooks et al. (2008b) described the findings of a randomised control trial (RCT) carried out in the UK to evaluate the use of financial incentives as a cost-effective method of improving attendance and attainment at adult literacy classes. The sample comprised 152 learners in 28 classes (14 in the treatment group, 14 in the control group). Learners in the treatment group received a £5 voucher for each class attended, while the control group received no financial incentive. In terms of attainment, the study concluded that the use of financial incentives had no statistically significant effect. In terms of the effect on attendance, the study found a statistically significant reduction in attendance associated with the financial incentives of about 1.5 sessions on average. The authors conclude that
 - ... the policy of using incentives is a waste of resources and, at worst, may be counter-productive. ... The possible drain on public resources should therefore not be contemplated' (ibid, p.501).
- 8.8 To back up this conclusion, the authors drew attention to other research which shows that rewarding activities which are inherently rewarding is demotivating and

that rewards which are contingent on engagement have a negative effect on engagement. However, several limitations of the Brooks et al. (2008b) RCT should be noted: it was a relatively small research project in terms of the sample size that offered a relatively small incentive, which was in the form of vouchers and not cash. In addition, the learners in the trial had previously attended one term of teaching and it is possible that a different effect might have been achieved for learners who were just starting. Finally, the statement quoted above represent a strong conclusion from a single small-scale study of one group of literacy learners.

Conclusion

- 8.9 The principal findings from the literature review on this topic are:
- literacy courses/qualifications tend to cost more than numeracy courses, and Entry level provision is considerably more costly than Level 1 and Level 2 provision, reflecting the greater needs of these learners
- longer courses tend to be delivered more efficiently than shorter ones due to the fixed start-up costs
- one model of providing subsidised Skills for Life training for low-skilled workers has been shown to be inefficient: this was provided on a workplace-specific basis, with multiple contracts for each course operated, heavy fixed costs, small group sizes and short courses
- the use of financial incentives to learners for promoting attendance appears to be counter-productive in some cases (using a small incentive, in the form of vouchers rather than cash, with learners who had previously attended one term of teaching), although this finding is based on a single, small scale study.
- 8.10 The following are recommendations for where future research might focus:
- greater use should be made of the Individualised Learner Record (ILR) to explore the cost-benefit ratios associated with different modes and methods of delivery
- any future evaluation of publicly-funded programmes or projects in the area of ALN provision should include a cost-benefit analysis where possible or otherwise an assessment of cost-effectiveness
- the Department should consider commissioning research to carry out a series of cost-benefit/cost-effectiveness analyses for different modes and methods of delivery that are known (or believed) to be effective (that is, perform strongly in terms of the delivery of outcomes).

Quality and effectiveness of provision: motivation

Introduction

9.1 This chapter examines the available evidence on learner motivation and the ways in which motivation relates to the benefits and outcomes learners expect to gain from engaging, participating, achieving and progressing in ALN provision. Two aspects of learner motivation are considered: what motivates adults to join literacy and numeracy classes; and what motivates learners to persist with their literacy and numeracy learning. In terms of the quality and effectiveness of provision, research has shown motivation to be a strong determinant of learner enrolment, retention, and success on basic skills courses (see Gorard et al., 2004; Holland, 2002; Webb, 2006, all cited in MacLeod and Straw, 2010).

Evidence

9.2 Learner motivation and how learners conceive that learning will be of benefit to them are complex subjects. Accordingly, the richest data on learner motivation come from qualitative studies that are sufficiently sensitive to capture learners' diverse, complex and multiple motivations. This review found a wide range of evidence on learner motivation from studies of this type. Quantitative and qualitative data on learner motivation and goals are often collected as part of studies which focus on other aspects of adult basic skills provision. Very often analysis of this evidence focuses on grouping learner motivations (for example as extrinsic or intrinsic motivations) and not on weighting motivations in terms of lowest and highest priority.

Findings

Motivation to join learning programmes

9.3 All available evidence suggests that learner motivations for improving literacy and numeracy skills are multiple and complex, reflecting the internal and external forces working on adults, and not easily reduced to economic rationalist decisions. For example, Kambouri and Francis (1994) noted that most students said they enrolled on basic skills courses to 'better' themselves (36%) and to learn specific skills; very few learners said they came to increase their self-confidence, although this was implicit in some of the specific answers given. A survey carried out for the Basic Skills Agency (2000) found that the main reasons for wanting to improve basic skills were 'to feel better about yourself/your skills' (37%); 'to be better at everyday tasks which involve basic skills' (24%); promotion at work (13%); and wanting to get a better job (17%). Sticht (2001) found that the main reasons adults gave for participating in basic skills improvement programmes were: emotional (to feel better about themselves); practical (to be better at everyday tasks involving basic skills); to improve IT skills; to obtain a qualification; because the course was near home.

- 9.4 In the research literature, motivations are most frequently grouped as extrinsic and intrinsic motivations, with many learners experiencing both extrinsic and intrinsic motivation. For example, qualitative interviews with learners carried out as part of NRDC's Learner Study (Rhys Warner and Vorhaus, 2008) found a broad range of extrinsic motivations, including goals related to gaining employment or progressing within education, where qualifications were often important to achieving these goals. (Those learning in the workplace named motivations directly associated with work included promotion, taking on voluntary roles such as Union Learning Representative and other union activities, and keeping up with new levels of work skills, such as ICT.) In contrast, most older learners who described learning for enjoyment and fulfilment did not want to take tests, although a few valued the opportunity to gain the qualifications they had not previously held. Learners also cited reasons not connected with work, such as helping children with homework, and intrinsic motivations such as overcoming embarrassment, and regaining confidence lost at school.
- 9.5 Importantly, learner motivations are not fixed and priorities can shift over the course of a learning programme. NRDC's Adult Learners Lives project (Barton et al., 2006) found that learning is affected by the 'imagined future' adults have, whereby they create and constrain what they see as possible. Adults' plans change as they see different lives for themselves, and as learners build confidence and self-esteem they begin to consider options which they did not previously feel were open to them.
- 9.6 Most research projects that have gathered data on motivation ask learners to name/choose multiple motivations (often from a pre-set list) and it can be difficult to establish a hierarchy of priority. NRDC's Effective Practice Study in Numeracy (Coben et al., 2007a) illustrated that motivations are many, intricate and often overlap. Of the 412 learners interviewed for this study, the main reason cited for embarking on the course was to get a qualification, with the second most popular response being 'to get a better job'. However, there is some dispute in the literature about how important *qualifications* and *specific skills needs* are as a motivation for learning, particularly in numeracy. Although learner motivations are broadly similar for both literacy and numeracy, NRDC's Learner Study found that many interviewees needed a maths qualification for promotion or as an entrance requirement for a higher-level course.
- 9.7 Evidence submitted to NIACE as part of their inquiry into adult numeracy learning (NIACE, 2011) led that organisation to conclude that although qualifications have value to some numeracy learners, for others qualifications may be a barrier to learning, especially given the low success rates. In contrast, a recent Ofsted report into adult literacy learning in England (2011a) found that literacy learners were motivated by working towards qualifications, and that this motivation was supported by the availability of a range of accredited routes to qualifications. Although research by NRDC and others has identified a number of reasons why adults are motivated to enrol on numeracy courses, this evidence is seldom skill- or task-specific. Some NRDC research (e.g. Swain et al., 2005) has suggested that people seldom join numeracy classes because they feel that they are lacking numeracy skills at work or in their everyday lives. Scottish research (Coben, 2005) lists factors such as peer pressure; change in personal circumstances; work-related

- reasons; learning to drive; needing numeracy to pass a course entrance test; needing to improve numeracy to live independently.
- 9.8 Wolf et al. (2009) found that when learners interviewed were asked about the benefits they expected from their workplace learning, increased earnings was ranked last and increased chance of promotion second last, demonstrating that short-term gains had a low priority. Instead, learners wanted or expected to learn new skills (just over half the sample) and to be more effective in their current job and, looking back on their learning, two-thirds (66%) of the sample reported that their confidence at work had increased as a result of learning. In research drawing on some data from the same three-year project on the 'Impact of policy on learning and inclusion in the learning and skills sector' (TLRP, funded by the ESRC) Finlay at al. (2007) concurred that for employees participating in basic skills courses,
 - ... career development was not as prominent a motivation as might have been expected. Many of the learners simply wanted to 'brush up' on their literacy and numeracy to make up for learning they had missed out on in the past. Others were taking up learning opportunities primarily for their own personal development, confidence and interest (p. 234).
- 9.9 Other commonly cited reasons included wanting to help children with school work and wanting to develop ICT skills.
- 9.10 In order to motivate adults who may lack awareness of their low skills to enrol on basic skills courses, marketing strategies should study and respond to specific market segments or target groups to be effective (Michael and Hogard, 1996). Inventive and varied marketing methods are required in order to increase demand for, and recruit 'hard-to-reach' learners onto, basic skills programmes. Powell et al. (2003) outlined three marketing methods that have had documented success:
- word of mouth (with information left in surgeries, community centres, etc.)
- the media (especially television people with low skills watch more TV)
- community outreach programmes which provide information for prospective learners (particularly where the specific needs of the local community are taken into account)
- there is also evidence that marketing campaigns can de-stigmatise basic skills courses and encourage learners to enrol (Rhys Warner and Vorhaus, 2008; Frontline Consultants, 2006). Use of broadcast media has proved more successful than print media.
- 9.11 There is also some evidence that a successful approach to engaging 'hard-to-reach' groups in learning is through providers working with community and voluntary sector groups (Hamilton and Wilson, 2005). In reviewing evidence gathered by the Basic Skills Agency and others, McIntosh (2004) concludes that one of the most effective methods of recruiting learners onto basic skills courses is through personal approaches, meaning that provider outreach work and links with other agencies in the community must be well-established. Placing basic skills

courses in accessible locations is popular and helps recruit learners. This community dimension to motivation is emphasised by Strawn (2005), who argues that people living in communities where education is seen as a means of advancement are more likely to participate in formal learning themselves (cited in Tett and Maclachlan, 2007). This conclusion is also supported by the NAO (2008b), which emphasised that the engagement of 'hard-to-reach' learners could be enhanced by promoting literacy, language and numeracy skills more widely across a range of government programmes.

- 9.12 A NAO (2004) progress report on Skills for Life also highlighted the particularly effective approach to increasing demand for provision through the use of successful learners in the promotion, recruitment and support of new learners. Promoting a 'culture of learning' within the workplace appears to influence both employer and employee decisions about investment in skills development (UKCES, 2009b). An Ofsted report into the impact of Train to Gain (2008) emphasised the important role employees who have participated successfully in training can play in motivating other colleagues to take up learning opportunities, by expressing satisfaction with the experience and pride in their achievements.
- 9.13 Integrating basic skills provision into other learning activities can make courses more attractive, as can increasing the diversity of provision. This supports findings presented by the NAO (2008b), which partly attributed the slow take-up of Train to Gain courses to the lack of availability of lower-level courses. The NAO found that adults were more likely to engage with maths when it was relevant to managing finances (financial literacy), work-related learning (embedded numeracy provision) and most popular of all linked to helping children with maths. The names of courses, such as numeracy or basic maths, may put people off. Suggested alternatives included: 'managing money better', 'organising your time' and 'maths in your home'.
- 9.14 The evidence has led researchers to suggest that policy makers would benefit by taking a broader view of both learner motivations and the outcomes adults expect to gain from learning. Hodgson et al. (2007) argue, from data gathered through qualitative interviews with learners in a range of settings, that the New Labour government was only 'half-right' in its construction of learner motivation: 'it does not appear fully to recognise learners' motivations to improve aspects of their everyday lives and policy focuses too heavily on the economic benefits of learning' (p. 20). Learners in this study spoke of the expected outcomes of their learning in terms that point to the wider benefits of learning (confidence, independence, better parents/community members) with labour market outcomes such as employment conceived of as longer-term goals. These authors speculate that
 - ... government policy does not stress the wider benefits of learning because this type of outcome does not easily lend itself to the type of quantitative measurements normally used to justify public spending and might deflect from the economically-driven focus on Level 2 qualifications associated with employability (p. 21).
- 9.15 They argue that this dissonance between the case made by policy makers for public investment in basic skills provision and the reasons why individuals engage

- in provision, and the subsequent policy focus on 'hard' outcomes (such as qualifications attainment) at the expense of softer outcomes, risks leaving disadvantaged learners behind, because they are far less able to achieve the qualifications linked to funding or performance targets.
- 9.16 Hodgson et al. (2007) draw three conclusions: a narrow definition of learner motivation based purely on personal economic benefits, coupled with a idealised sense of the power of learner agency, can lead to the undervaluing of the negative experiences at school, and the resources education providers require to remedy these; that the significance of the teacher/learner relationship has been downplayed by policy makers; and that where learners are problematised rather than the system, policy reforms fail to create the conditions that are favourable for sustained participation, achievement and progression.

Motivation to persist in learning

Where there are issues keeping learners in provision – that is, where learners are resistant – this is often viewed as a problem of motivation (see Wedege and Evans, 2006). In qualitative interviews with 44 learners from groups prioritised by Skills for Life policy (the unemployed, prisoners and the 'hard-to-reach') on mandatory and voluntary programmes, researchers found that those who were participating in training voluntarily usually did so because of some critical incident (O'Grady and Atkin, 2006). These people had a clear idea about their shorter-term goals (usually expressed in terms of getting a qualification) and those for the longer term (usually connected to future employment or employability). For those who were on training courses as a requirement of their benefits claim or because they were in prison, their participation in courses was passive (or the course was rejected completely). and many on Job Centre Plus programmes either could not see how the programme would improve their skills or disputed their need for training in the first place. The researchers conclude that making adults attend training programmes through interventions such as directions and sanctions does not lead to full engagement and participation and can lead to increased resistance to subsequent training. Non-voluntary learners understood that these programmes rarely led to employment:

Interestingly, learners ... reported enjoying work placements more than periods of time within a classroom setting, even if those placements appeared to be of little benefit in terms of achieving sustainable employment. It may prove beneficial for policy-makers to consider how training programmes for the unemployed could be structured in such a way to allow learners to decide their place of work and training support needs (p. 285).

9.18 Research on learner persistence from the US (Comings et al., 1999) found a significant relationship between persistence and learners having specific goals as a reason for entering adult basic education programmes. Similarly, Brazier et al. (2010) in reviewing literature on education and training for young people involved in crime, found evidence that mandatory education was often viewed as a punishment. The 2009 House of Commons Public Accounts Committee report on Skills for Life noted that there were problems motivating prisoners with low basic skills to take up courses (only one in five offenders with a literacy or numeracy skills

- need enrol). Although participation in learning is voluntary, there are ways of motivating prisoners to join classes and attend regularly, for example through the chance to earn privileges or embedding learning through prison activities such as prison work. Hannon et al. (2003) and Atkin et al. (2005) also report that 'concealing' basic skills training within community-focused provision for non-offender learners resulted in high learner retention, regardless of the size of the basic skills component relative to other elements.
- 9.19 Two studies, one aimed at reforming adult literacy education in the UK, US and Canada (Sticht 2001) and the other a NIACE/National Youth Agency investigation of the low take-up rate of basic skills provision among young adults (Merton 2001) have shown that informal venues are more likely to motivate potential learners to take up basic skills programmes than formal settings. Both studies found that learners preferred to learn in familiar places and were particularly in favour of learning at home with support. Swain et al. (2005) also found that numeracy students who feel vulnerable can be motivated where they are given the opportunity to work in a group setting. Learner motivation can be stimulated by learner involvement in the content and design of courses, which may be more possible in flexible/online learning than more traditional approaches.
- 9.20 Although research on some courses (Coben et al., 2007a) suggests that when numeracy is taught as part of the basic skills element of a full-time course or as part of a vocational course it can be difficult to motivate learners, NRDC's study of embedded learning (Casey et al., 2006) found that learners were less likely to drop out of a course if the basic skills element was embedded. The increase in retention was most marked for vocational classes at Level 2, with an increase of over 26% between classes with separate basic skills and those with embedded provision. Interview data support the finding, suggesting that on Level 2 courses, the embedded approach helped learners to overcome the stigma associated with having literacy and numeracy needs and helped learners cope with their vocational course. However, the impact of embedding on retention was not statistically significant for Level 1 courses. Employees often see learning at work as preferable to learning externally in a college, and workplace learning can encourage employees to develop their basic skills (Evans and Waite, 2008) motivated by the social dimension of the learning experience.
- 9.21 As noted in Chapter 8, Brooks et al. (2008b) carried out research to test the possibility that offering financial incentives might be a cost-effective way to increasing attendance and progress, finding that payment to attend adult literacy classes had an adverse affect on attendance. The literature on this topic points to the conclusion that 'external interventions crowd out intrinsic motivations if they are perceived as controlling' (Frey and Jegen, 2001, p. 594).

Conclusion

9.22 Learner motivations can be broadly categorised into five groups: *motivation by requirement* (e.g. it is a requirement to get the qualifications to fulfil work criteria [e.g. needing certification] or to retain benefits); *work-related motivations* (as an aid to gaining employment or better employment and moving out of low paid work);

educational motivations (to make educational progress, ranging from wanting a qualification or to help children with homework to wanting to go to university or correct an educational trajectory that stopped due to poor school experiences); motivation related to closed personal goals (to improve literacy and numeracy skills and so gain confidence in these skills – but not as a means to anything else); and motivation for wider personal development (the wider benefits of learning, such as wanting to increase confidence and make more of a contribution to society, to becoming more independent and successful, to have better health, to be better parents and community members).

- 9.23 Learner motivations are complex and many learners have diverse and multiple reasons for wanting to improve their literacy and numeracy skills. Learner motivations are not fixed. As people with shifting priorities and circumstances dip in and out of learning, so their goals are flexible and change as their circumstances change, sometimes unpredictably (Barton et al., 2006). Most research which gathers data on learner perspectives on motivation is either small-scale or focuses on specific programmes of learning (e.g. workplace provision), so it is not possible to be definitive about which motivations (or even types of motivations) carry higher priority with literacy and numeracy learners. It seems reasonable to concur with Brooks et al.'s earlier research review (2001b) that adults are principally motivated to improve their basic skills for 'self-development', be this personal, social or occupational.
- 9.24 Both in terms of engaging adults with low literacy and numeracy skills to improve these skills and supporting the progress of ALN learners towards achievement it is crucial that learner motivations are understood by policy makers. Where learners, employers, providers and policy-makers share an understanding of learner motivations and the barriers to accessing learning, responsive learning opportunities can be created, in turn encouraging both participation and retention (Taylor et al., 2006). Learners are de-motivated by sanctions and financial incentives to learn, and many prefer home-based, work-based and embedded approaches to improving their literacy and numeracy skills. The benefits and outcomes of learning as focused on in policy should be in step with the benefits and outcomes that learners are motivated to achieve.

Quality and effectiveness of provision: technology

Introduction

- 10.1 This chapter considers the evidence on the use of technology in delivering literacy and numeracy provision, considering the extent to which technology is used, the types of learners using technology, and the relative effectiveness of different approaches. Whilst most of the available evidence on the use of learning technology in literacy and numeracy is reviewed here, there are additional references throughout this review.
- 10.2 In this chapter the term 'learning technology' is used to refer to the information and communication technologies of interest. The Association for Learning Technology (ALT) defines learning technology as 'the broad range of communication, information and related technologies that can be used to support learning, teaching, and assessment'2. Becta, the UK government agency that (until its closure in March 2010) led the national drive to ensure the effective and innovative use of technology throughout learning, employed the following definition:
 - ... technology-supported learning/e-learning ... includes the application of learning technologies across the learning process from assessment of organisational and individual need to delivery of learning, learner support, management and administration, and formal and informal learning (Becta, 2010, p. 9).
- 10.3 This chapter is set in the context of a recent paper submitted to BIS by the ALT and the ESRC/EPSRC-funded Technology Enhanced Learning (TEL) programme (ALT and TEL, 2010). That paper responded to a number of questions posed by BIS concerning whether, how and in what circumstances e-learning is effective, as well as the strength of the evidence base. It provides an insightful discussion of a similar set of questions to those posed here, but within a broader framework (compulsory, post-compulsory and tertiary education). A selection of the findings on the benefits or drawbacks of learning technology is presented in.
- 10.4 ALT and TEL (2010) pointed to the distinction needed between (i) learner performance, (ii) other aspects of the learning experience, and (iii) organisational efficiencies, as three ways in which to measure the benefits of learning technology. As this chapter focuses on ALN provision, we limit our attention to the first and second of these, but not the third, which is concerned with institutional-level effects.

²² http://www.alt.ac.uk/about-alt/what-learning-technology [accessed 12 May 2011]

Table 10-1: Selected findings on the benefits (or drawbacks) of learning technology, from ALT and TEL (2010)						
Theme	Finding	Page	Source			
Diminishing returns of innovation	Once integrated into the mainstream the enhancements associated with the introduction of specific learning technologies can often diminish or disappear.	5	Authors			
Learner performance	In higher education (HE), courses that involve online learning - in whole or part - are associated with better learner performance on average than face-to-face instruction. This finding is attributed to learners having more control over their learning process and taking more time to complete and reflect on tasks than in face-to-face situations.	7	US Department of Education (2009) - meta-analysis of 52 studies undertaken in the period 1996-2008			
Retention	On the other hand, 'face time' with faculty and peers is essential to learners feeling included and integrated into the academic environment, with knock-on effects for their retention and attainment.	13	Lotkowski, Robbins and Noeth (2004) - review of more than 400 studies from the US			
Learner performance	Direct benefits to learners from e- learning projects (at HE level): improvements of around 10% in pass rates; improvements in learning style, insight and/or reflection; enhancement of skills, employability and/or confidence; enhanced satisfaction, motivation, attendance and/or confidence; enhanced recruitment through greater accessibility or opening up of new markets.	10-11	JISC-funed ALT, HEA and JiscInfonet CAMEL Tangible Benefits of e- Learning Project (2005) - review of 35 studies			

Table 10-1: Selected findings on the benefits (or drawbacks) of learning technology, from ALT and TEL (2010)					
Theme	Finding	Page	Source		
Learner performance	E-learning (at HE level) can enhance active, self-directed learning, particularly where learners use technology to locate their own material and for collaborative work, formative assessment and discussion with peers.	11	JISC (2007) Transforming and Enhancing the Student Experience Through Pedagogy (TESEP) Project		
Organisational efficiencies	Integrated information systems on an institution-wide basis can create significant cost efficiencies in core business processes (curriculum design and review, timetabling, marketing of courses, collection of marketing and quality information) and learners can benefit from more personalised approaches in the choice of learning and delivery method.	7	JISC/SFC e- Learning Transformation Projects - 12 large-scale institutional projects funded over a four-year period		
Additional demands of learning technology	Technologies provide new opportunities for learning, but also make new demands on teachers and learners. In the case of learners, learners require some new as well as many traditional learning skills. For teachers, many technology-supported tasks take longer, at least initially.	12 and 14	Authors		
Access	Many learners would have little or no access to learning opportunities without the support of technology. This is applicable to those with physical access difficulties and also learners who have had negative experiences with conventional education, who may benefit from the opportunity to use their own familiar devices, networks and/or learning spaces to access learning.	12	Authors		

Table 10-1: Selected findings on the benefits (or drawbacks) of learning technology, from ALT and TEL (2010)					
Theme	Finding	Page	Source		
Assessment	Technology can support assessment in several ways: freeing up staff to focus on setting effective assessment tasks and giving effective feedback; allowing assessments to be more uniform and fair; allowing students to practice assessment tasks and perhaps choose the time of their assessment; allowing assessors to learn from each other and standardise good practice.	12-13	Nicol, D. (2008) for Quality Assurance Agency, Scotland		
Retention	Technology can help retention where technology reduces staff time spent on other activities, allowing them to spend more time with learners - giving personalised feedback and other forms of close interaction.	13	Re-Engineering Assessment Practices in Higher Education (2010)		

Source: derived from ALT and TEL (2010)

Evidence

- 10.5 ALT and TEL (2010) state that 'there is a very large body of knowledge which could constitute a UK evidence base' on the questions of whether, how and in what circumstances learning technology is effective. The development of this evidence base has been through the Joint Information Systems Committee (JISC), the Research Councils, the Higher Education Academy (HEA), Becta, the funding bodies and others. For example the JISC, in the form of the e-Learning Innovation Programme, has supported an ongoing programme of pilots and development projects, all of which have been evaluated. In addition, the TEL programme has made substantial contributions, as did Becta in *inter alia* the FE sector, while ALT continues to review the evidence from a practitioner point of view.
- 10.6 The evidence base on the effectiveness of the use of learning technology in ALN provision, however, remains thin. There are few rigorous evaluations of the impact of using learning technology to support the delivery of literacy and numeracy, whether in FE, workplaces or other learner contexts. MacLeod and Straw (2010), for instance, reported that evidence on how adults develop their basic skills through flexible learning, including access to the internet, is poor. This is partly because there has been relatively little funded work on the development of software and new e-learning techniques specifically for basic skills learners. Where learning

technology has been used it is largely because teachers develop their own ways of using standard software tools.

Findings

10.7 According to Powell et al. (2003), there are three main ways in which learning technology is used in ALN provision: to attract people to learn basic skills; to overcome traditional barriers to learning through flexible provision; and to aid tuition/instruction and learning. In an analysis of adult numeracy classes in England, Mellar et al. (2004) found that learning technology was most often used as a complement to instruction, with learners using computers to practise skills taught in class. In a similar review of the use of learning technology in adult numeracy classes in Scotland, Coben et al. (2007b) found that most teachers used learning technology as a delivery mechanism and a complement to instruction, while the use of technology as an instructional tool, with ICT integrated into class teaching, was on the increase.

Enabling learner progression

- 10.8 Learning technology in ALN provision may improve learner progress and achievement, although the evidence for this is at best mixed (Torgerson et al., 2004; MacLeod and Straw, 2010). Torgerson et al. (2004) reviewed research investigating whether learning technology enables adult learners to make better progress. Of the 16 randomised control trials reviewed, ten had no clear result or results which were not statistically significant, two showed ICT to have a negative effect compared with conventional teaching methods and four showed ICT to have a positive effect.
- 10.9 Ruthven and Hennessy (2002) suggest four ways in which the use of learning technology is beneficial for numeracy provision in the classroom, where ICT is an aid to learning:
- improving the ambience and feel of classroom activity
- helping learners to correct errors and to experiment with possibilities
- enabling subordinate tasks (such as drawing graphs) to be carried out easily, rapidly and reliably
- accentuating particular features through images and effects.

Examples of using technology to support literacy and language learning

- podcasts: allowing students to record their speech in a range of genres, as
 well as encouraging students to actively interpret what they have read
- digital storytelling: for sharing experiences and providing an opportunity to

practice grammar, pronunciation and oral delivery

- blogs: helping learners develop more colloquial forms of language and providing them with a tool for discussing different ideas
- text-scaffolding software: which gives learners clickable access to digitised speech reading of phrases within pieces of text
- speech recognition software: used as a way of improving pronunciation
- social network sites: allowing students to find others to help them in their language development.

Source: Warschauer and Liaw (2010)

Flexible delivery

- 10.10 Learning technology also has the potential to make learning more flexible in terms of how, when and where it takes place. This flexibility is particularly valued is the workplace. Finlay (2007) presented findings from work-based learning, where ICT packages met a need for learners wishing to progress on sites at which suitable onsite learning was not available. One important advantage for the workers was that they could learn at times that were suitable for them.
- 10.11 The flexibility offered by the use of learning technology in particular internet learning also gives it the potential to reach a large number of learners with a high degree of efficiency. *learndirect* is a prime example: since 2000, more than 2.75 million people have completed a learndirect course, and *learndirect* is currently the largest contributor to the Government's skills targets (Ufi/learndirect, 2010).

Engaging and motivating learners

10.12 Learning technology is also used to attract adults to literacy and numeracy provision. One purported benefit is that learning technology helps to engage learners. The literature reviewed in Brooks et al. (2004) suggests that ICT acts as an incentive that attracts learners into learning, a finding that echoes Powell et al. (2003). Atkins et al. (2005) found that basic skills courses marketed under the guise of ICT training have the ability to engage more learners (and also more employers), as they perceive the training to be more relevant to them. Although an early study by Gorard et al. (2003) concluded that learning technology did not make adult learners in Wales any more likely to engage or re-engage with learning, the rapid increase in home access to the internet and technological advances may have invalidated this finding.3 Take for example, the success *learndirect* has had in attracting adult learners. Ufi/learndirect (2010) reported that ICT, particularly some recent innovations including social media such as Twitter, Facebook and YouTube, online interactive games designed to improve literacy and numeracy skills, and a

³ UK household internet access has continued on its recent rising trend. The ONS Living Costs and Food Survey suggests that between 2008 and 2009, there was a five percentage point rise in the proportion of all households with an internet connection. Cited in 'Evaluation of Home Access Programme: draft final report' (SQW for Becta/DfE, March 2011)

- number of applications for iPhones, has increased learner engagement and generated highly positive feedback.
- 10.13 Greater engagement in learning is related to a second purported benefit of the use of learning technology reported in a number of studies (Evans and Waite, 2008; Benseman et al., 2005; Hamilton and Wilson, 2005; White, 2003), namely an increase in the motivation of learners, contributing to their persistence in learning. One particular study is worthy of special attention. The NRDC Effect Practice Study in ICT (Mellar et al., 2007) developed and tested the effectiveness of ICT-based teaching strategies, using ICT designs targeted at literacy, numeracy and ESOL learning objectives. In total, 150 students took part in the evaluation phase of the study, and 80 completed both pre- and post-tests (after 40 hours of class time). Most learners found the use of ICT motivating. This was particularly the case with mobile technologies, which enabled greater flexibility in teaching, with tutors taking advantage of the mobility of the technology to move outside the classroom.
- 10.14 Similarly, a report for CfBT found that adults were motivated by the flexibility that learning technology has to support their numeracy learning (Hinman and Fletcher, 2008). They valued the instant responses and feedback that ICT applications provide, as well as the fact that they are enabled to develop transferable skills. MacLeod and Straw (2010) presented further research evidence which suggests that flexibility helps to motivate learning by:
- Creating individualised and relevant learning packages (Arenas, 2008; George and Luke, 1995; Holland, 2002)
- Creating packages that match and work with individual learning styles (George and Luke, 1995; Holland, 2002)
- Combining a range of technologies (Crawley and Attewell, 2001)
- Making it possible to deliver learning in 'bite-size chunks' (Crawley and Attewell, 2001).
- 10.15 A third benefit claimed for the use of learning technology is the improvement it brings to learners' self-confidence. Silver-Pacuilla (2008) presents analysis of qualitative data which suggests that Computer Assisted Instruction (CAI) is effective in comparison with conventional teaching methods, and contributes to an increase in learners' motivation and confidence levels.
- 10.16 A fourth benefit of the use of learning technology is that it has the potential to attract 'hard to reach' learners. This can come, for instance, the use of quizzes and games for those less inclined to use worksheets and books, and by reducing reading content for those who prefer a pictorial approach (Coben et al., 2007b). Similarly, the NRDC Effective Practice Study in ICT (Mellar et al., 2007) found that learning technology has the ability to change the focus of the learning experience, which may be beneficial for adults who have struggled in the past with conventional educational models. Tutors referred to learners 'managing information' rather than learning, and 'browsing and scanning' rather than reading as comprehension,

- signalling the need for new skills to improve learners' use of technology in addition to traditional literacy and numeracy skills (see Chapter 2). In one example, a task previously conceptualised as writing short sentences was changed to an exercise in relating image to text.
- 10.17 In contrast, there is also evidence that the use of learning technology is less suited or even de-motivating for some learners. Traxler (2004) suggested that mobile learning is not appropriate for every learner, simply because they may be resistant to technology or they may prefer other forms of learning. Mellar et al. (2007) found that learners with less confidence in using ICT at the start at the start of the course were more likely to drop out. MacLeod and Straw (2010) report that older learners are more likely to be in this position, and we know that the digital divide continues to exclude older people and also those on low incomes more than others from access to technology. Earlier research by NRDC (Atkin et al., 2005) suggested that learndirect courses were not suitable for learners with very low basic skills levels who also were in need of face-to-face support, and that flexible and internet learning with no other tutorial support is unsuited to some learners because of the high degree of learner autonomy required.

Conclusion

- 10.18 According to ALT and TEL (2010) there is a very large evidence base on whether, how and in what circumstances learning technology is effective. While this statement may hold good in general terms, it is not the case in the ALN sector. Given the rate of development of ICT, this is clearly an area worthy of future research focus.
- 10.19 Based on the limited evidence (often based on individual sources rather than a body of work), the following conclusions can be drawn:
- learning technology may improve learner progress and achievement, but the evidence is at best mixed
- learning technology can make learning more flexible in how, when and where learning takes place. Such flexibility is particularly valued in the delivery of workplace provision and also underlies the success (in terms of enrolments at least) of *learndirect*
- a small body of evidence that suggests that learning technology helps to attract, engage and motivate learners. Learners (and also employers) are more likely to perceive basic skills training to be relevant where it is marketed under the guise of ICT training. Other evidence suggests that mobile technologies, including applications for iPhones, online interactive games and social media are motivating many learners
- learners value the flexibility that the use of ICT offers, along with the opportunity for instant feedback and the ability to engage in non-conventional exercises such as quizzes, games, and pictorial approaches to learning

- the value of technology for ALN is conditional on the learners' existing ICT skills.
 Learners with poorer ICT skills are more likely to drop out if their acquisition of these skills is unsupported
- although learning technology is potentially attractive to 'hard-to-reach' learners and
 to those who have not benefitted from conventional educational models, it may
 represent a barrier to learning for older learners and those on low incomes without
 access to technology and the internet at home.
- 10.20 These findings suggest that ICT skills and basic skills may benefit from simultaneous development. Mellar et al (2007) reported that learners in the NRDC study improved in almost all cases in both literacy/ESOL skills and ICT skills and confidence. This lends support to the claim in the Moser Report (DfEE, 1999) that 'learners who use ICT for basic skills double the value of their study time acquiring two sets of skills at the same time'.
- 10.21 In the light of the rate of development of ICT, including mobile technologies, and the potential to support learning and learning progress, it is recommended that robust trials are conducted to clarify which are the effective practices in using technology for different groups of learners, and for different types of learning outcome.

Number of learning hours

Introduction

- 11.1 This chapter considers the relationship between learning hours and skills gain, and discusses the available evidence on the level of participation required for adults to make meaningful gains in their literacy and numeracy skills.
- 11.2 Learning hours can be measured as tuition time, commonly referred to as Guided Learning Hours (GLH), meaning teacher/learner contact time/time spent in formal learning; self-study (self-directed or own-time learning) and 'time on task', that is a combination of formal and self-directed learning. For learners on formal programmes of learning, participation can be thought of as a measure of hours of participation per month (intensity) and months of engagement per year (duration). Courses in literacy and numeracy vary in length, from short duration 'brush-up' courses designed to accredit or update existing skills, to intensive courses in residential settings, to courses spanning the duration of an academic year or more.
- 11.3 Research from the US (Comings et al., 2003) suggests that meaningful improvements in adult literacy require a 'threshold' level of participation in an adult literacy programme, and that sporadic participation may well make little difference to learner progress. In the UK, not all learners will achieve their learning aim by the end of a one-year course and some take several years to progress by one level on the National Qualifications Framework (NQF).
- 11.4 In order to calculate the length of time it takes for learners on programmes of study to make gains in literacy and/or numeracy, data are required (at the very least) on the following:
- skill level at time of course start (recognising that learners on the same basic skills course can start at very different levels; many classes are 'mixed-ability')
- number of contact hours/GLH (recognising that course intensity and duration vary a
 great deal, so evidence gained on courses that last for 30 hours cannot be
 generalised to courses of a longer duration) and other course variables (for
 example regularity and frequency of contact)
- course attendance levels (recognising that literacy and numeracy learners face different barriers to learning which affect their attendance patterns)
- number of hours spent on own-time learning, and the nature of literacy and numeracy practices in learners' own time learning (an important but little understood element)
- interim/end of course skill level (i.e. if skills gain rather than achievement [in terms of certification] is to be measured, then the sensitivity of assessment instruments is

critical; a number of studies considered in this review refer to the possibility that research instruments can be insufficiently sensitive to capture modest skills gains).

Evidence

- 11.5 Overwhelmingly, the available evidence on learning hours explores the relationship between GLH (i.e. teacher/learner contact hours) and learner outcomes. This review found no UK studies on *learner progress* that made substantial use of data on the self-study that adults engage in, either while taking courses or when not taking courses.
- 11.6 In the UK, the National Adult Learning Surveys gather some data on self-directed learning, including type of learning engaged in, motivations for engaging in self-directed learning, use of ICT, and outcomes of learning, but it is not possible to extract findings from these data on self-directed literacy and numeracy learning. In the US, the LSAL (a six-wave panel study launched in 1998 gathering data from an initial sample of around 1000 adults living in Portland, Oregon) found that panel members who participated in both programmes and self-directed learning were more likely than those who participated in neither or in just one type of learning, to attain a GED.
- 11.7 At a national level in England, the ILR provides some data on the amount of time adult basic skills learners take to progress. Individual Learner Record data can be used to calculate the number of months between enrolment (or achievement) at one level of the NQF and enrolment (or achievement) at a higher level. The data can be used to work out the average number of GLH learners experience, but these refer only to teacher/learner contact hours. No data are gathered via the ILR on self-study hours (Adams et al., 2010). Data from the ILR can be used to calculate relationships between learning hours and achievement in terms of passing a course, but not between learning hours and the gain of a specific skill.
- 11.8 The ILR reveals huge variation in the number of GLH for different basic skills courses, levels and learners. For example, the weighted average GLH may show the mean for a course to be 56 GLH and, while most learners may complete a course in less time, others will take upwards of 450 hours. Analysis of 2006/07 ILR data shows that the average GLH for all literacy qualifications was 64 hours and for numeracy was slightly lower at 62 hours. The overall achievement rates in the sample were 69% for literacy and 70% for numeracy. Entry level courses had more average GLH that higher-level courses: for literacy it was 83 GLH for Entry level courses, 58 for Level 1 and 54 for Level 2; for numeracy the GLH were 74 for Entry level, 58 for Level 1 and 54 for Level 2 (Cara et al., 2009).
- 11.9 Cara et al. (2009) point out that the ILR dataset in its current form cannot provide reliable evidence of the time it is likely to take learner cohorts to progress from one Skills for Life level to another, as identified by subject area, Skills for Life level and learner profile. It is possible, however, to use a combination of ILR and HESA data, along with the technique of 'fuzzy matching', to analyse the time taken for learners to move from Entry level to Level 1, and from Level 1 to Level 2. It would also be

- possible to undertake a similar analysis of the time taken by those entering education to achieve an Entry level qualification.
- 11.10 In lieu of comprehensive, national data that can be analysed to provide evidence on the relationship between learning hours in total and skills gain, findings presented in this chapter draw heavily on individual studies. The vast majority of evidence on the relationship between learning hours and skills gain comes from studies of literacy courses and *not* numeracy courses.
- 11.11 This review found no systematic attempt to collect data on what is expected of learners in terms of own-time learning by course providers and practitioners. Moreover, knowledge about the amount of GLH learners need to make educationally significant progress is not secure, although it seems likely that learners require more time than they generally spend in provision. Knowledge about the culture of self-study is also poor, with little evidence on what activities adults undertake in their own time to improve literacy and numeracy skills and even less evidence on how this own-time learning impacts on progress and achievement.

Findings

- 11.12 One issue to consider where studies report that a large number of GLH are required before meaningful learning (in terms of skills gain) takes place is that most learners do not receive this level of tuition. For example, research from the US has produced figures of 100-150 hours to progress by one grade level, whilst most adults find it difficult to attend even 75 hours within one year. This is where evidence on the impact of hours of self-study is important. In fact, as Brooks et al. (2008b) point out, in England many learners 'attend only one or two sessions, and within three months approximately 50% of those officially registered have dropped out' (p. 494). The same study cited figures from Peters et al. (2004) showing 53% of learners on the Job Seekers' Allowance literacy and numeracy project did not complete, and from NRDC's Learner Study (Rhys Warner and Vorhaus, 2008) showing the non-completion rate for a one-year ALN course in the academic years from 2000/01 to 2004/05 was just under 30% (completions rose from 71% of enrolments in 2000/01 to 73% in 2004/05).
- 11.13 The evidence base for individual studies in the UK starts with the *Progress in Adult Literacy* study carried out by NFER in 1998-99 for the BSA (Brooks et al., 2001a). This found that one of the few factors to correlate with progress in reading was the number of hours of literacy tuition learners received between pre- and post-assessments: the largest average improvement was shown by the subset of learners who had received 51-60 hours of tuition. Benseman et al.'s (2005) review of the literature on effective practice in LLN teaching concludes that programmes which allow for levels of participation in excess of around 100 hours of tuition are associated with gains for learners, particularly learners who have low levels of basic skills. Notably, all the robust studies reviewed by Benseman et al. (including the NFER research for the BSA) followed literacy learners not numeracy learners, and no studies made use of data on self-study. They found that evidence from research on the effect of intensity of provision and regularity was weaker, although one study

- suggested that learners made *less* gain when they received *more* than nine teaching hours per week.
- 11.14 In reviewing a number of studies from the US, Comings et al. (2009) concluded that 100 hours of instruction is the point at which a majority of adult students are likely to show educationally significant progress, and, therefore, it serves as a benchmark that identifies an effective programme. That is, if the majority of students persist for 100 hours or more each year, the programme is probably having a measurable impact on at least half of its students. After 150 hours of tuition, the probability of improving by one grade level is 75%. These findings have been read across to the UK context by researchers at NRDC (for example, Lopez et al., 2007, QIA; 2008). However it should be noted that this is a broad and untested application.
- 11.15 Adams et al. (2010) analysed ILR data from 2000/01 to 2006/07 to examine progress for Skills for Life learners (literacy, numeracy and ESOL) measured by subsequent learner enrolments in the same skill at a higher level after an initial enrolment or achievement at Entry level or Level 1. Time taken was calculated using the starting dates and achievement dates. This study found that around 30% of the 3.4 million adults who enrolled for Skills for Life learning aims in the FE sector in this period enrolled at least twice in the same subject. Of those who enrolled more than once in a skill between 2000/01 and 2006/07, and whose first enrolment was at Entry level or Level 1, 59% in numeracy and 48% in literacy progressed to a higher-level enrolment. Of the two million adults who achieved in Skills for Life between 2000/01 and 2006/07, 60% achieved once, and 25% (of the two million) achieved twice in the same subject. Around 150,000 learners in numeracy and 160,000 in literacy progressed to a higher-level enrolment and around 50,000 learners in numeracy and 60,000 in literacy gained a higher-level achievement in the same skill. Although researchers found that the range in time intervals for progression was large (ranging from one month to more than six years) the largest group took twelve months to move from achieving at Level 1 to achieving at Level 2. In both literacy and numeracy, those who progressed to a higher-level enrolment from Entry level were more likely also to progress to a higher-level achievement than those who progressed to a higher level enrolment from Level 1.
- 11.16 Research undertaken by NRDC as part of its suite of Effective Practice Studies (Coben et al, 2007a) found that numeracy learners made statistically significant progress between two assessments administered (an average gain of 9% in test scores, but with a wide range of average gains between different classes) with 39 GLH in between, although this research also found no correlation between the number of hours of tuition and the progress made. The Effective Practice Study on writing (Grief et al., 2007) found that modest progress was made in the minimum 50 hours of attendance between pre- and post-treatment assessments, but concluded that demonstrable progress in writing particularly free writing cannot be achieved quickly. In reading (Brooks et al., 2007), modest progress was made between the first and second assessments but no progress between the second and the third (with 30 hours of tuition minimum between assessments). This research also found that learners who reported more self-study between classes made better progress. This is consistent with findings from the LSAL (Reder and Strawn, 2001).

- 11.17 A recent review of family literacy courses by Swain et al. (2009) evaluated the effectiveness of two 'types' of family literacy courses, those characterised by the research team as short (involving 30-49 contact hours) and standard (72-96 contact hours). Although each type of course was shorter than the course length associated in research from the US about time taken to progress or make meaningful gains, parents were found to make statistically significant gains in writing and also gains in reading (although the latter were not statistically significant). The researchers speculate that in reading a ceiling effect may have taken place as the average scores of some parents were high at the enrolment, leaving little room for further improvement within the range of the assessment instruments used in the research. Research by the Centre for Research on the Wider Benefits of Learning (Feinstein et al., 2003), notes that changes in attitudes and behaviours in mid-adulthood tend to be rare, and so any progress at this time is notable, particularly when spread across this many parents. The average proportion of parents achieving a qualification on a short course was 56%, and 71% on standard courses. Parents on standard courses also exhibited a greater amount of individual change than parents on shorter courses in their perceptions of their children's literacy activities, and in their perceptions of themselves and their children as learners.
- 11.18 Intuitively we might presume, as research on family literacy programmes suggests, that longer courses lead to more gains, but this is not necessarily the case. In literacy and numeracy learning, adults with low levels of basic skills are more likely to be placed on longer courses (as opposed to courses targeted at those who need to brush up) but may nonetheless struggle to complete and to achieve when returning to education. Cara et al. (2009) analysing ILR data found, for literacy and numeracy learners, that the larger the number of GLH, the less likely learners were to complete their course, and the longer the course (as measured by GLH) the less likely literacy and numeracy learners were to achieve. They divided courses in the ILR into five bands by number of GLH: 1. 10-30 GLH (short sharp courses); 31-60 GLH (mean literacy and numeracy); 61-120 (mean ESOL); 121-180 and 181-300. The first band of short courses was characterised by low withdrawal and high achievement. Furthermore, a clear trend toward lower achievement for longer courses is seen for Level 1 and level 2 courses. However, learners on Entry level courses have higher achievement rates on courses in the 121-180 GLH range. Analysis by age is far more complex, with the youngest learners gaining higher rates of achievement on shorter courses, but with other age groups doing best on courses of 121-180 GLH. Cara et al. (2009) suggest that, at higher levels, the jump between one level and another may prove too large for some learners to achieve within a single year.
- 11.19 Research in this area has to consider how much learning adults are prepared to engage in. A survey of people with basic skills needs conducted by MORI for the Basic Skills Agency (2000) found that the majority (92%) were willing to spend at least one hour a week in programmes, with over half prepared to devote eight or more hours weekly (56%). The length of programme that the majority would be willing to undertake varied greatly. Approximately a quarter of those who would consider getting help would prefer a course of 10 weeks and a third would want the course to run for a year. In the US, the LSAL (Reder and Strawn, 2001) found that substantial numbers of learners (a third of those who had never participated in

programmes and almost half of those who had) in the survey population engaged in self-directed learning efforts to improve their basic skills (such efforts were separate to any 'homework' engaged in as part of a formal programme). Counter to what was expected, learners with lower levels of skills were more likely to participate in self-study. Researchers found evidence of a complex and fragmented process of participation, and point out that participation is measured differently from learner and programme perspectives (self-report versus administrative data).

Conclusion

- 11.20 Looking across the available evidence, results vary as to how much time is needed to make educationally significant progress. This is unsurprising given the different levels learners start at, the different courses that they join, and the different definitions of what is meant by progress and achievement (i.e. is it about passing a test, progressing to the next level, or gaining a specific skill?). However, the existing evidence does indicate that if learners (especially those working at lower levels) require upwards of 100 hours of hours of instruction to make significant educational progress, they need more time than they generally spend in provision. (It is worth remembering that those with basic skills needs have had a decade or so of compulsory schooling and not made enough progress to become functionally literate or numerate.) This finding has implications for short duration courses, such as the 10 week course a quarter of adults would prefer. Tuition would need to be intensive (10 hours per week) to offer sufficient hours of instruction but, as Benseman et al. (2005) speculate 'more intensive programmes are logically a more effective way of ensuring minimum amounts of tuition' (p. 41).
- 11.21 Furthermore, as Brooks (2010) points out, implicit in these measures of instruction hours is the assumption that all classroom time is spent on literacy (or numeracy) activities when this is not the case: for example, Brooks et al. (2007) in the Effective Practice Study in reading found that only 37% of class time was spent on active reading instruction. This suggests there may be scope for teaching practitioners to increase the proportion of GLH focused on active instruction within existing GLH resource levels.
- 11.22 More evidence is needed on what adults do in their own time to improve literacy and numeracy skills, and how these activities impact on their persistence with and progress in any formal learning they engage in. If learners are to increase the time spend on task by engaging in self-study, thus increasing their potential to make educationally-significant progress, then not only must programmes adapt to allow for and support this self-study; consideration should also be given to how this self-study is measured and credited (Comings et al., 2000). Brooks (2010) notes that although findings from LSAL show a link between self-study and better progress, the self-study effect from British evidence (see Brooks et al., 2007) is much weaker. This may be a reflection of contextual differences between the UK and the US, where the GED represents an important and recognised target, for which there is no British equivalent.

11.23 Although it is clear that one route to increasing time-on-task for basic skills learners would be by using technology to support self-study, this review found no substantive research on what works and does not work in improving learner outcomes in this regard.

Persistence in literacy and numeracy learning

Introduction

- 12.1 This chapter considers evidence on the policies, programmes and practices that have been shown to be effective in keeping adults in literacy and numeracy learning long enough to make significant progress. The focus is on 'learner persistence'; however it should be emphasised that although education providers and other agencies engage in practices or have developed an institutional culture designed to keep adults in learning, the term 'persistence' still has little currency in the UK adult learning sector (Lopez et al, 2007: p. 6).
- 12.2 The largest study of persistence in basic skills learning to date, conducted in the US by MDRC and the National Center for the Study of Adult Learning and Literacy (NCSALL), defined 'persistence' in the following way:
 - Adults staying in programs for as long as they can, engaging in selfdirected study or distance education when they must stop attending program services, and returning to program services as soon as the demands of their lives allow.
- 12.3 Persistence, then, is associated with the trajectory of learners, whether or not they are engaged in formal training or education. Importantly, persistence is not the same as learner 'retention', which is organisation-focused and often used as a measure of provider accountability. In contrast, persistence extends over a lifelong and life-wide learning journey and includes periods outside formal education, with a broad definition of participation that extends beyond participation in a specific programme of learning.
- 12.4 As discussed in Chapter 11, available evidence suggests there is a gap between the hours of instruction adult learners receive in the course of a learning programme and the time they require to make meaningful progress and to achieve their learning goals. Furthermore, drop-out rates in adult basic skills courses can be high: in 2006/2007 100,000 learners studying literacy, numeracy and ESOL dropped out, and 190,000 failed to achieve (Cara et al., 2009). This represents a waste of resources, time and potential.
- 12.5 Supporting learner persistence is a means by which adult learners are encouraged and assisted to continue their participation in learning, not by increasing the length of programmes of instruction but through increasing time-on-task and engagement. Persistence focuses on supporting learners in learning programmes for as long as they are able to attend and also keeping adults engaged in meaningful learning through means such as self-directed study and distance learning, so they are more able to re-enter formal learning when their circumstances permit.

Evidence

- 12.6 Evidence gathered specifically on the persistence of adult basic skills learners is drawn principally from the US where MDRC/NCSALL carried out a pioneering multiphase (2000-2003) Literacy in Libraries Across America (LILAA) initiative designed to help library-based literacy programmes increase the persistence of adult learners. Participating libraries were granted resources to develop and implement persistence strategies that included improved instruction, more varied and more extensive social supports, and technology upgrades. The study followed a set of adult literacy students in nine branches of five libraries to understand the factors that influenced their participation in formal programmes and their self-directed efforts to improve their basic skills or prepare for the GED tests. Researchers were able to make a detailed examination of persistence levels and patterns and of achievement trends.
- 12.7 The MRDC/NCSALL study is the largest and most systematic study of learner persistence, however it is important to note that features of the learning programmes it followed may limit the extent to which its findings are applicable to basic skills education and training provision and programmes in the UK. The US project examined literacy programmes only, and programmes which were delivered in libraries, mainly by volunteer tutors, on a one-to-one basis and in small groups, where programmatic funding was not dependent on learner retention. The vast majority of learners in the libraries included in the MRDC/NCSALL study were from non-white backgrounds (unlike literacy and numeracy learners in England) and generally had an older demographic profile than Skills for Life learners.
- 12.8 Evidence on persistence can also be drawn from the LSAL, which followed a statistically representative sample of about 1,000 high school dropouts from Portland, Oregon over eight years, collecting data in six waves between 1998 and 2007. Researchers looked at changes in the panel's assessed literacy skills, changes in their personal and family economic circumstances, their educational goals and informal and self-directed learning activities, and their decisions about entering, staying in, or re-entering basic skills and other educational programmes. The LSAL was able to examine patterns of participation and had the advantage of following its sample regardless of whether they were engaged in formal education activities or not.
- 12.9 In England, NRDC, working with partners from NIACE and Tribal Education, carried out a two-year project (2006-2008) on learner persistence in basic skills for the Quality Improvement Agency (now the Learning and Skills Improvement Service, LSIS). The Motivating Learners to Persist, Progress and Achieve project (PPA project) investigated how the learner-centred concept of 'persistence' developed by NCSALL could be used to support adults to successful learning in the context of the English system. In its first year, the project added to the evidence base on persistence, collecting quantitative and qualitative data through interviews, observations, focus groups, questionnaires and analysis of management information system (MIS) data in 30 research sites. These sites covered a broad range of provider settings but the sample was not a representative one and, given the timescales involved, the project was able to offer only a cross-sectional snapshot rather than a longitudinal study. Development activities, including

information exchanges, ICT workshops, action-research and the creation of persistence plans for increasing organisational support, took place in around 50 sites. In the study's second year, these activities were intensified in 14 sites where a number of strategies identified in the first year were evaluated. National ILR data was examined (see Cara et al, 2009: some findings from this data report are also summarised in Chapter 11 above).

- 12.10 This NRDC study was limited in four respects: its findings were not based on a representative population of either basic skills providers or basic skills learners; evidence was gathered over a short period of time; data were gathered only from adults who were actively engaged in basic skills learning and not from those who had either not engaged or who had dipped out of formal provision; and researchers did not gather data on learners' home practices/self-study in literacy and/or numeracy. Although initiatives for improving learner persistence were trialled in the second years, these were not systematically evaluated.
- 12.11 In terms of evidence on learner persistence, it is important to note that in addition to projects that take persistence as their principal subject, the component parts of learner persistence (engagement, motivation, retention, study support, flexible delivery, progression and so forth) are the subject of a great many research projects.

Findings

Barriers to persistence

- 12.12 Evidence from both the US and from the UK suggests that learners who drop out are not markedly different demographically from learners who stay in learning (Martinez and Munday, 1998; Comings et al., 1999). However, research by MDRC/NCSALL on literacy programmes offered in US libraries suggests that immigrants, learners over the age of 30, and learners with teenage or grown up children were more likely to persist. Based on a literature review of research on models of adult learning, Tusting and Barton (2003) found that non-completion of courses was not simply linked to external factors but actually linked to student experience of college. The quality of students' learning experience was the most significant factor associated with completion rates. Kambouri and Francis (1994) found that those who left basic skills provision experienced poorer weekly attendance than those who persisted, and that attendance was therefore crucial when learners decide whether to stay in a class or not.
- 12.13 Analysis of ILR data carried out as part of NRDC's PPA project (Cara et al., 2009) showed that half of basic skills learners who were going to withdraw did so by the time one third of the course had been completed. In literacy, learners aged 16-18 were most likely to persist with learning at the beginning of a course, and learners aged 19-24 the least. By the time the course was half-way through, the 16-18 age group became the most likely group to withdraw; older learners aged 55+ also tended to drop out half way through the course. In numeracy, those on Entry level courses were more likely to withdraw in the first half of the course than Level 1 learners, who were more likely to withdraw than Level 2 learners. Once the half way point was passed the likelihood of learners completing the course was very

- similar, regardless of level. The same pattern was observed for literacy, although less strongly, but learners on day literacy courses stayed longer before withdrawing than those on evening courses.
- 12.14 The ILR data show that basic skills learners with prior qualifications were more likely to complete and achieve on their current course compared with those with no prior qualifications, so persistence may be associated with having more experience as a learner, and with learning how to learn. This indicates that if 'inexperienced learners' receive sufficient support and attention to get them through to a first qualification, at whatever level, this could put them on the path to lifelong learning.
- 12.15 Similarly, the MDRC/NCSALL study found that adults who had previously engaged in basic skills education, self-study, or vocational skills training were more likely to persist than those who had not. Evidence from the LSAL highlights the image of a learner engaging in episodes of participation and self-study, linked together and focused on the same goal. According to Snape et al. (2004), individuals in the 2001 NALS who carried on learning over time were more likely than those who subsequently stopped learning to have engaged in taught and self-directed learning as well as vocational and non-vocational learning. A similar pattern appeared in the Pathways in Adult Learning Survey (PALS, 2003), where long-term learners were more likely to be involved in a wider range of different types of learning than new learners. These data suggested that people who continue to learn over time engage in a wider breadth of activities than those who do not.
- 12.16 Chapter 9 of this review showed that adults have multiple, complex and highly personal motivations for participating in and persisting with their basic skills learning. Literacy and numeracy learners often attend classes to attain personal and social goals as well as to gain functional and cognitive skills (Kambouri and Francis, 1994). For adult learners, persistence is linked to maintaining these goals as the context changes, and developing tools that can help that learner to move from one set of circumstances to another. A substantial body of evidence supports the theory that learners are most likely to drop out of formal learning for reasons related to their personal circumstances (Kambouri and Francis, 1994; BSA, 2000; Tomoana and Heinrich, 2004; Barton et al., 2006). These barriers to formal engagement include funding-related reasons (childcare, travel costs) and other reasons (for example, social constraints). Researchers have classified barriers to participation and persistence in four groups (NALA, 1998; Litster, 2007):
- dispositional: negative attitudes to learning
- informational: lack of appropriate information
- institutional: the rules of procedures of provision, including onerous application forms, negative associations with traditional classroom settings
- situational: the barriers that arise in everyday life, such as insufficient time, childcare issues, financial issues.

- 12.17 One influential study from the US (Meader, 2000) suggests that numeracy and literacy learners may be affected differently by barriers to persistence, with numeracy learners mainly facing dispositional and academic barriers.
- 12.18 Another approach to understanding barriers to skills development suggested by NIACE (2004) involves identifying 'structural and situational' barriers. These barriers include time constraints that may prevent individuals from undertaking skills training; the financial cost of training; the lack of relevant training opportunities near the home and issues over accessing childcare (Newton et al., 2005). A House of Commons report into barriers to FE participation also noted extrinsic barriers faced by particular groups. Research by CRISIS (2006) identified three broad types of barriers to homeless people's participation and persistence in learning and skills development in general, which may also apply to other 'hard-to-reach' cohorts:
- personal barriers: including those related to substance misuse, low confidence and self-esteem, negative experiences of learning
- service barriers: lack of priority given to learning and skills by some homelessness agencies and their staff, the inability or unwillingness of some mainstream providers to respond appropriately to the needs of homeless people
- funding barriers: the fragmented approach taken by each of the potential funders of learning and skills work with homeless people may lead to narrow outcome targets that learning providers find difficult to satisfy when working with homeless people, which in turn result in a reluctance among mainstream providers to focus resources on homeless people and a subsequent reduction in funding for specialist provision.

Provider support

- 12.19 The MDRC/NCSALL persistence study identified as the first (of four) supports to persistence (Comings et al., 1999) the need to manage the positive and negative forces (the barriers) that help and hinder persistence, by identifying these forces, prioritising those that have the most significant effort, and deciding which ones can be managed (by being made weaker or stronger, depending on whether these are negative or positive forces). With reference to strengthening positive forces, the literature suggests that learners who develop a learning identity are more likely to persist (St Clair, 2006). For providers this can mean supporting self-efficacy the second of four supports to persistence identified by MDRC/NCSALL (Comings et al., 1999) through building the feeling in adults that they can be successful learners, through regular recognition of learner progress, and by using successful adult learners as role models.
- 12.20 A number of studies (including important work by NIACE on 'Catching Confidence', Eldred et al, 2006) have stressed the importance to learner persistence of recognising soft outcomes within a broad framework of achievement and a system of formative assessment which recognises small steps. Research on formative assessment for the OECD (Derrick and Ecclestone, 2008) stresses the importance to progress of scaffolding, so that learners have challenges at the right level of difficulty, and of tailoring learning to the individual learner's needs (which implies the need for a broad repertoire of teaching methods and substantive expertise).

The third and fourth supports to learner persistence identified by MRDC/NCSALL were that learners establish a goal, and that progress is made by learners towards this goal, a process supported by measuring progress, but not necessarily by the same measures that are used for programme goals in terms of accountability (Comings et al., 1999). By acknowledging gains already made, flexible and innovative assessment can support learner persistence when adults 'drop out' of formal programmes (NAO, 2004).

- 12.21 In addition to building self-efficacy and self-confidence, research shows that assistance with childcare, transport and access to social services can make a difference to learner persistence, and there is some (albeit more tentative) evidence to suggest that persistence is supported where providers are aware and manage the critical periods when learners are more likely to withdraw or to fail; when pastoral care is provided; when there are adequate financial resources and facilities and where there is administrative leadership (Benseman et al., 2005, citing Comings et al., 1999; Eldred, 2002; B. A. Quigley and Uhland, 2000; Yaffe and Williams, 1998). With respect to critical periods for withdrawal, Quigley (2000) identifies the first three weeks of a course as vital, thus emphasising the role that induction and orientation processes have to play in supporting persistence. Appropriate placement supports learning (Martinez, 2001) whereas poor, inadequate or inappropriate information, advice and guidance (IAG) can cause students to withdraw (Lopez et al., 2007). Many basic skills learners will have had negative school experiences, so the transition to the learning environment must be handled sensitively.
- 12.22 Effective IAG occurs where potential learners are aware of all the learning possibilities and the best match is made between learning needs and the learning offer. Sustained attendance in a learning programme appears to depend upon the appropriate level of support available, in accordance with learners' needs particularly during the early stages after enrolment – and the efforts made by the providers to link the learning programme to the outcomes desired by learners (Taylor et al., 2005). In reviewing the evidence on widening adult participation in learning, Taylor et al. cite an evaluation of the then Department for Education and Skills' Adult Guidance Pilots (Tyers et al., 2003) which found that in-depth guidance offered as a complement to traditional IAG had a positive impact for 'hard-to-reach' groups, with successes including qualifications gains for those with no prior qualifications and a quarter of those who had been unemployed for less than six months moving into work. The main lessons learnt from these pilots were that the needs of the target group should be understood; families and communities of clients should be considered as well as the individual; advisers need to be clear about what they are offering; and provision should be flexible and tailored to need. MacLeod and Strawn (2010, citing Hillage et al., 2006) point to evidence from the evaluation of the Employer Training Pilots (ETPs) which suggests that adults engaged in work-based learning who receive IAG services are more likely both to be satisfied with the learning programme and to progress to further learning.
- 12.23 The MRDC/NCSALL persistence project (Porter et al., 2005) identified five learning pathways for the programme participants it studied:

- long-term pathway: learners who are active in programmes for an extended period, and who often participate in computer-assisted instruction or self-study as well as class
- mandatory pathway: learners required to attend programme
- tryout pathway: learners who participate short-term but face barriers that are at least temporarily insurmountable, or, students who do not have a clear goal to sustain their motivation
- intermittent pathway: learners who join and leave a programme several times.
 Breaks in participation are often caused by a personal crisis, and students return when the problem has passed
- short-term pathway: learners who participate intensely but briefly to accomplish a specific goal.
- 12.24 This research suggested that the challenge for education providers is to value the outcomes that are reasonable for each pathway. For example, helping an adult on a 'tryout' pathway to make decisions not to join services but with a plan to join in the future is, for that learner, the best possible outcome. Turning them away or making them join a class and then fail is not a good outcome.

Strategies education providers could adopt to encourage learner persistence

- information-gathering strategies: the more providers know about their learners, the more programmes can respond to the needs of learners
- support strategies: including, pastoral support; child care facilities; help with transportation; referral procedure for using external agencies
- operational strategies: including extended opening hours; flexible and drop-in and off-site classes; improving access to ICT
- programmatic strategies: including the curriculum changes, recruiting students in innovative ways, redesigning tutor training, redesigning student and tutor orientation.

Source: Porter et al. (2005)

Programme support

- 12.25 Condelli et al. (2010) drew on the work of MRDC/NCSALL and LSAL data to make recommendations about how programmes for ALN learners should be designed:
- build persistence in adult learners so that they stay in programmes and engage in self-directed learning activities for much longer periods of time

- gather data and build accountability around longer-term outcomes
- develop community-wide learning support systems that strengthen collaboration among educational providers and social service and community-based organisations to meet learners' needs
- utilise technology to increase system capacity, coordination, and effectiveness.
- 12.26 The times and locations of literacy and numeracy programmes (Frontline Consultants, 2006; Rhys Warner and Vorhaus, 2008) can affect participation. In 2004, the NAO (2004) reported that many courses were insufficiently flexible to support learner persistence (for example, in being scheduled at times that clashed with out-of-school hours). Programmes and delivery should be able to adapt to the personal circumstance and learning styles of individual learners. However, one finding highlighted by the PPA project (Lopez et al., 2007) was that flexibility is not best for all cohorts of basic skills learners: for some, especially learners thought of as 'at risk', routine and structure are essential to successful learning.
- 12.27 Ofsted (2007), in evaluating the provision of direct learning support for literacy, language and numeracy in colleges found that retention rates for courses where learners received learning support were higher than for those learners who received no support. Many of the learners receiving support reported that they would have dropped out of college had it not been for the extra support they received and Ofsted cited examples of learners at colleges starting but then leaving their courses owing to inadequate support.
- 12.28 In terms of learner persistence, it is important to consider ways in which programmes, as well as providing classes, can be designed to support self-study. This would enable ALN programmes to serve more learners (since many adults self-study who never come to formal classes), attract new learners to classes (since some adults who self-study might later attend classes), and increase the overall persistence of adult literacy learning (since many adult learners engage in selfstudy and attend classes at different points in time) (Reder and Strawn, 2006). Research from both the UK and US stresses that, for learners, dropping out of learning programmes can be a rational and positive response to changing circumstance. What is important in terms of learner persistence is that these breaks from learning are supported, principally by distance and blended learning, so that learners are not penalised and do not have the door to learning closed on them. For example, one development project carried out by NRDC as part of its work of the PPA project (QIA, 2008), looked at ways in which learners who had taken a break from formal studies due to pregnancy were supported in their learning by continuing to have access to college resources, including online learning and phone tutorials. This was a very small initiative, but an example nonetheless of how time out of formal provision can be incorporated into the learning journey.
- 12.29 Programmes need to support adults who dip in and out of provision as their ability to participate fluctuates in line with their multiple identities and sometimes chaotic lifestyles (see Porter et al., 2005). Reports from the NAO and the House of Commons Public Accounts Committee have highlighted this issue with particular

- reference to two groups of learners: those who start employment before their course of learning has finished or who move in and out of work; and prisoners, who face problems maintaining continuity in learning. Some problems could be addressed by better coordination between government agencies and stronger collaboration between government agencies, providers and employers.
- 12.30 The PPA project (Lopez et al., 2007) found that although ICT is seen as a potentially motivating resource for learners, access, ICT-literacy and time pressures are all potential barriers to the use of ICT as part of self-study. Learners who encounter problems with ICT resources away from class can lose confidence and motivation. This raises the question of the extent of provider and practitioner involvement and responsibility, especially where learners are using learning platforms and blended-learning options to support their studies. Learning platforms are useful for already motivated, independent learners, but the support of e-tutors is critical, as are clear progression routes. Teachers who were surveyed in this research all recommended BBC Skillswise to learners (an indication that teachers are making suggestions to learners where there is a realistic chance of take-up) but there is little information on if and how teachers and learners follow up on these recommendations.

Practice

12.31 NRDC's PPA project (Lopez et al., 2007) highlighted the importance of good teachers and good teaching to learner persistence. Even where learners are learning outside formal provision or settings, they do not want lonely learning some degree of structure and support is still necessary. Providers wishing to set up flexible opportunities to learn outside the classroom (for example, via mobile or online technologies, self-study or peer study), and practitioners wishing to set learning tasks outside the classroom, should be aware of the possible constraints and barriers learners face. Some groups of learners may be able to access more opportunities to learn outside the classroom than others, for example older learners or those with greater financial stability. Access to technology for learning at home and also learner access to technical support for on-line learning require sustainable resources. Many learners, sometimes those most in need of supplementary support, may face intense personal demands on their time outside the classroom due to family, settlement or employment responsibilities. From the practitioner perspective, self-directed learning has to be managed with care. Researchers often found that teachers were reluctant to give learners homework in case it made learners anxious, and that teachers were very aware of the barriers learners could face when engaging in self-study. In general, there was a perception that adequate systems (whether provider systems or systems within the wider community) are not yet in place to support self-study.

Policy support

12.32 NRDC's PPA study suggested that the funding system in operation at that time could work against both learner choice and learner persistence by prioritising supply over demand. The Skills for Life funding system followed qualifications not learners, and was at odds with the philosophy of lifelong and life-wide learning, and with the realities of what it takes for adults to persist with their learning. The demands of a target-driven system are not always in keeping with the philosophy of

an organisation or its teachers toward adult learners. It was suggested by this study that persistence could be supported by funding mechanisms that were aligned more effectively with learner motivation. A broader definition of what constitutes achievement would allow for more funding of smaller steps and stepping stones achievement. This point was also made with reference to provider organisations (Lopez et al., 2007): where providers are forced to focus on targets, the offer may not be in line with what learners need or want. With particular reference to adult basic skills, there may be insufficient opportunities available at lower levels

Conclusion

- 12.33 There is no research from the UK that has followed a sample of adults with low basic skills over a sufficiently long period of time long to enable clear patterns of persistence to emerge. It is thus not obvious which adult learners will persist, or whether provider strategies for supporting learner persistence have any impact. Most of the available evidence suggests that a number of different forces impact on adults' abilities to stay in formal learning programmes and that only some of these forces can be influenced by programmatic, provider and practitioner actions.
- 12.34 The key to learner persistence is that breaks in engagement in formal learning are supported by other learning opportunities and supports for learning, and that overall learning provision is flexible and responds to individual learners' needs. This said, there is very little evidence from the UK about the learning practices of adults who 'dip out' of formal learning. Providers rarely gather data on learners who do not complete their courses, and it remains unclear where responsibility lies for supporting learners' self-study beyond formal or provider-based instruction.

Skills acquisition, retention and loss

Introduction

13.1 This chapter considers the evidence on skills acquisition, retention and loss. It examines the research literature on skills retention, including what adults need to do to retain or improve the skills they have gained, why skills loss occurs and what can and has been done to reduce it. The scope of interest extends beyond guided learning hours to informal and own-time learning (for example when using ICT) and in the context of mentoring and peer learning.

Evidence

13.2 The evidence base on the question of skills acquisition, retention and loss is very thin. The chapter focuses on the available evidence for how skills use, particularly in employment, aids skills retention. It also considers two studies where participants in literacy programmes were followed up roughly two years after course completion. The evidence base does not exist, however, to address adequately the issue of skills retention and loss. No evidence was found that would shed light on the role that national tests might play in skills acquisition (with learners learning how to pass the test rather than learning lasting skills) or on how different modes of learning (e.g. informal, own-time learning, mentoring and peer learning) might contribute to the acquisition of skills that are then retained over time.

Findings

- 13.3 There is a theory that skills acquisition, retention and loss follows a 'lifecourse' trend, whereby skills increase in early middle age perhaps as a result of honing skills needed in employment which then plateau before declining again at older ages. Some evidence on this is presented in Rashid and Brooks (2010) on both literacy and numeracy skills.
- The findings from the Skills for Life survey (Williams et al., 2003) show a decrease in the proportion with low literacy skills (note skills, not qualifications levels) between 16- to 19-year olds and the next age band, 20-24 (17% to 13% at Entry level), followed by an increase through the older age groups from 35-44 (15%) to 45-54 (19%) to 55-64 (22%). Rashid and Brooks (2010) report that a similar pattern was apparent across the age range 22 to 74 in the results of the Older and Younger survey conducted in 1993-94 by the Basic Skills Agency (1995).
- Data from the 1996 International Adult Literacy Survey (IALS) (Carey et al. 1997) showed an improvement in skills levels (in England) from the youngest age group (16-25) to the next two (26-35 and 36-45), after which it plateaus and then declines, particularly after age 55. It is noteworthy, however, that the IALS data show a

- slightly different pattern for literacy skills, in which there is only marginal increase in skills levels from the youngest age groups to the middle ages, before they decline substantially over the age of 45, but particularly after 55.
- 13.4 One possible explanation for this 'lifecourse' trend is that over time cohorts of similarly-aged individuals have left the school system with higher or lower average skills levels. In other words, the findings above, which are taken at a single point in time, merely reflect the skills levels held at the point that each cohort left the school system. Rashid and Brooks (2010) argue against this explanation on the basis that the 'inverted U-shape' of the 'lifecourse' trend has been found in surveys conducted years apart. Rashid and Brooks (2010) do not, however, offer an alternative explanation in full; they suggest that the up-slope in early middle age may result from honing skills in employment, but they do not offer an explanation for the downslope experienced at older ages. There might be a neurological explanation for this (that is, related to the ageing process) or it might be explained by reduced usage of those skills.

The effect of (un)employment on skills acquisition, retention and loss

- 13.5 One area for which there is a small body of evidence is the way in which individuals retain or improve skills if they are used in employment, but equally may lose them if they are not used, for example, in periods of unemployment. Drawing on data from the 2003 Skills for Life survey, Williams et al. (2003) found that people are more likely to lose their numeracy skills if they are employed in jobs that do not require their use. They observed that only 30% of those working in routine occupations with a good maths pass achieved Level 2 or above in the numeracy test, compared to 63% of those working in higher managerial/professional occupations. The report also speculates that young men with very low numeracy do not improve these skills as they get older, but those with medium-low or medium numeracy skills do improve with age. This is probably associated with available occupations: individuals with even medium-low numeracy may have much broader work options than those with very low numeracy.
- 13.6 A similar finding was reported in St Clair et al. (2010) from the findings of a survey of a random sample of 19,927 adults in Scotland carried out in 2009 with the purpose of producing a national literacy profile for Scotland. St. Clair et al. found a strong correlation between an individual's literacy practices in the workplace and their literacy score. Patterns observed include that those scoring more highly in the document literacy test were far more likely to read or use information from computers frequently in the workplace. However, particular occupational types present greater opportunities for computer use than others: for example, 94% of those in managerial and professional occupations use computers frequently compared to 39% of routine and semi-routine workers. The authors speculate that 'demands for the use of literacies at work may strengthen an individual's capabilities in those areas' (ibid, p. 40): in other words, literacy skills will be retained and developed through their use in the workplace. The report does not ask whether the opposite is true – that lack of use leads to skills loss. This question was addressed by another study reported by Bynner and Parsons (2000).

- 13.7 Bynner and Parsons (2000) examined data from NCDS to see whether people's literacy and numeracy skills get worse if they are out of paid employment and test the hypothesis that employment provides the opportunity to practise and develop skills.. The main findings were:
- In general time out of the labour market does indeed have an adverse effect on literacy and numeracy through adult life. However, the impact of time out of paid employment on literacy and numeracy in adulthood (at age 37) is strongest when the skills are poor at 16. This suggests that once a certain level of literacy or numeracy has been attained at school, skills are not much weakened by absence from paid employment.
- Adults who are out of work lose their skills, but this loss tends to be more acute, and to start sooner after loss of employment, for numeracy skills than for literacy. This can create a vicious circle, in which poor numeracy contributes to limited employment, which leads to poorer numeracy, which makes it harder to find and keep employment.
- Time out of paid employment is linked to a decline in numeracy skills, but this occurs to a lesser degree in women than men. For men, the decline in numeracy skills in unemployment was particularly acute for those who had poor skills to start with (at age 16), so that they see their skills decline sooner and to a greater extent. Bynner and Parsons propose that this difference between men and women is explained by the more diverse roles often demanded of women out of the workplace in, for example, the role of child carer, household management and providing homebased education support for children, which involve the use of reading skills and basic maths on a near daily basis.
- Other factors were found to influence the extent to which skills declined during periods of unemployment. One such factor was socio-economic status, with the basic skills of those brought up in more disadvantaged circumstances more adversely affected by being out of work. A second influential factor was participation in work-related training in adulthood, which offered a degree of protection against the adverse effects of time out of the labour market.
- 13.8 According to the authors, the policy implication of the findings is that those out of employment need to be helped to retain their numeracy and literacy in order to ensure they do not fall behind those in employment who are able to exercise their skills, and so increase their chances of gaining employment.
- 13.9 Using UK and US datasets, Bynner et al. (2010) undertook a comparative study to explore the relationship between employability and access to and use of ICT, literacy and numeracy. The study found that employment and ICT use support the development of literacy proficiency that is, the development of literacy proficiency is aided by time spent in employment and exposure to ICT. The study also found evidence of a virtuous circle, whereby enhanced skills work together with employment experience to reinforce prospects further. However, a vicious circle is also evident: a lack of ICT access and use, together with poor literacy, damaged employability prospects, leading to marginalisation in the labour market and a

subsequent and further loss or erosion of skills. These findings underline the policy implication drawn above, that numeracy and literacy support is needed for those out of employment or on the margins of the labour market in order to reduce the risk of further marginalisation.

Skills retention following literacy programmes

- 13.10 Brooks et al. (1997) presented the findings of a study that followed up with parents and children who had participated in the BSA's Family Literacy Demonstration Programmes in 1994 and 1995. These 12-week family literacy courses took place in areas of multiple deprivation in Cardiff, Liverpool, Norfolk and North Tyneside. The original evaluation of the programmes (Brooks et al., 1996) showed that they had been highly effective in boosting the parents' literacy, the parents' ability to help their children to learn to read and write, and the children's language and literacy.
- 13.11 A total of 154 parents and 237 children were re-contacted in 1997 (that is, 43% of the parents and 60% of children who participated in the original evaluation), between 20 and 34 months after finishing the programme. Parents were interviewed about their literacy, as well as about further courses undertaken and about their employment. (They were not tested on their reading and writing skills as they had been in the original evaluation.) Of the 154 parents re-contacted, 133 (86%) thought that their own reading and writing were continuing to benefit greatly or to some extent from the programme. The report's wider conclusions are very positive about the continuing benefits for both parents and children and so the implication is that this represents a high rate of skills retention for these parents. The report does not, however, offer a benchmark with which to compare this figure. Also, the research does not explain what it was about the programme – the mechanisms operating in particular contexts – that led to the programme's success (in that it was apparently delivering positive outcomes two- to three-years later). It is important to add that the question of the parents' skills retention was not a stated aim of the research and so this should not be understood as a criticism of the research as a whole. It does, nevertheless, serve to highlight some lessons for how future research – which is needed in this area – should be carried out.
- 13.12 In their longitudinal study of the impact on learners and their organisations of government-funded workplace programmes designed to increase the literacy skills of employees, Wolf and Evans (2011) tested the reading and writing skills of participants at the start of their courses, and then a year and two years later. Their evidence suggests that learners' reading performance a year and two years after the course experienced only a very small average gain in performance; but that for native English speakers the improvement did not reach conventional statistical significance levels. Larger improvements were observed among ESOL (English as a Second Language) learners. These improvements may simply reflects longer time in an English-speaking environment.
- 13.13 Again, there are limits to the lessons that can be drawn from this study on the question of skills retention. The courses studied typically offered just 30 hours of tuition, after which learners had no further free workplace entitlement. This is substantially less than the 100 hours that evidence suggests is required (see Chapter 11). Consequently we have reason to think that these programmes were not effective in helping learners to acquire literacy skills, much less retain those

skills. It, therefore, offers further lessons for future research in this area: namely, that any research should focus on teaching modes, methods and approaches for which there is existing evidence of its (likely) effectiveness.

Conclusion

- 13.14 Skills acquisition, retention and loss appears to follows a 'lifecourse' trend, whereby, on average across a population, skills increase in early middle age, then plateau before declining again at older ages. The maxim 'use or lose it' appears to apply in the case of literacy and especially numeracy skills, and it is clear that the workplace provides opportunities for individuals to retain and develop their literacy and numeracy skills, but particular occupations present greater opportunities than others. Conversely, time out of employment tends to result in the loss of literacy and numeracy skills, particularly for men and also for numeracy compared with literacy. The rate of skills loss during periods of unemployment is particularly strong for individuals with lower levels of ability when they left school. By reaching a threshold level of literacy or numeracy skills, an individual becomes less susceptible to skills loss in times when those skills are used less, such as unemployment.
- 13.15 The workplace literacy programmes examined in Wolf and Evans (2011) performed poorly in terms of skills retention, but other evidence suggests the programmes delivered inadequate numbers of learning hours for the learners to acquire the skills in the first place. However, evidence on why skills retention and loss occur and what can and has been done to reduce it is generally very thin. This is a major gap in the literature on ALN provision and is thus an area in need of attention in future work. In particular, it would be instructive to understand which teaching modes, methods and approaches are more or less effective in enabling adult learners to acquire skills that are retained over time. Exploring the lifecourse trend in skills retention and loss and finding an explanation would provide a useful focus for future research, so that suitable interventions can be designed to redress the decline experienced (by some at least) from the middle ages onwards.

What literacy and numeracy skills are needed?

Introduction

- 14.1 This chapter considers the evidence on ALN skills needs in order to address a series of related questions. Which literacy and numeracy skills are needed to improve workforce productivity and organisational performance? Are these the same skills that adults need to enter employment? What does the available evidence tell us about the literacy and numeracy skills adults need to progress in learning and contribute to society? Are the literacy and numeracy skills employers and individuals say they want the same ones government should invest in? Are some skills more important than others?
- 14.2 The chapter begins by evaluating the evidence base, before discussing the findings under the following headings: the scale of skills needs; assessing skills needs; demand for literacy and numeracy provision; the skills needed for employment and social participation.

Evidence

- 14.3 The evidence base on skills needs is generally robust, and can draw on research conducted in England, Scotland, the USA and Australia. Large-scale surveys of individuals and employers some randomised, scaled up and weighted to reflect all employment sectors in the economy provide the most reliable primary sources for skills needs, supplemented by smaller-scale qualitative research. There is a lack of consensus on the precise literacy and numeracy skills that adults need in many socio-economic contexts, however it is anticipated that the follow-up Skills for Life Survey (report expected in Autumn 2011) and the Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC) will go some way to remedying this.
- 14.4 There plenty of evidence concerning the basic skills employers and individuals currently need for employment. These skills needs are likely to change over time as the nature of work evolves and different occupations and employment sectors respond to changing work practices and technological advances. It should also be noted that skills needs assessments are variable and reporting of employer skills needs generally lacks sophistication.
- 14.5 Less is known about the literacy and numeracy skills adults need for civic engagement and social participation. In addition, it is clear that basic skills are a pre-requisite for progression in learning, but little evidence was found on the particular ALN skills needed to support this progression.
- 14.6 Areas where more evidence is required include the following:

- how to improve measures for assessing the literacy and numeracy skills of adults at different life stages and in different life circumstances and with different skills development needs
- how literacy and numeracy skills relate to other workplace skills (such as a positive approach and personal skills) and how these skills come together to improve productivity and performance in the workplace
- understanding why there is less demand for, and supply of, adult numeracy provision when adult numeracy skills are generally weaker than literacy skills
- how to create demand for learning provision amongst low-skilled adults who perceive that their numeracy and literacy skills need no improvement
- how changing work practices and advances in technology will impact on the literacy and numeracy skills that adults require if they are to sustain and progress in employment and avoid digital exclusion
- how the education and training system can accelerate progress towards improving literacy and numeracy skills for those entering the labour market and those already in it.

Findings

The scale of skills needs

- 14.7 The Moser Report (DfEE, 1999) identified Level 1 literacy and Entry Level 3 numeracy as the standards necessary for adults to function at work and society in general, and recommended that there should be a national survey of literacy and numeracy need in England. The resulting survey, which took place between June 2002 and May 2003 under the auspices of the then Department for Education and Skills (DfES), assessed the literacy and numeracy skills of 8,730 randomly selected adults aged between 16 and 65 over five broad levels of competence (Entry level 1 to Level 2). The survey report (Williams et al., 2003) estimated that 6.8 million adults aged 16-65 in England had numeracy skills below Entry level 3. This compares with 5.2 million adults in England with literacy levels below Level 1.
- 14.8 Thus adult literacy levels in England were found to be higher than numeracy levels: the survey found 53% of respondents achieved a lower level in numeracy than in literacy, while only 10% had a higher numeracy level than literacy level. Moreover, international surveys, such as the OECD's International Adult Literacy Survey (IALS) and the Adult Literacy and Life Skills Survey (ALLS), using similar (but not directly comparable) techniques to the Skills for Life survey, showed that 'while many other countries have a large number of adults with low basic skills, the UK lies in the bottom half of the OECD' (Leitch, 2006: 43).
- 14.9 The previous Government's 2001 Skills for Life strategy set targets to improve the basic skills levels of 2.25 million adults by 2010, with an interim target of 1.5 million adults by 2007. In 2006 Lord Leitch recommended that by 2020, 95% of adults

- should have achieved functional literacy and numeracy (an increase on estimated 85% literacy and 79% numeracy in 2005). The previous Government's 2009 *Skills for Life: changing lives* strategy accepted the Leitch targets and updated the 2001 Skills for Life strategy, and aimed to improve the literacy skills of 597,000 adults and the numeracy skills of 390,000 adults by 2011.
- 14.10 However, in reviewing the Leitch 2020 targets in 2009, the UKCES indicated its belief that the numeracy target would not be met, with an expected outcome of between 88% and 90% of UK adults achieving functional numeracy by 2020 (UKCES, 2009a). Using data that is available on the qualification levels of flows of young people into the labour market and using a comparable methodology to that used by the Leitch Review team, UKCES estimated that the basic skills of the working age population are improving. Since 2005, the proportions of the population with functional literacy skills was estimated by the UKCES to have edged up to just above 86% in 2008 (i.e. just less than 14% had poor literacy skills) and the proportion with functional numeracy skills had increased to 81% (i.e. 19% had poor numeracy skills). However, this incremental improvement between 2005 and 2008 (0.5 percentage points per annum in numeracy and just under 0.6 percentage points per annum for literacy) should be viewed in the context of longer trends showing little change in overall literacy standards since 1948 (Brooks 1998). Thus the need to improve ALN skills levels remains.

Skills needs assessment

- 14.11 Adults' literacy and numeracy skills levels and development needs are identified through a wide range of different assessment processes and instruments, resulting in some researchers calling for improvements in assessment practices and the introduction of standardised tests to provide better benchmark and monitoring data. NRDC research for BIS in 2009 on entry-point levels for Skills for Life learners showed that teachers in England assess the performance of their learners in different ways and at different times, including at entry (skills screening, initial assessment, diagnostic assessment), formative assessments during learning programmes, and summative assessment. Though the previous Government introduced (and made freely available) screening, initial and diagnostic tools based on the national standards, there are many different initial assessment tools are available in paper and online forms. This contrasts with standardised initial assessments carried out in other countries and with standardised summative assessment tests in England, and makes comparative analysis difficult. Instead of measuring numeracy competence through the achievement of approved qualifications, NIACE (2011) recommends that the government adopt 'a revised assessment system to measure the competence of adults using sample surveys focusing on "real-life" numeracy activities' (p. 6) in order to capture adult skills needs at different life stages and in different circumstances. Improved diagnostic and initial assessment would inform improved provision and better outcomes.
- 14.12 Several studies illustrate consequences of not having standardised initial assessment tests. The (former) Adult Learning Inspectorate (2007) criticised the inconsistent results emerging from the 'Fast Track' method often used for assessing offenders' learning needs, and called for more comprehensive initial assessment techniques specifically designed for those who have complex and multiple learning needs. A government review of evidence on skills in the labour

market (DfES/DWP, 2007) identified a need for better diagnostic tools to identify those unemployed or economically inactive people who would benefit from participation in skills training and up-skilling to a level where they can obtain sustainable employment. The National Audit Office (NAO 2004) and the House of Commons Public Accounts Committee (2006) have highlighted the problem of assessing and identifying the literacy and numeracy skills needs of those who are not routinely assessed (e.g. those who do not claim benefits or who are in employment). Such people do not have their needs assessed unless they approach a learning provider and they may not recognise their need for skills improvement.

14.13 A later NAO report (2008b) noted that skills brokers carry out analyses of overall training needs at an organisational level while providers carry out detailed analysis of individual employees' skills needs, and suggested that skills brokers could improve their ability to identify possible Skills for Life needs by focusing more on the needs of employers. When assessing the impact of Train to Gain on workforce skills, Ofsted (2008) found evidence of employers not recognising workforce skills deficits or their implications for productivity. The Public Accounts Committee (2006) also found that employers need help in identifying needs and helping individuals in their workforce to overcome any stigma about needing help with literacy or numeracy.

Demand for literacy and numeracy provision

- 14.14 As the previous discussion shows (and the NAO affirmed in 2008), there remains a greater need to improve adult numeracy than literacy skills because literacy skills are poorer, but the need to improve both persists. Moreover, there is evidence to suggest that both ALN skills exhibit a life course trend (Rashid and Brooks, 2010; Beach 2003), in which there tends to be improvement of skills into early middle age, followed by a plateau in middle age and eventual decline (albeit not necessarily by age 65). Yet this need has not translated into a higher demand for numeracy courses or a greater supply of these courses (Carpentieri et al., 2009). For example, follow-up research on those who contacted a helpline set up as part of the Gremlins publicity campaign found that about half of those who called did not take action to improve their skills, and in particular that those aged over 55 were less likely than younger adults to see the Gremlins campaign as being relevant to them (PAC, 2006). St Clair et al. (2010) found that actual ALN skills needs in Scotland are associated with age, but also that in reading and writing men more often describe their skills as moderate or poor compared to women (the difference between genders is far less for numeracy). People in more routine jobs were less satisfied with their literacy skills whatever their level of actual skills, suggesting that perceptions of skills improvement need also varies by occupation.
- 14.15 Thus demand for ALN skills improvement is shaped by measurable differences in actual skills levels for adult numeracy and literacy, but also by adults' perceptions of their actual skills levels and development needs at different ages. Yet overall, adults today need stronger basic skills than adults of the same age in the past in order to sustain employment, progress in learning and participate in society, even if some are not yet aware of this need. As Lord Leitch (2006; 33) observed: 'Skills that were once seen as high level are increasingly seen as basic skills'. However,

as St Clair et al. (2010: 36) and others (including Sticht 2005) also point out, adults' continuing satisfaction with their literacy and numeracy skills

- ... creates an interesting issue in the provision of support if people are happy with their skills level upgrading may not be a priority even if there are objective reasons to think it might be helpful.
- 14.16 In the 2003 Skills for Life survey, respondents with poor numeracy tended to rate their skills much higher than their tested competence (Carpentieri et al. 2009), and this gap between perceived and assessed skills was larger for numeracy than literacy (Bynner and Parsons 2006). Generally adults were more likely to overestimate than underestimate their ability: 41% of those with Entry level skills in literacy said they were 'very good' at reading, and women and older respondents were more likely to overestimate in this way. Respondents were less confident about their numeracy than their literacy, but the majority still felt their skills were either very good (49%) or fairly good (43%) (Williams et al. 2003). Yet when respondents were asked about their competence in specific mathematical operations rather than numeracy in the abstract, they exhibited less confidence. NRDC (2009b) notes that individuals assess their own skills in terms of what they need in everyday life (Baxter et al. 2006); with regard to numeracy, this is something Coben (2003) theorises as 'invisible maths' (i.e. maths that people do but regard as common sense rather than maths). The need for numeracy skills improvement is thus sometimes perceived by individuals to be less important than reading and writing (Cobden et al. 2007b), and can be compensated for by the use of calculators and computers; socially, poor numeracy is less stigmatised than weak literacy (DfEE, 1999).
- 14.17 NRDC research (e.g. Swain et al., 2005, cited in NRDC 2009b) suggests that people seldom join numeracy classes because they feel they are lacking numeracy skills for work or in their everyday lives. Scottish research (Coben 2005) identifies other factors, such as peer pressure, changed personal or employment circumstances, and needing numeracy skills for a particular purpose (such as passing a driving test, or moving into independent accommodation) as more important factors. O'Grady and Atkin (2006) found that learners attending literacy or numeracy courses voluntarily tend to do so because of some critical life event, such as marital breakdown, or children starting school or leaving home. Prisoners who attend classes voluntarily do so in order to be able to communicate with their families by writing letters, or to use the time to make up for previous educational failure. These findings highlight the importance of the context of motivation (for more on this see Chapter 9) where the drive to learn is not the learning experience itself but the need to effect some form of change.

What literacy and numeracy skills do adults actually need?

... to secure and sustain employment

14.18 The UKCES (2009: 9-10c) defines 'employability skills' as 'the skills that must be present to enable an individual to use the more specific knowledge and technical skills that their particular workplaces will require'. Drawing on an international review covering twenty years of research, the authors conclude that although there is little agreement about what employability skills comprise, the ability to use

- number, language and technology are central to most definitions of the functional skills required for employment:
- using numbers effectively: measuring, recording measurements, calculating, estimating quantities, relating numbers to the job
- using language effectively: writing clearly and in a way appropriate to the context, ordering facts and concepts logically
- using IT effectively: operating a computer, both using basic systems and also learning other applications as necessary, and using telephones and other technology to communicate.
- 14.19 According to the UKCES scheme, these functional skills are supported by 'a foundation of Positive Approach' (i.e. being ready to participate, make suggestions, accept new ideas and constructive criticism, and take responsibility for outcomes) and are exercised in the context of four personal skills (self management, thinking and solving problems, working together and communicating, and understanding the business).
- 14.20 Given that 'employability skills' include personal attitudes and personal skills as well as functional skills covering literacy, numeracy and ICT, there is some debate over the relative importance of literacy and numeracy *vis a vis* these other attributes for employment. Hull (1997) challenges the idea of a basic skills crisis on the grounds that literacy and numeracy are somewhat less important to employers than these other skills, a view supported by some employer survey results (e.g. Atkinson and Williams, 2003; Bracey, 2006; Condelli, 2010) in which employers rate personal skills such punctuality and reliability as of greater importance than literacy and numeracy. Yet doubts remain over whether employers are sufficiently aware of the literacy and numeracy skills levels their employees possess to be able to judge that it is these skills, rather than employees' personal attitudes and skills or their technical competence, which require further development (NRDC 2009b).
- 14.21 Nevertheless, the literature does suggest that weak literacy and numeracy skills limit adults' ability to secure and sustain employment. In England, a recent review of skills in the labour market (DfES/DWP, 2007) found that almost one quarter (23%) of repeat Job Seekers Allowance (JSA) claimants had no qualifications and 17% reported literacy or numeracy problems, and that the basic skills screening used in Job Centres identified 14% of JSA claimants with a basic skills need. The 2003 Skills for Life survey asked respondents to judge their own abilities in reading and writing English and maths 'in everyday life'. Half of those who assessed themselves as having 'below average' or 'poor' skills (4% of the sample) felt it had affected their job prospects. Respondents were slightly more likely (7% of the sample) to report that their writing was below average or poor, and a similar proportion (8%) felt their maths was below average or poor, but these people very rarely felt that this had an impact on their job prospects. The authors of the report speculate that people who assess themselves as having below average or poor skills tend to take jobs that require low basic skills only and develop coping strategies; they may not realise the impact that their low skills are having on their employment options (Williams et al., 2003). Thus whilst it is recognised that literacy

and numeracy skills are needed for employment, individuals and employers remain unclear about how important these skills are relative to other personal and technical skills for entering and sustaining employment.

... to improve productivity

- 14.22 The literacy and numeracy skills employers require of their workforce have been the subject of a number of surveys of employer perceptions of workforce skills. It is important to emphasise that the results reflect the views of employers, rather than what employees themselves think about the literacy and numeracy skills they need to be productive. Brooks et al. (2001b) summarised the results of surveys collecting employer perceptions of employees basic skills needs in the workplace during the 1990s, including the following:
- A large-scale study Atkinson and Silsbury (1993) conducted in 1991-1992 in England and Wales covering 1.3 million jobs in 24,000 establishments, found 10% of respondent employers regarded their employees' basic skills to be 'just adequate or worse' (particularly for low skilled workers), and nearly one in four reported that job applicants' basic skills were 'just adequate or worse' (across all occupations).
- A large-scale survey conducted by Gallup for the ALBSU in 1992 (ALBSU, 1993), involving telephone interviews with 400 personnel/training managers in firms with 51 or more employees, using a randomly selected sample grossed up and weighted to be representative for the UK, found employers perceived one in seven manual workers had difficulties with reading, one in six difficulties with verbal communication, one in five difficulties with numeracy, and more than one in four with poor writing skills.
- In 1993 Frank and Hamilton (1993) surveyed 73 companies in the north-west of England, and found that the vast majority of respondents recognised the need for reading, writing and mathematical skills in all but a small percentage of manual jobs, yet most (61%) did not see there is a need for basic skills training for their workforce.
- 14.23 In addition, the large-scale Skills Needs in Britain surveys conducted during the 1990s asked employers with more than 25 employees whether they believed a significant gap existed between the skills that their current employees had those needed to meet their business objectives. The National Skills Task Force (1997) used the results to argue that significant numbers of employers thought their employees lacked basic literacy and numeracy skills. However Robertson (1997) has challenged this conclusion. By averaging the findings from surveys conducted in 1994, 1995 and 1996, he showed that only 4% of respondent employers felt that their business objectives were impeded in this way, although 11% did express concern about employees' 'general communication skills', a finding Brooks (2001b) suggests could be taken as evidence of a larger employer concern over oracy in the workplace.
- 14.24 More recently, employer surveys conducted by the Confederation of British Industry (CBI, 2008, 2009, 2010) have continued to report employer concerns about basic skills weaknesses amongst their employees. The findings are based on large-scale

surveys of CBI members at senior executive level (735 employers in 2008, 581 in 2009, 694 in 2010) with results weighted to reflect all employment sectors. The CBI has used the survey results to argue that many employers are concerned about poor basic skills which affect their employees' ability to perform everyday tasks, including being able to draw out information from basic texts and compose coherent written communications, and the ability to work through basic arithmetic and percentage problems, such as calculating change or working out the reduced price of an item on sale. In 2008 over one third of employers were reported to have expressed concern about their employees' basic literacy and numeracy skills: 41% were concerned about literacy skills and 39% about numeracy skills. For employers expressing concern, the quality of written English (in particular constructing properly spelt sentences with accurate grammar) was the major literacy concern (72%), whilst for numeracy, spotting errors and rogue numbers was the main shortcoming (68%). Similar results were found in 2009, when 40% of employers were reported to have experienced problems with the basic numeracy and literacy of their workforce, particularly amongst employers in the retail and manufacturing and more so for literacy than numeracy. By 2010 employers expressed greater concern about employee literacy (52% of employers) and numeracy (49%), particularly in larger organisations employing over 5,000 people (77% and 69% respectively).

- 14.25 A note of caution should be sounded regarding these results. The annual CBI education and skills surveys offer employers limited options for reporting their basic skills concerns, and different levels of employer concern are conflated in the reports. For example, the 2009 survey offered employers only three valid responses to the question 'Do you have literacy, numeracy or IT skills problems in your current workforce?' (no / yes, to some extent / yes, to a significant extent), and results for both positive responses are conflated in the finding that 'forty percent of employers report problems with basic literacy and numeracy of their workforce'. It is worth noting that most employers (60%) said they experienced no such problems, and that an indeterminate number who did report literacy and numeracy problems regarded them to be insignificant.
- 14.26 There is little direct evidence demonstrating the contribution basic literacy and numeracy skills make to productivity, either in isolation or in combination with personal and technical skills. Employers responding to the CBI surveys routinely express concern about the impact of poor basic skills on business performance: in 2008, for example, 40% of respondents reported poor customer service and 34% lower productivity, and these were linked to basic literacy and numeracy skills deficiencies. Results from the earlier 1993 survey of employers by Gallup for ALBSU showed that employers thought problems with basic skills impact on how well employees undertook their duties at all levels. Around a quarter of respondent employers reported that that basic skills problems affected all blue-collar workers, and even for managerial/professional staff the proportion was as high as 14% of employers. Almost two-fifths (39%) of employers felt the need to offer basic skills training because their employees were considered to have inadequate skills for the job, in oral communication skills (71%), numeracy (61%), writing (56%) and reading (41%). Training offered by small employers (with five or more employees) reported in the 2001 Learning and Training at Work survey was concentrated in IT (40% of

- employers) and working with others (37%), with only 11% offering basic numeracy learning and 10% basic literacy training.
- 14.27 These findings indicate the sorts of basic literacy and numeracy skills employers say want their employees to have, and some are prepared to invest in providing. However employers tend to group basic literacy and numeracy skills with other functional and personal skills (oracy, ICT, working together) in their perceptions of employees non-technical or job-specific skills needs, making it difficult to isolate basic literacy and numeracy skills and apportion their contribution to productivity.

... to respond to changing work practices

- 14.28 Changing work practices and more fluid organisational structures and flattened hierarchies place greater demands on employees and require higher skills levels overall (Moore and Benseman, 2003). In the 2008 Scotland Employer Skills Survey (Futureskills Scotland, 2008), one in five Scottish workplaces reported a skills gap with around 8% of all employees considered not proficient in their jobs. The identified skills gaps were partly attributed to changes in the workplace, including new technologies, products and services. Around one fifth of these Scottish employers reported that their employees lacked literacy (21%) and numeracy (20%) skills, yet higher proportions cited problems with oral communication (44%) and written communication (33%) (Carpentieri and Vorhaus, 2010). The implication of this is that employers regard adult basic skills as being increasingly important, but not in isolation.
- 14.29 Although not new, these changes are wide ranging. Three quarters of respondent employers reported by Frank and Hamilton (1993) highlighted an increase in the need for basic skills in manual jobs over the previous five years, and Atkinson and Spilsbury (1993) found that nearly half of employers in their sample reported the increasing importance of oral communication skills and also basic skills related for working with ICT (Brooks et al. 2001b). In a more recent study of technomathematical literacies in the workplace, Hoyles et al. (2010) found that employees working at intermediate skill levels across a range of industry sectors now require a more complex combination of skills (mathematical, ICT and workplace-specific) than they did in the past, and more complex skills than those taught as part of employee training. Research by Bynner at al. (2008a) looking at ICT, literacy and numeracy skills in employment found that individuals in the UK and the US struggling in any one of these areas are likely to suffer losses in the other two areas (Carpentieri and Vorhaus 2010). In 2006, Lord Leitch (2006: 33) observed the rapid expansion in the need for IT skills across all occupations and sectors:

This rise has not been concentrated in traditionally high skilled jobs. Even in those occupations traditionally thought of as low skilled there has been dramatic growth in the use of IT. These changes mean that even traditionally low skilled jobs are requiring an increased level of skill – these jobs are not immune from the rising demand for skills seen elsewhere.

14.30 The need for new basic skills for computer and internet use is worthy of particular attention and further research, given the remarkable expansion of general access to ICT over the past decade. The ONS Living Costs and Food Survey shows that by 2009, 71% of UK households had an internet connection, up from 20% in 2000.

Young teenagers today have an average of six media devices in their bedrooms, and use of social media is fairly universal among young adults and expanding rapidly among older adults (ALT, 2010). The evidence on technology for learning ALT assembled for BIS in 2010 also shows that young people and adults are strongly influenced by their experience of learning with technology at school 'where there are only a few embryonic signs of criticality, self-management and metacognitive reflection'.4

14.31 This suggests many adults will need continuing skills development throughout adulthood if they are to develop and maintain current ICT literacy skills levels. Warschauer and Liaw (2010) identify these new skills in the following terms: multimodal communication, collaborative writing, language analysis and structure, online networking, and one-to-one mobile computing. Increasingly, adults will require additional skills such as these in order to engage with online learning platforms for improving traditional literacy and numeracy skills as well as other forms of learning, and for accessing public and private digital information. Potentially, this additional skills requirement may present a barrier to adult learners already struggling with more traditional literacy and numeracy skills.

... to participate in society

- 14.32 Alongside the impact of literacy and numeracy skills on economic participation through employment and productivity, the broader contribution basic skills make to social participation and social capital is beginning to be recognised. For example, skills such as 'oral communication' are being positioned alongside 'working with others' and 'continuous learning' in social capital frameworks, and the OECD's key competencies include social/soft skills such as the ability to relate well to others, the ability to cooperate and the ability to manage and resolve conflicts, for which communication skills are an essential requirement (Centre for Literacy, 2010). Less theoretically, basic skills have also been shown to provide practical support for people at risk of (continuing) social exclusion. Basic skills enable homeless people to live independently, using numeracy skills for money management and communication skills for dealing with agencies, and to participate in and benefit from social networks and professional services (Crisis, 2006). Basic skills have also been shown to help to help prisoners complete their offending behaviour programmes and to communicate with their families by writing letters (O'Grady and Atkin 2006).
- 14.33 The 2003 Skills for Life survey included evidence showing how basic skills are used in every day life by people operating at different skills levels. The results demonstrate that adults with lower levels of literacy and numeracy were less likely to be confident in helping their children with reading, writing and maths (Williams et al. 2003), thereby potentially creating wider impacts on the next generation of young learners.

⁴ 'Web 2.0 technologies for learning at KS3 and KS4: learners' use of Web 2.0 technologies in and out of school' (Becta, June 2008), cited in ALT (2010)

Helping children with reading, writing and maths: Skills for Life survey 2003

Reading

There were no differences in help given between parents from Entry level 3 to Level 2 or above, as 95% or more of these parents helped their children. Only lower levels of literacy seemed to deter parents from helping. However, there were differences in terms of how confident they felt in giving the help, with parents feeling more confident the higher their literacy level, and a particular jump in confidence between Entry level 2 or below (26% helped and were very confident) and Entry level 3 (59% helped and were very confident). Nevertheless, even at Entry level 2 or below, the majority of parents (56%) felt at least fairly confident in helping their child with reading.

Writing

The majority of parents also said they helped their children with writing. However, help was less likely to be given with writing than with reading, especially among those with lower literacy levels. Indeed, only one in two parents (48%) classified at Entry level 2 or below helped their children with writing, compared with 63% giving help with reading. Furthermore, whereas there had been no difference in the provision of reading help among parents from Entry level 3 to Level 2 or above, slight differences could be seen for writing, with the proportion of parents giving help increasing from 89% at Entry level 3 to 95% at Level 2 or above.

Maths

Although parents tended to be more confident helping with reading and writing than with maths, at the lower achievement levels, a slightly greater proportion of parents gave help with maths (55% of those with Entry 1 or lower level numeracy skills) than in writing (48% at Entry 2 or lower level literacy skills).

Source: Williams et al. (2003)

14.34 In order to capture some of these everyday skills applications, the NIACE Inquiry on Adult Numeracy Learning has called for a new approach to understanding adult numeracy, one that focuses less on improving skills levels and procedural skills and more on developing thinking, understanding and behaviour in relation to mathematics. It is argued that broader definition of numeracy is needed to emphasise its contribution towards 'a stronger and more equitable society and economy', and a change in how numeracy competence is measured to focus on 'real life' numeracy activities rather than the achievement of approved qualifications (NIACE, 2011).

Conclusion

- 14.35 The preceding discussion has revealed a lack of consensus over which ALN skills are needed, or the importance of ALN alongside other personal and technical skills. Perceptions of skills needs vary by perspective (e.g. overarching framework versus workplace establishment); purpose (e.g. for employment versus social participation); learner type (e.g. those with profound and complex learning needs versus technical or managerial ability); service provider (e.g. offender services versus Job Centres); skill types (e.g. traditional literacy and numeracy versus emerging technological literacies), and; who needs the skill (employer or individual). There is little evidence explicitly linking the assessment of skills needs to the design and delivery of effective, efficient and economical provision leading to demonstrably cost-effective outcomes, such as improved employment, productivity, civic participation or learning progression.
- 14.36 Weighing up the balance of evidence leads to the following conclusions:
- Employability skills include using numbers, language and ICT effectively. The utility
 of these functional skills is related to a positive approach to participation, new ideas
 and constructive criticism, and to personal skills such as self management, thinking
 skills and working together. What remains to be understood is the relative priority of
 literacy and numeracy within the set of employability skills, and the conditions under
 which combinations of these skills are most effective.
- Employers frequently cite the need for (improved) reading, writing and maths skills
 in the workplace, and report a significant gap between the skills levels of employees
 and skills needs in the workplace. However, there is much less evidence on
 employees' perceptions, and there is scope for the use of more refined assessment
 instruments to determine the literacy and numeracy skills that employers say their
 employees need.
- There is growing evidence of the need amongst employees for a more complex combination of skills than in the past, including mathematical, ICT and workplacespecific skills. New skills may include multimodal communication, collaborate writing, online networking and one to one mobile computing.
- Skill levels are related: individuals in employment who struggle with skills in ICT, literacy or numeracy are likely to suffer losses in the other two areas.
- 14.37 At the same time, some skills needs are clear and uncontested. The lives of adults at or below Level 2 in literacy and numeracy are far more likely to be characterised by disadvantage, including poor family circumstances, limited educational achievement and low aspirations. Evidence repeatedly shows the increase in options and opportunities that go along with a relatively basic competence in literacy and numeracy, particularly once adults get over the threshold of Entry Level 2 (see, for example Parsons and Bynner 2007). There is increasing evidence of the contribution of ICT skills to literacy and numeracy demands in social and employment contexts, including in particular a combination of ICT and mathematical literacies in the workplace. And the growing range of demands and contexts for reading and writing, and for using and manipulating numeric data, is further evidence in favour of a focus on functional skills.

- 14.38 Whilst there is considerable potential to improve the reliability and sensitivity of instruments for assessing skills levels, there is extensive experience to be drawn upon from previous national UK studies, including the Skills for Life Survey, the NRDC Effective Practice Studies and the Learner Study. The most sophisticated set of instruments for assessing adult competencies are included in the Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC), designed to gather data on literacy, numeracy, ICT and other cognitive and workplace skills. PIAAC includes an emphasis (also recommended by NIACE) on the assessment of 'real life activities' and will include information from respondents about the use of work skills in their jobs. The UK is participating in PIAAC and is in a strong position to learn about the design, use and effectiveness of the assessments.
- 14.39 The evidence suggests there is room for improvement in how adult's skills are assessed and development needs identified to ensure they receive the most effective provision and (where appropriate) employer support leading to the best outcomes.

Conclusion

Introduction

- 15.1 This review has sought to assess the quality of the evidence on ALN and to identify the most effective and promising provision. Chapter 15 draws together the main messages under the six themes relating to ALN provision, identifies where the evidence is robust, promising, or weak, and presents conclusions and recommendations for policy, practice and research.
- 15.2 When reading this chapter it is necessary to keep in mind the context prior to the launch of the Skills for Life Strategy in 2001. Very few teachers were trained or possessed subject specific teaching qualifications, and there were no national qualifications or standards. The field was under-researched: the first systematic research programme in the UK was not set up until 2002. It is only very recently, then, that there has been a systematic, nationally funded attempt to professionalise practice and provide robust evidence on ALN.
- 15.3 Wherever possible we indicate the scale of investment and inputs, on the one hand, and the range of related ALN activities and outputs on the other. However the evidence base as a whole is uneven: there are many significant gaps and there are very few robust cost benefit analyses. Therefore, whilst cost-benefit commentary is provided where the supporting evidence allows, one message to emerge from this review is the need for more systematic data.

Overarching conclusions

- 15.4 Continuing investment in improving ALN skills is required, based on stronger evidence of which skills are required than currently exists. The forthcoming results from the Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competences (PIAAC) will provide an indication of the UK's progress relative to international comparators, and suggest where investment should be focused.
- 15.5 There is little evidence explicitly linking the assessment of skills needs to the design and delivery of effective, efficient and economical provision leading to demonstrably cost-effective outcomes, such as improved employment, productivity, civic participation or learning progression.
- 15.6 No cost-benefit analyses of literacy and numeracy programmes have been carried out that would enable identification of the most efficient modes and models for delivering literacy and numeracy provision.
- 15.7 There has been relatively little funded work on the development of software and new e-learning techniques for adults in this field. Robust trials are required to clarify which are the effective practices in using technology for different groups of learners, and for different types of learning outcome.

15.8 There remains a need to establish, on the basis of rigorous cost-benefit analyses, the costs and benefits to employers of lower and higher levels of literacy and numeracy, considered separately, and in respect of small, medium and large employers in different sectors.

Assessing the evidence

- The last comprehensive review of ALN in the UK was published in 2001 Brooks, G. et al, Assembling the Fragments. More recently NFER conducted six reviews of the international evidence on a range of themes related to adult basic skills (CfBT 2010). The evidence base now includes the 2003 Skills for Life survey, on ALN levels and needs, with the results of a follow up survey expected shortly; national evaluations of the impact of Skills for Life on learners and teachers; longitudinal studies on the impact of ALN in the workplace and in FE; studies of relationships between teaching practices and learners progress in reading, writing and numeracy; studies on specific groups such as those perceived to be 'hard to reach' and learners with learning difficulties, and studies in particular contexts, including prisons and local communities. There is also an increasing body of international evidence, in particular from the US, New Zealand and Australia.
- 15.10 The volume and quality of ALN evidence has greatly increased over the last 10 years, and there are significant areas in which the evidence base is robust and good practice well established. However, there remain many areas on which the evidence is either weak or non-existent, including those in which some of the most promising and innovating developments can be found.

The evidence base

There is strong evidence on the following features of ALN:

- good practice in teaching literacy and numeracy
- the benefits of embedding ALN in vocational programmes
- the positive impact on learners of working with qualified teachers
- the personal and social impact of ALN
- the need for multiple ways of engaging in learning in class, self study, distance learning, ICT supported learning.

There is promising evidence in relation to the following features of ALN:

- blended learning combining face to face and technology based, formal and self-study methods
- the significance of techno-mathematical literacies a combination of ICT,

literacy and numeracy skills

 the time required to make significant learning progress – often in excess of 100 hours.

Economic, social and personal outcomes

15.11 Compared to the literature on wage returns, the literature on employment returns is less well developed. Although there is good evidence on the economic returns to attaining basic skills in adulthood, there is a lack of evidence on whether and how far formal ALN provision contributes to these returns, and on whether ALN qualifications are related to economic benefits. There remains a need to establish, on the basis of rigorous cost-benefit analyses, the costs and benefits to employers of lower and higher levels of literacy and numeracy, considered separately, and in respect of small, medium and large scale employers. Whilst there is evidence of the impact of adult learning on such non-economic outcomes as health, social tolerance and crime, there is no reliable data specific to ALN.

Quality and effectiveness of provision

15.12 Studies of the relationship between teaching practice and progress in literacy and numeracy are often too short for evidence of substantial progress to emerge. Where the time between pre- and post- tests is short, current assessments may be insufficiently sensitive to measure small gains. This review found no evaluations of the cost-effectiveness of measures taken to professionalise the basic skills workforce. No cost-benefit analyses of literacy and numeracy programmes have been carried out that would enable the Department to identify the most efficient modes and models for delivering literacy and numeracy provision. There are few rigorous evaluations of the impact of using learning technology to support the delivery of literacy and numeracy, whether in Further Education, workplaces or other learning contexts. There has been relatively little funded work on the development of software and new e-learning techniques for adults in this field.

Number of learning hours

15.13 Data on learning aims collected as part of the LSC's ILR can be used to calculate the relationship between learning hours and achievement in terms of qualification gain but not in terms of actual skills gain. For the most part, measures of time spent in formal learning calculate the number of contact hours between learner and teacher and not the class time spent engaged in specific areas of learning. There is very little evidence on the own-time learning that adults engage in, either while on a literacy or numeracy course or when not taking courses. No UK research on learner progress makes substantial use of data on self-study so there is even less evidence on how own-time learning impacts on progress and achievement. There is no substantive research on how technology can be used to support self-study in literacy and numeracy. There is also a lack of evidence on the relationship between learning hours and numeracy skills gain.

Persistence

15.14 In the UK, no large-scale research project has followed the learning journeys of adults who leave literacy and numeracy provision. Most of the evidence on learner persistence comes from the US, and there are limits to its application in UK contexts. Provider strategies to encourage learner persistence have been identified and trialled, but these have not been rolled out on a large scale and they have not been systematically evaluated.

Skills retention and loss

15.15 Evidence is required on the extent to which gaining a literacy or numeracy qualification represents a gain in competence. Evidence is also required on the extent to which the competences gained as a result of participation in literacy or numeracy programmes are retained and developed. There is no evidence on the practices that adults engage in – in formal, informal or own-time learning, at work, or in their everyday lives – that can help them to retain or improve the literacy or numeracy skills they have gained.

Literacy and numeracy skills needs

- 15.16 There remains a lack of consensus on the precise literacy and numeracy skills that adults actually need in many socio-economic contexts, although the Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competences (PIAAC), and the current survey of ALN in England, will go some way to remedying this. Additional evidence gaps include:
- how measures for assessing the literacy and numeracy skills of adults in different life stages and circumstances and with different skills development needs can be improved
- how literacy and numeracy skills are related to personal skills, and to a positive approach to participation, problem solving and communication, so as jointly to function most effectively in the workplace
- why there is less demand from individuals for and supply of adult numeracy provision when adult numeracy skills are weaker than literacy skills
- how the profile of skills needs and levels varies by type and scale of workplace and employer
- how to create demand for learning provision amongst adults who perceive that their numeracy and literacy skills need no improvement
- the implications of changing work practices and advances in technology for new literacy and numeracy skills, if adults are to sustain employment and avoid digital exclusion
- how the education and training system can accelerate progress towards improving literacy and numeracy skills for those entering the labour market and those already in it.

Recommendations

15.17 In this section we make recommendations for provision/policy and for research in relation to each of the six themes covered in this review.

Economic, social and personal outcomes

Recommendations for provision/policy

15.18 Recent attempts to identify and measure the social returns to learning, including the Social Return on Investment (SROI) approach, should be further developed and refined specifically in relation to ALN. There is scope to improve the recording of personal and social returns, in contexts including not only FE but also the workplace, the secure estate, family literacy and numeracy, and adult and community learning. Providers should be encouraged to recognise a multiplicity of outcomes, including those that support adults in their role as parents, citizens and employees.

Recommendations for research

- 15.19 ALN has a significant socio-economic impact, including the skills gained in adulthood. At the same time too little is known about the impact of ALN interventions. Given the significance of ALN especially in the UK by comparison with many other European countries there is a need to identify the factors and processes that explain its impact and in particular the extent to which high quality interventions can make a difference to learners' socio-economic prospects.
- 15.20 There is substantial evidence on the impact of ALLN on personal, attitudinal and social outcomes. These are not only valuable in their own right, they often play a significant role in contributing to further economic and social outcomes. The significance of these outcomes needs to be better understood, using instruments better equipped for this task than many of those used in the past.
- 15.21 Further research is required to establish whether participation in ALN is associated with improvements in the skills and attitudes that serve as a foundation for improved socio-economic outcomes including, for example, positive changes in self-esteem and a commitment to education and training.
- 15.22 With the addition of supplementary questions on ALN, the British birth cohort studies represent data sources of great potential; in particular, to explore the relationships between one or more socio-economic outcomes and ALN, and the role of adult basic skills in the processes and dynamics that help to shape adult trajectories and life chances.

Quality and effectiveness of provision

Recommendations for provision/policy

15.23 The sector should continue to work towards achieving a fully-qualified workforce, and in particular to increasing the number of qualified numeracy teachers. Research evidence on what works in literacy and numeracy pedagogy should continue to be disseminated throughout the sector, and incorporated into curricula and formative assessment. Embedded provision should be promoted and treated as a standard option and not as an exception for Level 1 and 2 vocational courses. Evidence on blended learning programmes is sufficiently promising to support the development of programmes for employees in the workplace and other contexts. A broad range of motivational factors should be catered for in the context of strategies for learner engagement, persistence and achievement.

Recommendations for research

15.24 Regular data should continue to be gathered on the characteristics of the adult basic skills workforce, including data on employment type and qualifications status. Robust trials are required to identify effective practices in using technology for different groups of learners, and for different types of learning outcome. Given the need for provision that is cost-effective, and that also provides adults with multiple ways of engaging in learning in any one programme, it should be a priority to conduct a robust evaluation of the impact and effectiveness of blended learning programmes.

Number of learning hours

Recommendations for provision/policy

15.25 If learners are to increase time spent on task by engaging in self-study, thereby increasing their potential to make progress, programmes must adapt to allow for and support this self-study. Consideration should therefore be given as to how this self-study is measured and credited. Adult learners will require teacher support if own-time learning is to be effective; consideration should be given to what level of support can be provided by a workforce that is largely employed on a part-time basis. Learners need more time and varied opportunities to learn than many formal programmes allow, including programmes in FE and the workplace. The length of workplace interventions in particular is often less than is necessary to promote significant and sustained learning progress.

Recommendations for research

15.26 Research is needed to establish the amount of self-study and own-time learning adults would be willing or able to engage in. Many adults already face significant barriers in finding the time to attend classes given family and work commitments. A longitudinal study of adult learners could be used to capture data on the literacy and numeracy self-study practices of those in learning and out of learning; consideration needs to be given to how data on self-study are reported and measured.

Persistence

Recommendations for provision/policy

15.27 Persistence could be better supported if funding mechanisms recognised programmes that included distance, self- and ICT-supported learning.

Recommendations for research

15.28 A longitudinal study represents the best opportunity to identify and analyse data on the learning journeys of adult basic skills learners, including time spent on learning and learning related tasks outside a formal learning environment.

Skills retention and loss

Recommendations for provision/policy

15.29 Inspections and programme evaluations should include attempts to assess whether and how far learners retain skills over time, and how far qualifications are geared towards promoting underpinning literacy and numeracy skills.

Recommendations for research

15.30 It should be a priority to gather longitudinal evidence on skills retention and loss over time.

Literacy and numeracy skills needs

Recommendations for provision/policy

15.31 Despite years of investment, UK ALN skills are still falling behind those of many of our competitor nations. Continuing investment is required, based on stronger evidence of which skills are required than currently exists. The forthcoming results from PIAAC will provide an indication of the UK's progress relative to international comparators, and will suggest where investment should be focused.

Recommendations for research

15.32 Develop assessment instruments to measure the literacy and numeracy skills of adults in different life stages and circumstances. Identify how literacy and numeracy skills are related to positive dispositions and personal skills, and how these collectively function most effectively in the workplace. Identify and support the new techno-mathematical literacies required by changing work practices and advances in technology.

Future research priorities

15.33 Whilst the evidence base has greatly expanded and increased in quality over the last 10 years, there remain critical areas in which there is too little evidence on which to support firm recommendations for provision and policy. In this final section we recommend a research strategy that is best designed to overcome this, building on lessons learned from the most significant research studies on ALN. The strategy includes the need for well designed and high quality studies, focussed on high quality interventions, using both large scale and small scale research designs.

The need for high quality studies

- 15.34 The frequent lack of robust evidence is explained by the prevalence of inadequately designed studies and poor quality interventions. We need a higher incidence of high quality interventions and large, well designed and more sophisticated studies. These studies should allow for the time and complex causality that connects learning interventions to their outcomes. They are expensive but they provide a pay off with a large body of reliable evidence that can be used as a solid basis for policy, development and further research.
- 15.35 A priority for any future large scale research project is that it includes quality controls, particularly as these apply to teachers and teaching strategies. Past evaluations yielding negative conclusions often included very short interventions and teachers who lacked subject specific teaching qualifications.
- 15.36 Any single well designed study on a large scale should be focussed on one context within the learning and skills sector. Since the quality of ALN teaching in FE is generally higher than it is in many other post 19 contexts we recommend that, if there were scope for just one future large scale longitudinal or experimental research project, then it should be exclusively focussed on the FE sector (though, clearly, all post 19 contexts would benefit from studies of this kind.)
- 15.37 Evidence on skills and needs often relies on self report. There is a priority for research that includes both subjective and objective measures, in order robustly to identify the literacy and numeracy skills that learners actually use and need.
- 15.38 It is cost effective to exploit and build on existing data sources, including PIAAC, and, particularly with the inclusion of additional ALN questions, the British birth cohort studies.

A research strategy: large- and small-scale studies

- 15.39 With limited resources and time constraints we recommend a research strategy that includes both large- and small-scale studies. Post-19 contexts present significant challenges in the way of conducting robust large-scale research; longitudinal research has at least as much potential as any other research design for yielding a reliable and extensive body of evidence.
- 15.40 To improve the evidence base on whether ALN provision produces socio-economic and educational returns it is recommended that lessons are learned from the LSAL study in the US. This is a well designed longitudinal study, with a large and representative sample of the target population, repeatedly followed up over nine years, using measures not only for reading, writing and maths, but also a broad range of learning related activities and practices. By the penultimate stage of data collection about 90% of the original sample had been retained.
- 15.41 An alternative to a longitudinal study is a randomised control trial, involving disadvantaged low skill adults, and randomly allocating them to a high quality literacy or numeracy intervention.

- 15.42 Along with one or more large scale studies we recommend studies on a smaller scale. One strategy is to focus on a development programme of the best pedagogies and delivery methods (combining face-to-face and technology-based, formal and self-study methods), and to carry out small-scale but intensive case studies to follow individuals from pre-test to intervention, to assessment, to application in the home and workplace. Individual longitudinal case studies make it possible to explain the (un)successful features of interventions, in terms of the personal and local conditions experienced by the individual learners. Once these conditions are properly understood it is possible to mount a larger scale study under controlled conditions.
- 15.43 There is also a need for further research into the effectiveness of one or more promising aspects of literary and numeracy teaching strategies. Robust trials are required to identify which technologies work most effectively in specific learning contexts, and which groups of learners are likely to benefit most. These could build on small and innovative studies that have already been completed.

Annex A: Bibliography

Abramovsky, L., Battistin, E., Fitzsimons, E., Goodman, A. and Simpson, H. (2005) The Impact of the Employer Training Pilots on the Take-up of Training Among Employers and Employees. Research Report RR694. London: Department for Education and Skills.

Adams, M., Brooks, G., Kings, P. and Creese, B. (2010) Time to Progress within Skills for Life. An analysis for LSIS. Np: np.

Adult Learning Inspectorate (2007) Basic Skills for offenders in the community. ALI: London.

Adult Literacy and Basic Skills Unit (1993) The Cost to Industry: Basic Skills and the UK Workforce. London: Adult Literacy and Basic Skills Unit.

Ahlstrand, A.L., Bassi, L.J., and Mcmurrer, D.P. (2003) Workplace education for low-wage workers. Kalamazoo MI: W E Upjohn Institute for Employment Research.

Alamprese, J.A. (2001) Family Independence Initiative (FII): Lessons learned about developing and delivering family literacy services to welfare recipients. Louisville, KY: National Center for Family Literacy.

Aldridge, F. and Tuckett, A. (2002) Two Steps Forward, One Step Back: The NIACE Survey on Adult Participation in Learning, 2002. Leicester: NIACE.

Aldridge, F. and Tuckett, A. (2008) Counting the Cost: The NIACE Survey on Adult Participation in Learning. Leicester: NIACE.

Allen, M. (2003) Eight questions on teacher preparation: what does the research say? Denver: Education Commission of the States.

Allison, J., Gorringe, S. and Lacey, J. (2006). Building learning communities: partnerships, social capital and VET performance. Adelaide: National Centre for Vocational Education Research.

Ananiadou, K., Jenkins, A., and Wolf, A. (2003) The benefits to employers of raising workforce basic skills levels: a review of the literature. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Ananiadou, K., Jenkins, A. and Wolf, A. (2004) Basic skills and workplace learning: what do we actually know about their benefits? Studies in Continuing Education, 26(2), pp. 289–308.

Anderson, B. (2006). Colorado Even Start: 2005-2006 Progress Report. Denver, CO: Colorado Department of Education.

Arenas, E. (2008) 'Personal learning environments: implications and challenges.' In: Orr, D., Danaher, P.A., Danaher, G. and Harrevelt, R.E. (Eds) Lifelong Learning: Reflecting on Successes and Framing Futures. Keynote and Refereed Papers from the 5th International Lifelong Learning Conference. Rockhampton: Central Queensland University Press [online]. Available:

http://cddu.cqu.edu.au/images/5/51/PlePapersSymposium2008.pdf [25 August, 2010].

Ashton, D. and Green, F. (1996) Education, Training and the Global Economy. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing.

Association For Learning Technology and Technology Enhanced Learning (2010) Technology in learning: a response to some questions from the Department of Business Innovation and Skills, Oxford: ALT. Available online at: http://newrepo.alt.ac.uk/839/2/ALT_TEL_evidence_document_for_BIS_low-res.pdf

[accessed 19 May 2011]. Available online at:

http://newrepo.alt.ac.uk/839/2/ALT_TEL_evidence_document_for_BIS_low-res.pdf [accessed 19 May 2011].

Atkin, C. and Marchant, P. (2004) The impact of adult literacy and numeracy on small business in rural Lincolnshire and Rutland: A case study, National Research and Development Centre, London.

Atkin, C., Rose, A. and Shier, R. (2005) Provision of, and learner engagement with, adult literacy, numeracy and ESOL support in rural England: a comparative case study. London: National Research and Development Centre.

Atkinson, J. and Williams, M. (2003) Employer perspectives on the recruitment, retention and advancement of low-pay, low-status employees. Brighton: The Institute for Employment Studies.

Balatti, J. and Falk, I. (2002). 'Socioeconomic contributions of adult learning to community: a social capital perspective', Adult Education Quarterly, 52(4): 281–298.

Balatti, J., Black, S. and Falk, I. (2006) Reframing Adult Literacy and Numeracy Course Outcomes: A Social Capital Perspective. Adult Literacy National Project Report. Adelaide, SA, Australia: National Centre for Vocational Education Research.

Balatti, J., Black, S. and Falk, I. (2007) Teaching for social capital outcomes: The case of adult literacy and numeracy courses. Australian Journal of Adult Learning, 47(2), pp.245-63.

Baroody, A. J. (2003). The development of adaptive expertise and flexibility: The integration of conceptual and procedural knowledge. In A. Baroody and A. Dowker (Eds.), The development of arithmetic concepts and skills: Constructing adaptive expertise (pp. 1–34). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.

Barton, D., Appleby, Y., Hodge, R., Tusting, K. and Ivanic, R. (2006) Relating adults' lives and learning: participation and engagement in different settings. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Basic Skills Agency (2000) Effective basic skills provision for adults. London: Basic Skills Agency.

Basic Skills Agency (1995) Older and Younger: the basic skills of different age groups. London: Basic Skills Agency.

Bassi, L. (1994) Workplace education for hourly workers. Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, 13, 1, pp. 55-74.

Bathmaker, A. (2007a) The impact of Skills for Life on adult basic skills in England: how should we interpret trends in participation and achievement? Routledge: London.

Bathmaker, A.M. (2007b) The impact of Skills for Life on adult basic skills in England: how should we interpret trends in participation and achievement? International Journal of Lifelong Education, 26 (3), pp. 295-313.

Bathmaker, A.M. (forthcoming) The impact of skills for life on adult literacy, language and numeracy learners: final report on the analysis of existing quantitative data (London, NRDC).

Baxter, M., Leddy, E., Richards, L., Tomlin, A., Wresniwiro, T. and Coben, D. (2006) Measurement wasn't taught when they built the pyramids – was it? The teaching and learning of common measures in adult numeracy. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Beach, I. (2003) Improving retention and achievement through independent learning. Paper presented at the Scottish Educational Research Association Annual Conference, 27-29 November 2003.

Becker, H., Ravitz, J. and Wong, Y. (1999) Teacher and Teacher-directed Student Use of Computers, Teaching, Learning and Computing: 1998 National Survey Report #3, Centre for Research on Information Technology and Organizations, University of California Irvine.

Beder, H. (1999) The outcomes and impacts of adult literacy education in the United States. Cambridge, MA: National Center for the Study of Adult Learning and Literacy.

Becta (2010) Delivering results with learning technologies in the workplace. Coventry: Becta.

Benseman, J. (2001) Making the learning happen: a study of teaching effectiveness in Training Opportunities. Wellington: Skill NZ.

Benseman, J. (2002) Phase 1 Family Literacy in Manukau: Infrastructure development. Commissioned by the City of Manukau Education Trust (COMET). Auckland: The University of Auckland and UniServices Ltd.

Benseman, J. (2003) Phase 2 of the Manukau Family Literacy Programmes pilot implementation. Interim (2nd) formative and process evaluation report for the City of Manukau Education Trust (COMET). Auckland: UniServices and The University of Auckland.

Benseman, J. (2004) "I'm a different person now." An evaluation of the Manukau Family Literacy Program (MFLP). Wellington: Ministry of Education. and Tobias, R. (2003) First Chance for a Real Education – An Impact Study of Adult Literacy. Follow-up Study of Training Opportunities and Youth Training Adult Literacy Students in Christchurch, New Zealand. Wellington, New Zealand: Tertiary Education Commission.

Benseman, J. (2004) 'I'm a different person now.' An evaluation of the Manukau Family Literacy Program (MFLP). Wellington: Ministry of Education.

Benseman, J. and Sutton, A. (2005) Summative Evaluation of the Manukau Family Literacy Project. Auckland: Auckland Uni Services Ltd.

Benseman, J. (2009) 'Evaluating the New Zealand Upskilling Partnerships Programme.' Paper presented at the Annual Summer Institute of The Centre for Literacy of Quebec (June 2009). Montreal, Quebec.

Benseman, J. (2010) Planning and teaching effective workplace literacy, language and numeracy programmes: what does the research tell us? Adult Learning, 38, 2, pp. 19-28.

Benseman, J. and Moore, L. (2000) Voices from the workplace. Workbase, the National Centre for Workplace Literacy and Language.

Benseman, J., Sutton, A. and Lander, J. (2005) Working in the light of evidence as well as aspiration: A Literature Review of the best available evidence about effective adult literacy, numeracy and language teaching. Auckland: Ministry of Education. Available online at:

http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/publications/tertiary_education/27773/5727 [accessed 29/03/11].

Benware, C.A. and Deci, E.L. (1984) Quality of learning with an active versus passive motivational set, American Educational Research Journal 21: 755-65.

Berkman, N.D., DeWalt, D.A., Pignone, M.P., Sheridan, S., Lohr, K.N., Lux, L., Sutton, S.F., Swinson T. and Bonito, A.J. (2004) Literacy and health outcomes. evidence report/technology assessment No. 87 (Prepared by RTI International.University of North Carolina Evidence-based Practice Center under Contract No. 290-02-0016). AHRQ Publication No. 04-E007-2. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, January.

Besser, S., Brooks, G., Burton, M., Parisella, M., Spare, Y., Stratford, S. (2004) Adult literacy learners' difficulties in reading: an exploratory study. London: NRDC.

Billett, S. (1996) The transfer problem: Distinguishing between sociocultural and community of practice. In: Learning and work: The challenges, 4th Annual International Conference on Post-Compulsory Education and Training, vol.4, Centre for Learning and Work Research, Griffith University, Brisbane, pp. 21–36.

Birch, E.R., Kenyon, P., Koshy, P. and Wills-Johnson, N. (2003) Exploring the Social and Economic Impacts of Adult and Community Education. Research Report. Adelaide, SA, Australia: National Centre for Vocational Education Research.

Black, S., Balatti J. and Falk, I. (2006) 'Social capital outcomes: the new focus for adult literacy and numeracy courses', Australian Journal of Adult Learning, Volume 46, Number 3, November 2006, 319-336.

Black, P. and Wiliam, D. (1998) Inside the Black Box – Raising Standards through Classroom Assessment, London: Department of Education and Professional Studies, Kings College.

Black, P. and Wiliam, D. (2003) In Praise of Education Research: Formative Assessment, British Education Research Journal, 29, 5.

Bloom, M., Burrows, M., Lafleur, B. and Squires, R. (1997) The economic benefits of improving literacy skills in the workplace (ERIC ED412340). Ottawa: Conference Board of Canada.

Blundell, R. Dearden, L. and Meghir, C. (1996) The Determinants and Effects of Work Related Training in Britain. London: Institute for Fiscal Studies.

Bonjour, D. and Smeaton, D. (2003) The Impact of Adult Basic Skills Pathfinder Extension Activities: Stage 2 of the Evaluation. DfES Research Report 438. London: Department for Education and Skills.

Boothby, D. (2002) International Adult Literacy Survey. Literacy Skills, Occupational Assignment and the Returns to Over- and Under-Education. Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada.

Bossort, P., Cottingham, B. and Gardner, L. (1994). Learning to Learn: Impacts of the Adult Basic Education Experience on the Lives of Participants. Report prepared for the Adult Basic Education Association of British Columbia. Victoria, British Columbia: Ministry of Skills, Training and Labour.

Bottino, R.M. and Furinghetti, F. (1996) 'The emerging of teachers' conceptions of new subjects inserted in mathematics programs: the case of informatics. Educational Studies in Mathematics 30(2), 109-134.

Boudett, K., and Friedlander, D. (1997) Does mandatory basic education improve achievement test scores of AFDC recipients? Evaluation Review, 2, 568-588.

Bourdieu, P. (1986). 'The forms of capital' (R. Nice, trans.), in Richardson J.G.(ed.), Handbook of theory and research for the sociology of education, New York: Greenwood: 241–258.

Boysen, S. T., and Berntson, G. G. (1989). Numerical competence in a chimpanzee (Pan troglodytes). Journal of Comparative Psychology, 103, 23–31.

Bracey, G. (2006) Students do NOT Need High-Level Skills in Today's Job Market. The Education Digest, 72(4): pp. 24.

Brassett-Grundy, A. (2004) 'Family Life and Learning: Emergent Themes.' In Schuller,.T. et al. (Eds.) The Benefits of Learning: The Impact on Health, Family Life and Social Capital, 80-98. New York: Routledge.

Brazier, L., Hurry, J. and Wilson, A. (2010) Post-16 education and training provision for young people involved in crime. Literature review. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Brooks, G., Gorman, T. P., Harman, J., Hutchison, D. and Wilkin, A. (1996) Family Literacy Works: The NFER Evaluation of the Basic Skills Agency's Family Literacy Demonstration Programmes (London: Basic Skills Agency).

Brooks, G., Gorman, T. P., Harman, J., Hutchison, D., Kinder, K., Moor, H. and Wilkin, A. (1997) Family Literacy Lasts: The NFER Follow-up Study of the Basic Skills Agency's Demonstration Programmes (London: Basic Skills Agency).

Brooks, G. (1998). 'Trends in standards of literacy in the United Kingdom, 1948-1996.' TOPIC, issue 19 (Spring 1998), item 1.

Brooks, G., Davies, R., Duckett, L., Hutchison, D., Kendall, S. and Wilkin, A. (2001a) Progress in Adult Literacy: Do Learners Learn? London: Basic Skills Agency.

Brooks, G., Giles, K., Harman, J., Kendall, S., Rees, F., and Whittaker, S. (2001b) Assembling the fragments: A review of research on adult basic skills. Slough (England): National Foundation for Educational Research.

Brooks, G., Burton, M., Porthouse, J., Torgerson, C., Watt, I. and Wright, K. (2004) Adult Literacy and Numeracy Interventions and Outcomes: a Review of Controlled Trials. London: University of London, Institute of Education, NRDC.

Brooks, G., Burton, M., Cole, P. and Szczerbiński, M. (2007) Effective Teaching and Learning: Reading. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Brooks, G., Pahl, K., Pollard, A. and Rees, F. (2008a) Effective and Inclusive Practices in Family Literacy, Language and Numeracy: a Review of Programmes and Practice in the UK and Internationally (Executive Summary). Reading: CfBT Education Trust.

Brooks, G., Burton, M., Cole, P., Miles, J., Torgerson, C. and Torgerson, D. (2008b) Randomised control trial of incentives to improve attendance at adult literacy classes. Oxford Review of Education, 34(5): pp. 493-504.

Brooks, G., Pilling, M. and Rashid, S. (2009) 'Stepping Stones': progression from non-counting provision to counting provision within Skills for Life. Quantitative Strand. Np: Np.

Brooks, G. (2010) 'Chapter 9: Adult literacy (Age 18 and beyond).' In Kamil, M.L., Pearson, P.D., Moje, E.B. and Afflerbach, P.P. (eds) Handbook of Reading Research, vol.IV. London and New York: Routledge, pp.177-96.

Burton, M., Davey, J., Lewis, M., Ritchie, L. and Brooks, G. (2010) Progress for adult literacy learners. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Butterworth, B. (1999). The mathematical brain. London: Macmillan.

Bynner, J. and Parsons, S. (1997) It Doesn't Get any Better: the Impact of Poor Basic Skills on the Lives of 37 Year Olds. London: Basic Skills Agency.

Bynner, J. and Parsons, S. (2000) Use it or lose it? The impact of time out of work on literacy and numeracy skills Centre for Longitudinal Studies, Institute of Education on behalf of The Basic Skills Agency.

Bynner, J., Mcintosh, S., Vignoles, A., Dearden, L., Reed, H., and Van Reenen, J. (2001) Improving Adult Basic Skills: Benefits to the Individual and to Society. DfES Research Report 251. London: Department for Education and Skills.

Bynner, J. (2004) Literacy, numeracy and employability: evidence from the British birth cohort studies, Literacy and Numeracy Studies, 13(1), pp. 31-48.

Bynner, J. and Hammond, C. (2004) The Benefits of Adult Learning: Quantitative Insights. In: Schuller, T et al. (eds.). The Benefits of Learning: The Impact on Health, Family Life and Social Capital, New York: RoutledgeFalmer, pp. 161-78.

Bynner, J. and Parsons, S. (2006) New Light on Literacy and Numeracy; Results of the Literacy and Numeracy Assessment in the Age 34 Follow-up of the 1970 Cohort Study. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Bynner, J., Reder S., Parsons, S. and Strawn, C. (2008a) The digital divide: computer use, basic skills and employment. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Bynner, J., Reder, S., Parsons, S., and Strawn, C. (2008b) Research Summary - The Digital Divide: Computer Use, Basic Skills and Employment, London: National Research and Development Centre.

Bynner, J., Reder, S., Parsons, S. and Strawn, C. (2010) The three divides: the digital divide and its relation to basic skills and employment in Portland, USA and London, England, Research Report. London: National Research and Development Centre.

Cameron, S. and Heckman, J. (1991) 'The non-equivalence of high school equivalents', Working paper no. 3804, National Bureau of Economic Research.

Campbell, D. and Wilson, K. (2001) Promoting Family Literacy. Clemson, SC: Clemson University.

Cara, O. and De Coulon, A. (2008) Skills for Life teachers' qualifications and their learners' progress in adult numeracy. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Cara, O., Creese, B. and Grief, S. (2009) ILR Data Report. NRDC Report to the Quality Improvement Agency. Np: np.

Cara, O. and Litster, J.H. (2009) Teacher Attitudes Towards the "Skills for Life" National Strategy for Improving Adult Literacy and Numeracy Skills. In: Reder, S. and Bynner, J. (eds.) Tracking Adult Literacy and Numeracy Skills: Findings from Longitudinal Research. New York: Routledge.

Cara, O., Litster, J., Swain, J. and Vorhaus, J. (2010) The Teacher Study: the impact of the Skills for Life strategy on teachers. London: National Research and Development Centre for adult literacy and numeracy.

Carey, S., Low, S. and Hansbro, J. (1997) Adult Literacy in Great Britain: a survey of adults aged 16–65 in Great Britain carried out by Social Survey Division of ONS as part of the International Adult Literacy Survey (IALS). London: The Stationery Office.

Carpentieri, J.D., Litster, J. and Frumkin, L. (2009) Adult Numeracy: a review of research. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Carpentieri, J. and Vorhaus, J. (2010) Literacy, numeracy, employment and employability: a rapid review of the research evidence. London: NRDC.

Casey, H., Cara, O., Eldred, J, Grief, S., Hodge, R., Ivanic, R., Jupp, T., Lopez, D. and Mcneil, B. (2006) 'You wouldn't expect a maths teacher to teach plastering...' Embedding literacy, language and numeracy in post-16 vocational programmes – the impact on learning and achievement. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Centre for Literacy (2010) Social Capital Outcomes of Adult Learning and Literacy Initiatives: How Do We Measure Them?, London: Centre for Literacy.

The Centre For Literacy/Le Centre D'alphabetisation (2010) Social Capital Outcomes of Adult Learning and Literacy Initiatives. How do we measure them? Literature review. Montreal, Quebec: The Centre for Literacy of Quebec.

Cheek, E.H. and Lindsey, J.D. (1994) The effects of two methods of reading instruction on urban adults' word identification and comprehension abilities. Journal of Vocational and Technical Education, 11: pp. 14-19.

City and Guilds (2008) Briefing note: addressing barriers to learning, London: City and Guilds Centre for Skills Development.

Cloonan, M. and Turner, E. (2000) The past, present and future of Further Education in Scotland: a research based guide to the literature for practitioners, Glasgow: Centre for Research in Lifelong Learning.

Coben, D. (2003) Adult numeracy: review of research and related literature. A report of the DfES National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy. Nottingham: University of Nottingham.

Coben, D. (2005) Adult Numeracy: shifting the focus: A Report and Recommendations on Adult Numeracy in Scotland. Np: Learning Connections, Communities Scotland.

Coben, D., Brown, M., Rhodes, V., Swain, J., Ananiadou, K., Brown, P., Ashton, J., Holder, D., Lowe, S., Magee, C., Nieduszynska, S. and Storey, V. (2007a) Effective Teaching and Learning: Numeracy. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Coben, D., Crowther, J., Kambouri, M., Mellar, M., Mogey, N., Morrison, S., and Steveson, I. (2007b) Greater than the sum... Report of the action research project: The use of ICT in Adult Numeracy Teaching in Scotland, Phase 2, London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Cochran-Smith, M. (2004) Ask a different question, get a different answer: the research base for teacher education. Journal of Teacher Education, 55 (2): pp. 111–115.

Coleman, J. (1988). 'Social capital in the creation of human capital', American Journal of Sociology, 94, Supplement S: 95–120.

Collett, K. (2008) Briefing note: Developing adult basic skills in the workforce. City and Guilds Centre for Skills Development.

Comings, J., Parrella, A., and Soricone, L. (1999) Persistence among adult basic education students in pre-GED classes (NCSALL Reports No.12), Cambridge, MA: National Center for the Study of Adult Learning and Literacy.

Comings, J., Parrella, A., and Soricone, L. (2000) Helping adult persist: four supports. Focus on Basics, 4(A), 1-9.

Comings, J. (2003a) Establishing an evidence-based adult education system. Cambridge MA: Harvard Graduate School of Education.

Comings, J. (2003b) Evidence-based education: a perspective from the United States. Paper presented at NRDC/CCER international conference, Nottingham, March.

Comings, J.P., Cuban, S., Bos, J. and Porter, K., with Doolittle, F. (2003) 'As Long as it Takes': Responding to the Challenges of Adult Student Persistence in Library Literacy Programs. MDRC.

Comings, J. (2004) The process and content of adult education in family literacy programs, in: B. Wasik (Ed.) Handbook of family literacy (New Jersey, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates).

Committee Of Public Accounts (2006) Skills for Life: improving adult literacy and numeracy. London: The Stationery Office.

Committee Of Public Accounts (2008) Meeting needs? The Offenders' Learning and Skills Service, Forty-seventh Report of Session 2007–08. London: The Stationery Office.

Condelli, L. (2003) Effective instruction for ESL literacy students: findings from the What Works study. Paper presented at the NRDC International Research Conference March 20-22, Nottingham, Nottingham.

Condelli, L. and Wrigley, H. S. (2004) Real world research: combining qualitative and quantitative research for adult ESL. Paper presented at the Second International Conference for Adult Literacy and Numeracy, Loughborough, England, March 25-27, 2004.

Condelli, L., Kirshstein, R., Silver-Pacuilla, H., Reder, S., and Wrigley, H-S. (2010) Changing the Odds: Informing Policy with Research on How Adult Learners Succeed, American Institutes for Research.

Confederation Of British Industries (2006) Working on the Three Rs: Employers' Priorities for Functional Skills in Maths and English, London.

Confederation Of British Industries (2008) Taking stock:CBI education and skills survey 2008. London.

Confederation Of British Industries (2009) Emerging stronger: the value of education and skills in turbulent times - Education and skills survey 2009. London.

Confederation Of British Industries (2010) Ready to grow: business priorities for education and skills, Education and skills survey 2010. London.

Cordova, D. I., and Lepper, M. R. (1996). Intrinsic motivation and the process of learning: Beneficial effects of contextualization, personalization, and choice. Journal of Educational Psychology, 8 8, 715-730.

Coulombe, S., Tremblay, F. and Marchand, S. (2004) Literacy scores, human capital and growth across 14 OECD countries. Statistics Canada.

Crawley, J. and Attewell, J. (2001) Promoting Social Inclusion and Widening Participation via Distributed and Electronic Learning: a Review of Research Evidence. London: Learning and Skills Development Agency.

Crisis (2006) Missed opportunities: The case for investment in learning and skills for homeless people. London: Crisis.

Croninger, R.G., Rice, J., Rathbun, A. and Nishio, M. (2007) Teacher qualifications and early learning: Effects of certification, degree, and experience on first-grade student achievement. Economics of Education Review, 26, pp. 312–324.

Cuban, L., Kirkpatrick, H., and Peck, C. (2001) High Access and Low Use of Technologies in High School Classrooms: Explaining an Apparent Paradox. American Educational Research Journal, 38 (4), pp.813-34.

Cuhna, F. and Heckman, J. (2007) The Technology of Skill Formation. American Economic Review, 97(2): pp. 31–47.

Cutter, J., Clements, M., Laxton, C., Marwood, K. and Rix, M. (2004) Link Up Evaluation: Final Report. London: DfES, DfES Research Report 573.

Darkenwal, G, and T. Valentine (1984), Outcomes and impact of adult literacy education, New Brunswick, N.J., Centre for Adult Development.

Darling-Hammond, L. (2000) Teacher quality and student achievement: A review of state policy evidence. Journal of Education Policy Analysis, 8(1).

Davidson, R. K., and Strucker, J. (2002) Patterns of word-recognition errors among adult basic education native and nonnative speakers of English. Scientific Studies of Reading, 6(3): pp. 299-316.

De Coulon, A., Marcenaro-Gutierrez, O and Vignoles, A. (2007) The Value of Basic Skills in the British Labour Market. Centre for the Economics of Education Discussion Paper CEEDP0077. London: London School of Economics.

Dearden, L. Reed, H. and Van Reenen, J. (1999) Estimates of the impact of improvements in basic skills on aggregate wages, employment, taxes and benefits. London: np.

Dearden, L., McIntosh, S., Myck, M. and Vignoles, A. (2000) 'The Returns to Academic, Vocational and Basic Skills in Britain'. London: Department for Education and Employment.

Dearden, L., McIntosh, S., Myck, M. and Vignoles, A. (2002) 'The Returns to Academic, Vocational and Basic Skills in Britain', Bulletin of Economic Research, 54, 3, pp. 249-274.

Deci, E.L., Schwartz A.J., Sheinman L. and Ryan, R.M. (1981) An instrument to assess adults' orientations toward control versus autonomy with children: Reflections on intrinsic motivation and perceived competence. Journal of Educational Psychology, 73, 642-650.

Deci, E., Koestner, R. and Ryan, R. (2001) Extrinsic Rewards and Intrinsic Motivation in Education: Reconsidered Once Again.Review of Educational Research, Vol 71 (1), pp.1-27.

Dench, S., Hillage, J. and Coare, P. (2006) The Impact of Learning on Unemployed, Low-Qualified Adults: a Systematic Review. London: Department for Work and Pensions, DWP Research Report 375.

Department For Education and Employment (1999) A Fresh Start: Improving Literacy and Numeracy. Report of the Committee of the Working Group chaired by Sir Claus Moser. Sudbury: DfEE Publications.

Department For Education and Employment (2000) The returns to academic, vocational and Basic Skills in Britain. Skills Task Force Research Paper 20.

Department For Education and Skills (2002) Evaluating Outcomes for Learners in Pathfinder Areas. London: Department for Education and Skills.

Department For Education and Skills (2003) The Skills for Life Survey. A national needs and impact survey of literacy, numeracy and ICT skills (Norwich: HMSO).

Department for Education and Skills and Department For Work and Pensions (2007) The Role of Skills in the Labour Market: DfES and DWP shared evidence base. London: DfES/DWP.

Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS) (2010) Measuring the Economic Impact of Further Education, Research Paper 38. London: BIS.

Derrick, J. and Ecclestone, K. (2008) 'English-language Literature Review', in Teaching, Learning and Assessment for Adults: Improving Foundation Skills, OECD Publishing. Available online at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/172251338713.

Dugdale, G. (2008) Bridging the literacy gap between education and business. London: National Literacy Trust.

Ekström, E. (2003) Earnings effects of adult secondary education in Sweden. Working Paper 2003: 16. Uppsala: Institute for Labour Market Policy Evaluation.

Eldred, J. (2002) Moving On with Confidence: Perceptions of Success in Teaching and Learning Adult Literacy. Research Paper. Leicester (England): National Inst. of Adult Continuing Education.

Eldred, J., Ward, J. and Dutton, Y. (2004) Catching Confidence. Initial Research Final Report. National Institute for Adult Education.

Eldred, J., Ward, J. Snowdon, K. and Dutton, Y. (2006) Catching Confidence. The Nature and Role of Confidence – Ways of Developing and Recording Changes in the Learning Context. Summary Report. National Institute for Adult Education.

Ernst and Young (2003) Literacy, Education and Training: Their impact on the UK economy. London: Ernst and Young.

European Basic Skills Network (2002) Tackling Social Exclusion through Improved Basic Skills.

Evans, K. and Waite, E. (2008) Adult Workers' Engagement in Formal and Informal Learning: Insights into Workplace Basic Skills from Four UK Organisations. Ottawa, ON: Partnerships in Learning.

Falk, I. (2001). 'Sleight of hand: job myths, literacy and social capital', in Lo Bianco, J. and Wickert, R. (eds.), Australian policy activism in language and literacy, Melbourne: Language Australia: 203–220.

Falk, I. (2006). 'Essence of engagement: social capital in workplace learning', in Castleton, G., Gerber, R. and Pillay, H. (eds.), Improving workplace learning: emerging international perspectives, New York: Nova Science Publishers: 21–34.

Falk, I., Golding, B. and Balatti, J. (2000). Building communities: ACE, lifelong learning and social capital, Melbourne: Adult, Community and Further Education Board.

Feinstein, L., Hammond, C., Woods, L., Preston, J. and Bynner, J. (2003) The Contribution of Adult Learning to Health and Social Capital. London: The Centre for Research on the Wider Benefits of Learning.

Felstead, A., Gallie, D., Green, F., and Zhou., Y. (2007) Skills at Work, 1986 to 2006, ESRC Centre on Skills, Knowledge and Organisational Performance, Universities of Oxford and Cardiff.

Field, J. and Spence, L. (2000). 'Social capital and informal learning', in Coffield F. (ed.), The necessity of informal learning, Bristol: Policy Press: 32–42.

Field, J. (2005). Social capital and lifelong learning, Bristol: Policy Press.

Findlay, P., Stewart, R., Dutton, E. and Warhurst, C. (2006) Evaluation of the Scottish Union Learning Fund (SULF) (2000-2005) (SCER Research Report 9). Edinburgh: Scottish Executive Social Research.

Fingeret, H.A. (1983) Social networks: a new perspective on independence and illiterate adults. Adult education quarterly, 33), pp.133-146.

Finlay, I., Hodgson, A. and Steer, R. (2007) Flowers in the Desert: the impact of policy on basic skills provision in the workplace. Journal of Vocational Education and Training, 59(2): pp. 231-248.

Fitzgerald, N. B., and Young, M. B. (1997) The influence of persistence on literacy learning in adult education. Adult Education Quarterly, 47(2), p. 78.

Fitzsimons, G.E. (2002) Adult numeracy and new technologies of learning. In: Ferrier, F. and Down, C. (eds.) Making a World of Difference? Innovation, Internationalisation, New Technologies and VET: 5th Annual Conference of the Australian VET Research Association. Alexandria, NWS: Australian Vocational Education and Training Research Association.

Fitzsimons, G., Mlcek, S., Hull, O. and Wright, C. (2005) Learning numeracy on the job: a case study of chemical handling and spraying. NSW, Australia: Access and General Education Curriculum Centre.

Fitzsimons, G.E. (2006) Adult numeracy via new learning technologies: an evaluative framework. Fine Print, 29(3), pp. 3–6.

Fortin, P. (2005) 'From Productivity to Well-Being: Keep the Focus on Basic Skills

Frank, F. (1996) Like a cork shooting out of a bottle: students' learning journeys after workplace basic skills training courses. A follow up study. Lancaster: Centre for the Study of Education and Training.

Frey, B.S. and Jegen, R. (2001) Motivation crowding theory. Journal of Economic Effects, 15(5): pp. 589–611.

Frontline Consultants (2006) Appraisal of Essential Skills for Living. Belfast: Department for Employment and Learning.

Fuson, K. C. (1988) Children's counting and concepts of number. New York: Springer Verlag.

Futureskills Scotland (2008) Skills in Scotland 2008.

Gallistel, C.R., and Gelman, R. (1991) The preverbal counting process. In W. Kessen, A. Ortony, and F. Craik (Eds.), Thoughts, memories, and emotions: Essays in honour of George Mandler (pp. 65–81). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

Geary, D.C. (2000) From infancy to adulthood: The development of numerical abilities. European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 9(2), 11–16.

George, R. and Luke, R. (1995) 'The critical place of information literacy in the trend towards flexible delivery in higher education contexts'. Paper presented at the Learning for Life Conference, Adelaide, SA, 30 November-1 December 1995 [online]. Available: http://www.londonmet.ac.uk/deliberations/flexible-learning/george.cfm [25 August, 2010].

GHK Consulting (2003) Good Practice: Education and Training in Sparsely Populated Areas. London: Learning and Skills Council.

Gillespie, M. (2001). Research in writing: implications for adult literacy education. In J. Comings, B. Garner and C. Smith (Eds.), The Annual Review of Adult Learning and Literacy (Vol. 2, pp. 63-110). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Gleeson, L. (2005) Economic Returns to Education and Training for Adults with Low Numeracy Skills. Adelaide, SA: NCVER.

Goldhaber, D.D. and Brewer, D.J. (1997) 'Why don't schools and teachers seem to matter? Assessing the impact of unobservables on educational productivity'. The Journal of Human Resources, 32(3), pp. 505–523.

Goldhaber, D.D. and Brewer, D.J. (1998) 'When should we reward degrees for teachers?'. Phi Delta Kappan, 80(2), pp.134–138.

Goldhaber, D.D. and Brewer, D.J. (2000) Does teacher certification matter? High school teacher certification status and student achievement. Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 22(2), pp. 129–146.

Goodison, T., Green, A.E., Owen, D. and Rooney, S. (2004) ICT and Employability: a Case Study of Clients Using UK Online Services. Research Report 534. London: Department for Education and Skills.

Gorard, S., Selwyn, N. and Furlong, J. (2003) How do adults use ICT for learning? Adults Learning, 15(3), pp. 18–20.

Gorard, S., Selwyn, N. and Furlong, J. (2004). 'How do adults learn at home?' Paper presented at the British Educational Research Association Annual Conference, University of Manchester, 16-18 September.

Gray, A. (2006) Upskilling through Foundation Skills: A Literature Review. A Report prepared for the Department of Labour, Government of New Zealand.

Grief, S., Meyer, B. and Burgess, A. (2007) Effective Teaching and Learning: Writing. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Griffin, P. (2001) Literacy classes, reading and employment prospects. Paper presented at the A Literacy Odyssey: 24th Annual International Australian Council for Adult Literacy Annual, 1-3 November, 2001.

Grinyer, J. (2006) Literacy, numeracy and the labour market: Further analysis of the Skills for Life survey. DfES Research Report 712. London: Department for Education and Skills.

Hamilton, M. and Wilson, A. (Eds) (2005) New Ways of Engaging New Learners: Lessons from Round One of the Practitioner-led Research Initiative. London: NRDC.

Hammond, C. (2004) 'Impacts on well-being, mental health and coping'. In: T. Schuller et al. (eds) Wider Benefits of Learning. London: Routledge Falmer, pp. 37–56.

Hannon, P. and Bird, V. (2004) Family literacy in England: theory, practice, research and policy. In B.H. Wasik (Ed.) Handbook of Family Literacy (Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum).

Hannon, P., Pahl, K., Bird, V., Taylor, C. and Birch, C. (2003) Community-Focused Provision in Adult Literacy, Numeracy and Language: an Exploratory Study. Research Report. London: NRDC.

Hanushek, E. A. (1992) 'The trade-off between child quantity and quality'. Journal of Political Economy, 100, pp. 84–117.

Harter S. (1974) Pleasure derived by children from cognitive challenge and mastery, Child Development, 45, 661-669.

Hartley, R. and Horne, J. (2006a) Social and economic benefits of improved adult literacy: Towards a better understanding. Adelaide: National Centre for Vocational Educational Research.

Hartley, R. and Horne, J. (2006b) Social and economic benefits of improved adult literacy: Towards a better understanding - Supporting Document. Adelaide: National Centre for Vocational Educational Research.

Hartley, R. and Horne, J. (2006c) Social and Economic Benefits of Improved Adult Literacy Adult Literacy National Project Report. Adelaide, SA, Australia: National Centre for Vocational Education Research.

Heckman, J.J., Stixrud, J. and Urzua, S. (2006) The effects of cognitive and noncognitive abilities on labor market outcomes and social behavior. Journal of Labour Economics, 24, 3, pp. 411-482.

Hillage, J., Loukas, G., Newton, B. and Tamkin, P. (2006) Employer Training Pilots: Final Evaluation Report, DfES Research Report 774. London: DfES.

Hinman, J. and Fletcher, M (2008) Developing Models of Flexible Delivery of Skills for Life Provision. Reading: CfBT.

HM Inspectorate of Education (2005) Changing Lives: Adult Literacy and Numeracy in Scotland. Livingston: HM Inspectorate of Education.

Hodge, R. and Koutsoubou, M. (2007) Progression from non-counting provision to counting provision. Qualitative strand. London: NRDC.

Hodgson, A., Steer, R., Spours, K., Edward, S., Coffield, F., Finlay, I. and Gregson, M.(2007) Learners in the English Learning and Skills Sector: the implications of half-right policy assumptions. Oxford Review of Education, 33 (3). pp. 315-330.

Holland, C. (2002) Designing an online literacy interface. Paper presented at the Annual Conference of the British Educational Research Association, University of Exeter, 12-14 September [online]. Available: http://www.leeds.ac.uk/educol/documents/00002411.htm.

Hollenbeck, K. (1996) 'A framework for assessing the economic benefits and costs of workplace literacy training.' Paper presented at the Workplace Learning: The Strategic Advantage, Milwaukee, Wisconsin.

House Of Commons Public Accounts Committee (2006) Skills for Life: Improving adult literacy and numeracy. Twenty-first report of session 2005-2006. London: The Stationery Office.

House Of Commons Public Accounts Committee (2009) Skills for Life: Progress in Improving Adult Literacy and Numeracy, Third Report of Session 2008-09. London: The Stationery Office.

House of Commons Standing Committee on Human Resources Development and the Status of Persons with Disabilities (HRSDC) 2003, Raising Adult Literacy Skills: the need for a Pan-Canadian response, Ottowa: Communications Canada Publishing.

Hoyles, C., Noss, R., Kent, P. and Bakker, A. (2007) Understanding the System: Techno-Mathematical Literacies in the Workplace: Full Research Report, ESRC End of Award Report. Swindon: ESRC.

Hoyles, C., Noss, R., Kent, P. and Bakker, A. (2010) Improving Mathematics at Work: the need for techno-mathematical literacies. London: Routledge.

Hull, G. (1997) Changing work, changing workers: critical perspectives on language, literacy and skills. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.

Illeris, K. (2006) Lifelong learning and the low skilled. International Journal of Lifelong Education, 25(1): pp. 15-28.

Jenkins, A., Vignoles, A., Wolf, A. and Galindo-Rueda, F. (2002). The determinants and labour market effects of lifelong learning. Centre for the Economics of Education. Discussion Paper No. 19. London: London School of Economics.

Jenkins, A., Vignoles, A., Wolf, A. and Galindo Rueda, F. (2003) The determinants and labour market effects of lifelong learning. Applied Economics, 35, 1711-1721.

Judkins, D., St. Pierre, R., Gutmann, B., Goodson, B., Von Glatz, A., Hamilton, J., Webber, A., Troppe, P. and Rimdzius, T. (2008) A Study of Classroom Literacy Interventions and Outcomes in Even Start, NCEE 2008-4028. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Institute of Education Sciences, US Department of Education.

Kambouri, M. and Francis, H. (1994) Time to Leave? Progression and Drop Out in Basic Skills Programmes. London: Adult Literacy and Basic Skills Unit.

Kaufmann, L., Handl, P., and Thony, B. (2003) Evaluation of a Numeracy Intervention Program Focusing on Basic Numerical Knowledge and Conceptual Knowledge: A Pilot Study. Journal of Learning Disabilities, 36 (6), pp.564-73.

Kearns, P. (2004) VET and social capital: a paper on the contribution of the VET sector to social capital in communities, Adelaide: National Centre for Vocational Education Research.

Kelly, S., Soundranayagam, L., and Grief, S. (2004) Teaching and learning writing: a review of research and practice. London: NRDC.

Kilpatrick, S. (2002) 'Learning and building social capital in a community of family farm businesses', International Journal of Lifelong Education, 21(5): 446–461.

Krueger, A and Rouse, C (1998) 'The effect of workplace education on earnings, turnover, and job performance. 'Journal of Labor Economics, vol.16, no.1, pp.61-94.

Krueger, A. and Rouse, C. (1994) New Evidence on Workplace Education. Unpublished working paper, Princeton University.

Krueger, A. and Rouse, C. (1998) The effect of workplace education on earnings, turnover, and job performance. Journal of Labor Economics, 16: pp. 61–94.

Kruidenier, J. (2002a) Literacy assessment in adult basic education. In J. Comings, B. Garner and C. Smith (Eds.), The Annual Review of Adult Learning and Literacy (Vol. 3, pp. 84-151). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Kruidenier, J. (2002b) Research-based principles for adult basic education reading instruction. Washington DC, National Institute for Literacy.

LE Wales For DELLS (2007) Rapid Evidence Assessment of current practice in addressing capacity and workforce development issues in basic skills provision.

Learning and Skills Council (2010) Train to Gain Employer Evaluation: Sweep 5 Research Report. Coventry: Learning and Skills Council.

Lefebvre, S., Belding, P., Brehaut, M., Dermer, S., Kaskens, A., Lord, E., McKay, W. and Sookermany, N. (2006) "I've Opened Up": Exploring Learners' Perspectives on Progress. Level 1 and Level 2 Learners in Community-Based Adult Literacy Programs. Toronto, Ontario: Parkdale Project Read.

Leitch, S. (2006) Prosperity for All in the Global Economy – World Class Skills.

Lessof, C., Miller, M., Phillips, M., Pickering, K., Purdon, S. and Hales, J. (2003) New Deal for lone Parents Evaluation: findings from the quantitative survey, WAE Report, 147, London: Department for Work and Pensions.

Lifelong Learning UK (2009) Teachers of adult literacy, numeracy and ESOL: progress towards a qualified workforce. A report for Lifelong Learning UK by the National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy (NRDC). London: LLUK.

Lifelong Learning UK (2010) Recent trends in the initial training of teachers of literacy, numeracy and ESOL for the further education sector in England. London: LLUK.

Lipsey, M. (1995) What do we learn from 400 research studies on the effectiveness of treatments with juvenile delinquents. In: McGuire, J. (ed.) What works: reducing reoffending – guidelines from research and practice. London: John Wiley and Sons.

Litster, J. (2007) Motivating Skills for Life learners to persist, progress and achieve. Literature Review. Final report to the Quality Improvement Agency. Coventry: QIA.

Looney, J. (2007) Formative assessment in adult language, literacy and numeracy. Assessment in Education, 14(3): pp. 373-386.

Lopez, D., Litster, J., Vorhaus, J. and Salter, E. (2007) Stick with it! Motivating Learners to Persist, Progress and Achieve. Year One Final Report. NRDC Report to the Quality Improvement Agency. Available online: http://www.excellencegateway.org.uk/page.aspx?o=165167 [Accessed 26/04/11].

Luby, J. and Welch J. (2006) Missed Opportunities: The case for investment in learning and skills for homeless people. A research summary. London: Crisis.

Machin, S., Mcintosh, S., Vignoles, A. and Viitanen, T. (2001) Basic skills, soft skills and labour market outcomes: secondary analysis of the National Child Development Study, DfEE Research Report No. 250, London: Department for Education and Employment.

Macleod, S. and Straw, S. (eds.) (2010) Adult Basic Skills. Reading: CfBT Education Trust.

Malicky, G.V., and Norman, C.A. (1994) Participation Patterns in Adult Literacy Programs. Adult Basic Education, 4, 3, pp. 144-156.

Mallows, D. (2008) Effective and Inclusive Practices in Family Literacy, Language and Numeracy. Reading: CfBT Education Trust.

Marr, B. and Hagston, J. (2007) Thinking Beyond Numbers: Learning Numeracy for the Future Workplace. Adelaide, SA: National Centre for Vocational Education Research Ltd.

Martin, R., Villeneuve-Smith, F., Marshall, L. and Mckenzie, E. (2009) Employability Skills Explored. London: Learning and Skills Network.

Martinez, P. and Felicity M. (1998) 9,000 voices: student persistence and drop-out in further education. Further Education Development Agency.

Martinez, P. (2001) Improving student retention and achievement: what do we know and what do we need to find out? London: Learning and Skills Development Agency.

Mauger, S. (2009) 'Technological change' (Inquiry for Lifelong Learning thematic paper 2, Leicester: NIACE.

Mcbride, A., Cox, A., Mustchin, S., Carroll, M., Hyde, P., Antonacopoulou, E., Walshe, K. and Woolnough, H. (2006) Developing skills in the NHS, Manchester: University of Manchester.

Mcdonald, Barbara A. and Patricia A Scollay (2009) Outcomes of Literacy Improvement: A Longitudinal View. In: Reder, S.McConnell, S., and Glazerman, S. (2001) National Job Corps Study: The Benefits and Bynner, J. (eds.), Tracking Adult Literacy and Numeracy Skills: Findings from Longitudinal Research, New York: Routledge, pp. 312-28.Costs of Job Corps. Washington, DC: Mathematical Policy Research; Seattle, WA: Battelle Memorial Institute; and Houston, TX: Decision Information Resources.

McDonald, B.A. and Scollay, P.A. (2009) Outcomes of Literacy Improvement: A Longitudinal View. In: Reder, S. and Bynner, J. (eds.), Tracking Adult Literacy and Numeracy Skills: Findings from Longitudinal Research, New York: Routledge, pp. 312-28.

Mcgrath, D-L. (2007) Implementing an Holistic Approach in Vocational Education and Training. Australian Journal of Adult Learning 47/2: 228-44.

Mcintosh, S. (2004) Literature Review of the Effects of Improvements in Adult Basic Skills. Report prepared for the National Assembly of Wales. np: np. Available online: http://www.learningobservatory.com/uploads/publications/1173.pdf.

McIntosh, S. (2010) The Value of Skills: an evidence review submitted to the UK Commission for Employment and Skills.

McIntosh, S. and Vignoles, A. (2001) Micro-analysis of the effects of literacy and numeracy' in Improving Adult Basic Skills. London: DfEE, Research Report 251.

Meader, P. (2000) The effects of continuing goal-settling on persistence in a math classroom. Focus on Basics 4. Boston: MA: National Center for the Study of Adult Learning and Literacy.

Meadows, P. and Metcalf, H. (2005) 'Evaluation of the impact of Skills for Life learning report on sweep 2'. Research Report RR701, Department for Education and Skills.

Mellar, H., Kambouri, M., Wolf, A., Goodwin, T., Hayton, A., Koulouris, P. and Windsor, V. (2001) 'Research into the effectiveness of learning through ICT for people with basic skills needs', submitted to Ufi June 2001. Summary entitled Using ICT to develop literacy and numeracy: research summary. Available at: http://archive.basic-skills.co.uk/content/documents/?FileID=1438554016.

Mellar, H., Kambouri, M., Sanderson, M., and. Pavlou, V. (2004) ICT and adult literacy, numeracy and ESOL. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Mellar, H., Kambouri, M., Logan, K., Betts, S., Nance, B. and Moriarty, V. (2007) Effective Teaching and Learning: Using ICT. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Merton, B. (2001) Encouraging interest. Adults Learning, 12(5): pp. 7-10.

Metcalf, H., Meadows, P., Rolfe, H. and Dhudwar, A. With Coleman, N., Wapshott, J. and Carpenter, H. (2009) Evaluation of the Impact of Skills for Life Learning: Longitudinal Survey of Adult Learners on College-based Literacy and Numeracy Courses. Final Report. London: DIUS.

Michael, S.O. and Hogard, E. (1996) Marketing Adult Literacy Programs:

Meeting the Challenges in the Twenty-First Century. Research to Practice. Kent, OH:

Kent State University.

Moore, L. and Benseman, J. (2003) An exploratory survey of literacy needs in the workplace. New Zealand Journal of Adult Learning.

Moreira, C. and Noss, R. (1995) 'Understanding teachers' attitudes to change in a logo mathematics environment', Educational Studies in Mathematics 28(2), 155-176.

Morris, E. (2009) Independent Review of ICT User Skills. London: Department for Business, Innovation and Skills.

Morton, T., Mcguire, T. and Baynham, M. (2006) A literature review of research on teacher education in adult literacy, numeracy and ESOL. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Myhre, O. (1998) 'I think this will keep them busy: Computers in a teacher's thought and practice', Journal of Technology and Teacher Education 6(2-3), 93-103.

National Adult Literacy Agency (1998) Access and Participation in Adult Literacy Schemes. Dublin: NALA.

National Audit Office (2004) Skills for Life: improving adult literacy and numeracy. HC 20 Session 2004-2005. London: The Stationery Office.

National Audit Office (2005) Extending access to learning through technology: Ufi and the *learndirect* Service. London: National Audit Office.

National Audit Office (2008a) Meeting needs? The Offenders' Learning and Skills Service, HC 310 Session 2007-08. London: The Stationery Office.

National Audit Office (2008b) Skills for Life: Progress in Improving Adult Literacy and Numeracy. HC 482 session, 2007–2008, 6 June 2008.

National Audit Office (2009) Train to Gain: Developing the skills of the workforce, London: The Stationery Office.

National Centre for Social Research (2003) Evaluation of Employment Zones: Report on a cohort survey of long term unemployed people in the zones and matched set of comparison areas, London, Department for Work and Pensions.

National Institute Of Adult Continuing Education (2004) Adult learning at a glance: the UK context, facts and figures, Leicester: NIACE.

National Institute Of Adult Continuing Education (2011) Numeracy Counts. NIACE Committee of Inquiry on Adult Numeracy Learning. Leicester: NIACE.

National Research and Development Centre For Adult Literacy and Numeracy (2006) Numeracy matters more. London: NRDC.

National Research and Development Centre For Adult Literacy and Numeracy (2009) Economic Impact of Training and Education in Basic Skills: Summary of Evidence (BIS Research Paper No 6). London: University of London, Institute of Education, NRDC.

Newmarch, B., Swain, J. and Gormley, O. (2007) Developing adult teaching and learning: Practitioner guides - Numeracy, London: NRDC.

Newton, B., Hurstfield, J., Miller, L., Akroyd, K. and Gifford, J. (2005) Training participation by age amongst unemployed and inactive people, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report 291, London: DWP.

O'Grady, A. and Atkin, C. (2005) Forced to learn or choosing to learn: challenges and concerns for non-voluntary adult basic skills learners. RaPAL Research and Practice in Adult Literacy Journal, 58: pp. 38–43.

O'Grady, A. and Atkin, C. (2006) Choosing to learn or chosen to learn: the experience of Skills for Life learners. Research in Post-Compulsory Education, 11(3): pp. 277-287.

O'Neill, S. and Gish, A. (2001) Apprentices' and trainees' English language and literacy skills in workplace learning and performance: employer and employee options. In: Smart, N. (ed.) Australian Apprenticeships: research readings. Leabrook: National Centre for Vocational Education Research.

Office For Standards In Education (2003) Literacy, numeracy and English for speakers of other languages: a survey of current practice in post-16 and adult provision. Ofsted.

Office For Standards In Education, Children's Services and Skills (2007) Direct learning support in colleges: a survey of current practice, London: Ofsted.

Office For Standards In Education, Children's Services and Skills (2008) The impact of Train to Gain on skills in employment, London: Ofsted.

Office For Standards In Education, Children's Services and Skills (2011a) Removing barriers to literacy. London: Ofsted.

Office For Standards In Education, Children's Services and Skills (2011b) Tackling the Challenge of low numeracy skills in young people and adults. London: Ofsted.

Office For Standards In Education, Children's Services and Skills (2011c) A good adult numeracy tutor. London: Ofsted.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2000) Literacy in the information age: final report of the international adult literacy survey. Statistics Canada.

Outram, S. (2009) Flexible Learning Pathfinders: a Review of the Pilots' Final and Interim Reports [online]. Available: http://www.hefce.ac.uk/learning/flexible/.

Padak, N., Rasinski, T. and Mraz, M. (2002a) Scientifically-based reading research: a primer for adult and family literacy educators. Research to practice.

Padak, N., Sapin, C., and Baycich, D. (2002b). A decade of family literacy: programs, outcomes and future prospects (No. Information Series No. 389). Columbus, OH: ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult, Career and Vocational Education.

Padak, N. and Rasinski, T. (2003). Family Literacy Programs: Who Benefits? Columbus, OH: Kent State University, Ohio Literacy Resource Center.

Parsons, S. and Bynner, J. (2005) Does Numeracy Matter More? London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Parsons, S. and Bynner, J. (2007) Illuminating Disadvantage: Profiling the experiences of adults with Entry Level Literacy or numeracy over the life course, Research Report. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Patrignani, P. and Conlon, G. (2011) The Long Term Effective of Vocational Qualifications on Labour Market Outcomes. BIS Research Paper No. 47. London: Department for Business, Innovation and Skills.

Payne, J. (2002) Basic Skills in the Workplace: A Research Review. London: Learning and Skills Development Agency.

Pearson, G. (1996) More than money can say: the impact of ESL and literacy training in the Australian workplace. Canberra: Department of Employment, Education, Training and Youth Affairs.

Peters, M., Rousseau, N. and Lynam-Smith, C. (2003) Evaluation of JSA Literacy and Numeracy Pilots: Final Report (DfES Research Report 486). London: Department for Education and Skills.

Peters, M., Rousseau, N. and Lynam-Smith, C. (2004) Evaluation of JSA literacy and numeracy pilots: final report, Research Report no. RR486. London, Department for Education and Skills.

Philliber, W., Spillman, R. and King, R. (1996). Consequences of family literacy for adults and children: some preliminary findings. Journal of Adolescent and Adult Literacy, 39, pp. 558-565.

Phillips, R., Gillespie, J. and Pead, D. (1995) 'Evolving strategies for using interactive video resources in mathematics classrooms', Educational Studies in Mathematics 28(2), 133-154.

Porporino, F. J. and Robinson, D. (1992) The correctional benefits of education: A follow-up of Canadian federal offenders participating in ABE. Journal of Correctional Education, 43, 92–98.

Porter, K., Cuban, S. and Comings, J. (2005) 'One day I will make it'; a study of adult student persistence in library literacy programs. New York: MDRC.

Portes, A. (1998) 'Social capital: its origins and applications in modern sociology', Annual Review of Sociology, 24(1): 1–24, PROQUEST database (#33571325) [accessed 30/1006].

Powell, R., Smith, R., and Reakes, A. (2003) Basic Skills and Key Skills. A review of international literature.

Preston, J. and Hammond, C. (2002) The Wider Benefits of Further Education. Practitioner Views. Wider Benefits of Learning Research Report. London: Centre for Research on the Wider Benefits of Learning.

Proliteracy America (2003) US adult literacy programs: making a difference, a review of research on positive outcomes achieved by literacy programs and the people they serve. New York: ProLiteracy Worldwide.

Purcell-Gates, V., Jacobson, E. and Soler, M. (2000) Affecting change in literacy practices of adult learners: impact of two dimensions of instruction. Cambridge, MA: NCSALL.

Purcell-Gates, V., Jacobson, E., and Degener, S. (2004) Print literacy: Uniting cognitive and social practice theories. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Quality Improvement Agency (2008) Stick with it! Messages from the Development Projects. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy. Available online: http://www.excellencegateway.org.uk/page.aspx?o=165167 [Accessed 26/04/11].

Quigley, B.A. (2000) The first three weeks: a critical time for motivation. Focus on Basics 4. Boston: MA: National Center for the Study of Adult Learning and Literacy.

Quigley, B.A. and Uhland, R. (2000) Retaining Adult Learners in the First Three Critical Weeks: A Quasi-Experimental Model for Use in ABE Programs. Adult Basic Education, 10(2): pp. 55-66.

Raftery, P. (2002) Overcoming Social Exclusion by Building Human and Social Capital through Lifelong Learning: A South Australian Perspective. Proceedings of the British Association of International and Comparative Education (BAICE) Conference "Lifelong Learning and the Building of Human and Social Capital, University of Nottingham, UK.

Rahmani, Z., Crosier. T., and Pollack, S. (2002) Evaluating the impact of the Literacy and Numeracy Training Programme for Job Seekers, Canberra.

Rashid, S. and Brooks, G. (2010) The levels of attainment in literacy and numeracy of 13- to 19 year olds in England, 1948-2009. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Raudenbush, S.W. and Kasim, R. (1998) Cognitive skill and economic inequality: Findings from the National Adult Literacy Survey. Harvard Educational Review, 68, 1, pp. 33-79.

Reder, S. and Strawn, C. (2001) Program participation and self-directed learning to improve basic skills. Focus on Basics 4. Boston: MA: National Center for the Study of Adult Learning and Literacy.

Reder, S. and Strawn, C. (2006) Self-study: broadening the concepts of participation and program support. Focus on Basics 8. Boston: MA: National Center for the Study of Adult Learning and Literacy.

Reder, S. (2009) The development of adult literacy and numeracy in adult life. In: Reder, S. and Bynner, J. (eds.) Tracking Adult Literacy and Numeracy Skills: Findings from Longitudinal Research. New York: Routledge.

Reder, S. (2010) Adult Literacy Development and Economic Growth, Washington DC: National Institute for Literacy.

Reeve, J., Bolt, E., and Cai, Y. (1999) Autonomy-supportive teachers: How they teach and motivate students. Journal of Educational Psychology, 91, 537-548.

Resnick, L. (1982) Syntax and semantics in learning to subtract. In T. Carpenter, J. Moser, and T. Romberg (Eds.), Addition and subtraction: A cognitive perspective (pp.136–155). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

Rhys Warner, J. and Vorhaus, J. with Appleby, Y., Bathmaker, A., Brooks, G., Cole, P., Pilling, M. and Pearce, L. (2008) The Learner Study: The impact of the Skills for Life strategy on adult literacy, language and numeracy learners. London: NRDC.

Rice, M. and Brooks, G. (2004) Developmental dyslexia in adults: a research review. London: NRDC.

Rich, R. and Shepherd, M.J. (1993) Teaching text comprehension strategies to adult poor readers. Reading and Writing, 5: pp. 387-402.

Roberts, R.E. and Cheek, E.H. (1994) Group intervention and reading performance in a medium-security prison facility. Journal of Offender Rehabilitation, 20: pp. 97-116.

Rodgers, B. (1986) Change in the reading attainment of adults: a longitudinal study. British Journal of Developmental Psychology, 4(1), 1–17.

Rodriguez-Brown, F. (2004) Project FLAME: a parent support family literacy model. In: WASIK, B.H. (ed.) Handbook of Family Literacy. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Rowan, B., Chiang, F. and Miller, R. J. (1997) Using research on employees' performance to study the effects of teachers on students' achievement. Sociology of Education, 70 (October), pp. 256–284.

Rowan, B., Correnti, R. and Miller, R.J. (2002) What large-scale, survey research tells us about teacher effects on student achievement: Insights from the Prospects study of elementary schools. The Teachers College Record, vol. 104, no. 8, December, pp. 1525–1567 (43).

Ruthven, K. and Hennessy, S. (2002) A Practitioner Model of the Use of Computer-Based Tools and Resources to Support Mathematics Teaching and Learning. Educational Studies in Mathematics, Vol. 49 (1), pp. 47-88.

Ryan, R.M. and Grolnick W.S. (1986) Origins and pawns in the classroom: self-report and projective assessments of individual differences in children's perceptions. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 50, 550-558.

Sabatini, J.P. (2002) Efficiency in word reading of adults: ability group comparisons. Scientific Studies of Reading, 6(3): pp. 267-299.

Sabatini, J.P., Daniels, M., Ginsburg, L., Limuel, K., Russell, M. and Stites, R. (2000) Teacher perspectives on the adult education profession: national survey findings about an emerging profession. Menlo Park, CA: SRI International; Philadelphia, PA: National Center on Adult Literacy. (ED 446 230).

Salomon, M. (2009) "Workplace Literacy and Essential Skills. What Works? And Why?." Montreal, Quebec: The Centre for Literacy of Quebec.

Sanders, W. L. and Rivers, J. C. (1996) Cumulative and residual effects of teachers on future student academic achievement. Knoxville, TN: University of Tennessee Value-Added Research and Assessment Center.

School Curriculum and Assessment Authority (1997) Literacy and Numeracy in the workplace. Np: np.

Schrum, H.E. (1985) A modified instructional strategy for accelerative and mastery learning of basic arithmetic by male incarcerated adults. USA: California.

Schuller, T., Preston, J Hammond, C Brassett-Grundy, A and Bynner, J (2004) The benefits of learning: the impact of education on health, family life and social capital. London: RoutledgeFalmer.

Schuller, T. (2009) 'Crime and lifelong learning' (Inquiry into the Future for Lifelong Learning, thematic paper 5, Leicester: NIACE.

Scottish Executive (2001) Adult Literacy in the labour market: a literature review. Edinburgh: The Stationery Office.

Shameem, N., Mcdermott, K., Blaker, J. M., and Carryer, J. (2002) Through language to literacy: A report on the literacy gains of low-level and pre-literate adult ESOL learners in literacy classes. Auckland, New Zealand: UNITEC Institute of Technology, Auckland University of Technology, ESOL Home Tutor Service.

Sheehan-Holt, J.K. and Smith, M.C. (2000) Does basic skills education affect adults' literacy proficiencies and reading practices?, Reading Research Quarterly, 35, 226-243.

Silles, M.A, (2007) 'Adult Education and Earnings: Evidence from Britain' in Bulletin of Economic Research, (59:4), pp. 313-326.

Silver-Pacuila, H. (2008) Investigating the Language and Literacy Skills Required for Independent Online Learning, Washington DC: National Institute for Literacy.

Skinner, S.M. (2007) Family Learning Insight. Cardiff: Welsh Assembly Government.

Snape, D., Bell, A. and Jones, A. (2004) Pathways in Adult Learning (PALS) 2003. Research Report 559. London: Department for Education and Skills.

Snow, C. and Strucker, J. (2000) Lessons from Preventing Reading Difficulties in Young Children for Adult Learning and Literacy. In J. Comings, B. Garner and C. Smith (Eds.), The Annual Review of Adult Learning and Literacy (Vol. 1, pp. 25-73). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Snyer, I., Jones, A. and Lo-Bianco, J. (2005) Using ICT in adult literacy education: guidelines for reform. Literacy and Numeracy Studies, 14 (1), pp. 17-32.

Speckesser, S. and Bewley, H. (2006) The longer term outcomes of Work-Based Learning for Adults: evidence from administrative data. DWP Research Report, 390. London: Department for Work and Pensions.

Spilsbury, D. (2002) Learning and Training at Work 2001, DfES Research Report RR334. London: Department for Education and Skills.

- St Clair, R. (2006) Looking to Learn: Understanding the motivations to learn and the barriers faced by adults wishing to undertake part-time study. Edinburgh: Scottish Executive Enterprise and Lifelong Learning.
- St. Clair, R., Tett, L, and Maclachlan, K. (2010) Scottish Survey of Adult Literacies 2009: Report of Findings. Glasgow: Scottish Government.
- St. Pierre, R.G., Swartz, J.P., Gamse, B., Murray, S., Deck, D., and Nickel, P. (1995) National evaluation of the Even Start Family Literacy Program: Final report (Research report). Cambridge, MA: Abt Associates Inc.
- St. Pierre, R.G., Swartz, J., Gamse, B., Murray, S., Deck, D., and Nickel, P. (2003) Experimental research design study of the Even Start Family Literacy Program: final report. Cambridge, Mass.: Abt Associates Inc.
- Stanley, K., Asta Lohde, L. and White, S. (2004) Sanctions and sweeteners: rights and responsibilities in the benefits system. London: Institute for Public Policy Research.
- Stewart, B., and Waight, C. (2008) E-Learning Teams and Their Adult Learning Efforts in Corporate Settings: A Cross Analysis of Four Case Studies. International Journal on E-Learning, 7(2), pp. 293-309.
- Stich, T.G. and Armstrong, W.B. (1994) 'Adult Literacy in the United States: a Compendium of Quantitative Data and Interpretive Comments'. San Diego, CA: Applied Behavioral and Cognitive Sciences Inc and San Diego Community College District.
- Sticht, T.G. (1999) "Adult Basic Education: Strategies to Increase Returns on Investment (ROI)." Paper. El Cajon, California: Applied Behavioral and Cognitive Sciences Inc.
- Sticht, T.G. (2000) "The Adult Education and Literacy System (AELS) in the United States: Moving From the Margins to the Mainstream of Education." Paper. El Cajon, California: Applied Behavioral and Cognitive Sciences Inc.
- Sticht, T.G. (2001) Reforming Adult Literacy Education: Transforming Local Programs into National Systems in Canada, the United Kingdom and the United States. Available online: http://www.nald.ca/fulltext/sticht/reformin/cover.htm.
- Sticht, T.G. (2005) 'ALL wrong again! Can adult literacy assessments be fixed?' Available online: www.nald.ca/whetnew/hnews2005/murray.htm.
- Sticht, T.G. (2006) "Toward a Multiple Life Cycles Education Policy: Investing in the Education of Adults to Improve the Educability of Children." Paper prepared for presentation at the National Center for Family Literacy Annual Conference (4 March 4 2007), Orlando, Florida.

Sticht, T.G. (2007) "Improving Family Literacy By Increasing Investments in Adult Literacy Education. Moving From a One Life Cycle to a Multiple Life Cycles Education Policy." Paper. El Cajon, California: Applied Behavioral and Cognitive Sciences Inc.

Strawn, C. (2005) 'Social capital influences on lifelong learning'. In: J. Gallacher et al. (eds) Proceedings of the 3rd CRLL conference, pp. 550–58.

Swain, J., Baker, E., Holder, D., Newmarch, B. and Coben, D. (2005) 'Beyond the daily application': making numeracy teaching meaningful to adult learners. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Swain, J. and Swan, M. (2007) Thinking Through Mathematics: Research Report. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Swain, J., Welby, S., Brooks, G., Bosley, S., Frumkin, L., Fairfax-Cholmeley, K., Perez, Alegria and Cara, O. (2009) Learning literacy together: the impact and effectiveness of family literacy on parents, children, families and schools. Executive summary. London: NRDC/ Learning and Skills Improvement Service.

Swain, J.M. and Cara, O. (2010) Skills for life teachers' career pathways in the learning and skills sector, 2004-2007: part-time jobs for part-time workers, Journal of Vocational Education and Training, 62 (3), 257- 271.

Taylor, M., Evans, K. and Mohamed, A. (2007) The interplay between formal and informal training for basic-level workers: comparing experiences in Canada and the United Kingdom. Paper presented at the Joint International Conference of the Adult Education Research and the Canadian Association for the Study of Adult Education, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada. Available at:

http://www.oise.utoronto.ca/CASAE/cnf2007/Proceedings-2007/AERC%20CASAE%20Taylor%20Evans%20Mohamed-2007.pdf.

Taylor, S., MacLeod, D., Houghton, N., Zwart, R. and Sachdev, D. (2005) A systematic review of effective strategies to widen adult participation in learning. In: Research Evidence in Education Library. London: EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London.

Temple, C., and Posner, M. I. (1998) Brain mechanisms of quantity are similar in 5-year-old children and adults. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 95, 7836–7841.

Terry, M. (2006) Making a difference in learners' lives: results of a study based on adult literacy programs. Adult Basic Education, 16 (1), pp. 3-19.

Tett, L., Hall, S., Maclachlan, K., Thorpe, G., Edwards, V. and Garside, L. (2006) Evaluation of the Scottish Adult Literacy and Numeracy (ALN) Strategy - Final Report. Edinburgh: Scottish Executive.

Tett, L. and Maclachlan, K. (2007). Adult Literacy and Numeracy, Social Capital, Learner Identities and Self-Confidence. Studies in the Education of Adults, 39(2), pp. 150-67.

Tomoana, J. and Heinrich, J. (2004) Demand-side factors in adult foundation learning programmes: a review of the international literature completed for the Department of Labour. Wellington: New Zealand Department of Labour.

Torgerson, C., Porthouse, J. and Brooks, G. (2003) 'A systematic review and metaanalysis of randomised controlled trials evaluating interventions in adult literacy and numeracy.' Journal of Research in Reading, 26, 3, 234-55.

Torgerson, C., Brooks, G., Porthouse, J., Burton, M., Robinson, A., Wright., K. and Watt, I. (2004) Adult literacy and numeracy interventions and outcomes: a review of controlled trials. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Traxler, J. (2004) Mobile learning - evaluating the effectiveness and the cost. In Attewell, J. and Savill-Smith, C. (eds.) Learning with mobile devices: research and development. London: Learning and Skills Development Agency: pp. 183-188.

Tusting, K. and Barton, D. (2003) Models of adult learning: a literature review. London: National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy.

Tyers, C., Aston, J., Barkworth, R., Willison, R. and Taylor, J. (2003) Evaluation of Adult Guidance Pilots. London: Department for Education and Skills.

Tyler, J., Murnane, R. and Willett, J. (2000) Estimating the Labor Market Signalling Value of the GED. Quarterly Journal of Economics, 115(2), pp. 431-68.

Tyler, J. (2004) Does the GED Improve Earnings? Industrial and Labor Relations Review, 57 (4), pp. 579-98(2004a) Basic skills and the earnings of dropouts. Economics of Education Review 23, 221-235.

Tyler, J. (2004b) Does the GED Improve Earnings? Industrial and Labor Relations Review, 57 (4), pp. 579-98.

Ufi/learndirect (2010) Ufi/learndirect response to the NIACE Review of Adult Numeracy. Sheffield: Ufi/ learndirect.

UK Commission For Employment and Skills (2009a) Ambition 2020: World Class Skills and Jobs for the UK. UKCES: London.

UK Commission For Employment and Skills (2009b) Employee Demand for Skills: A Review of Evidence and Policy. London: UKCES.

UK Commission For Employment and Skills (2009c) The Employability Challenge. Wath-upon-Dearne: UKCES.

Utting, D. and Vennard, J. (2000) What Works With Young Offenders in the Community? Ilford: Barnardos.

Vignoles, A., Galinda-Rueda, F. and Feinstein, L. (2004) 'The Labour Market Impact of Adult Education and Training: A Cohort Analysis.' Scottish Journal of Political Economy, (51:2), pp. 266-280.

Vignoles, A.F., De Coulon, A. and Marcenaro-Gutierrez, O. (2008) The Value of Basic Skills in the British Labour Market: Research Report. London: NRDC.

Ward, J. (2003) Learners' voices: literacy and numeracy. Learning and Skills Research, 6(2): pp. 38.

Warschauer. M, and Liaw., M-L (2010) Emerging Technologies in Adult Literacy and Language Education, Washington DC: National Institute for Literacy.

Webb, S. (2006) 'Can ICT reduce social exclusion? The case of an adults' English language learning programme', British Educational Research Journal, 32, 3, p. 481-507.

Wedege, T. and Evans, J. (2006) Adults' resistance to learn in school versus adults' competences in work: the case of mathematics. Adults Learning Mathematics: an International Journal, 1(2), 28-43.

Welsh Assembly Government (2005) Basic Skills Strategy for Wales- 'Words Talk – Numbers Count.

Welsh Assembly Government (2008) Basic Skills Capacity in Wales: Provider and Learner Perceptions.

Westell, T. (2005) Measuring Non-Academic Outcomes in Adult Literacy Programs: A Literature Review. Toronto, Ontario.

White, M. (2003) Evaluation of Adult Basic Skills Pathfinder Extension Activities: an Overview. London: DfES, DfES Research Report 436.

Williams, J., With Clemens, S., Oleinikova, K., and Tarvin, K. (2003) The Skills for Life survey: A national needs and impact survey of literacy, numeracy and ICT skills. Norwich, UK: The Stationery Office.

Wolf, A. (2002) Does Education Matter? Myths about education and economic growth. London: Penguin.

Wolf, A. (2008) Adult Learning in the Workplace: Creating Formal Provision with Impact, Teaching and Learning Research Briefing No. 59. London: ESRC, Teaching and Learning Research Briefing No. 59.

Wolf, A., Evans, K., Aspin, L., Jenkins, A., Waite, E., Ananiadou, K., Derrick, J. and Southwood, S. (2008) Adult Learning in the Workplace: Creating Formal Provision with Impact, Teaching and Learning Research Briefing 59. London: TLRP.

Wolf, A., Evans, K. and Bynner, J. (2009) Enhancing 'Skills for Life': Adult Basic Skills and Workplace Learning. Swindon: ESRC.

Wolf, A., Aspin, L., Waite, E. and Ananiadou, K. (2010) 'The rise and fall of workplace basic skills programmes: lessons for policy and practice' Oxford Review of Education, 36 (4), pp. 385-405.

Wolf, A. (2011) Review of Vocational Education - The Wolf Report. London.

Wolf, A. and Evans, K. (2011) Improving literacy at work. London: Routledge.

Wrigley, H. S. (2003) What works for adult ESL students. Focus on Basics, 6(C): pp. 1-6.

Wynn, K. (1992) Addition and subtraction by human infants. Nature, 358, 749–750.

Yaffe, D. and Williams, C. L. (1998) Why women chose to participate in a family literacy program and factors that contributed to the program's success. Journal of Adolescent and Adult Literacy, 42(1): p. 8.

Zeidenberg, M., Cho,. Sung-Woo, Jenkins., D (2010) Washington State's Integrated Basic Education and Skills Training Program (I-BEST): New Evidence of Effectiveness, New York: Columbia University.

Zuckerman, M., Porac, J., Lathin, D., Smith, R., and Deci, E. L. (1978) On the importance of self-determination for intrinsically motivated behavior. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 4, 443-446.

Annex B: Detailed methodology

- B.1 This annex describes in detail the methodology used to carry out this Rapid Review. The Rapid Review was carried out in three steps:
- conducting bibliographical searches and retrieving documents
- populating the Rapid Review templates
- analysing the review templates and drafting the report.

Step 1: conducting bibliographical searches and retrieving documents

- B.2 The first stage, the bibliographic searches, was carried out by the NFER Centre for Information and Reviews. A search strategy was devised by NFER, in collaboration with SQW and NRDC, to identify literature on adult literacy and numeracy evaluation and research. This involved the NFER's information specialists matching database keywords to all the research questions and agreeing the search strategy with the review team at SQW and NRDC. The keywords comprised sets which were devised to cover concepts for each of the six themes of the review.
- B.3 The precise search strategies used with each of the bibliographic databases (in terms of the keywords used and, in some cases, the combinations of keywords) are specified in detail at the end of this annex. The search strategy for each database reflects the differences in database structure and vocabulary. Smaller sets of keywords were used in the more specialist databases. In addition, a set of terms was devised to define the 'population' of interest to the review. This population set was used as an exclusion criterion and was incorporated into all the searches.

Population set – exclusion criteria

Preschool education, nursery school education, nursery school pupils, early childhood education, infant school education, infant school pupils, primary education, primary secondary education, primary school pupils, middle school education, middle schools, intermediate grades, junior high schools, high schools, secondary education, secondary school pupils, sixth form education, sixteen to nineteen education, infants, children, young children, preschool children, early adolescents and adolescents.

- B.4 The search used three types of search source to ensure thorough coverage of the evidence base:
- a range of general bibliographic databases
- websites of key organisations

- publication and references lists of subject experts and earlier literature reviews.
- B.5 All bibliographic database searches were limited to publication years 2004-2011. The one exception to this was the British Education Index on which a trial search was carried out. This trial search covered the period 2000-2011 and produced a volume of hits that was so high that the decision was taken to limit the start date on other sources to 2004 in reflection of the resources available for the review. This year was chosen so that literature published as a result of the International Adult Literacy and Lifeskills Survey would be retrieved. To complement this, the Expert Panel members were asked to identify significant publications between 2000 and 2004 so that the search covered the entire period agreed with BIS. In practice, the Expert Panel members also identified significant sources from before 2000 as well.
- B.6 The bibliographic databases and organisations' websites that were included are listed in Tables B-1 and B-2. It was decided in the course of the project to substitute two of the databases that were initially proposed ASSIA and Social Care Online which were replaced with economics sources in order to better facilitate the identification of documents pertaining to the research questions on the cost-effectiveness and efficiency of adult learning provision. In addition, the list of websites initially identified was supplemented by suggestions from the review team. These websites were searched on main keywords and/or the publications/research/policy sections of each website were browsed, as appropriate.

Table B-1: The bibliographic databases included in the search strategy		
Database	Description	Search details
Australian Education Index (AEI)	AEI is Australia's largest source of education information covering reports, books, journal articles, online resources, conference papers and book chapters.	searched via Dialog Datastar 16/03/11
British Education Index (BEI)	BEI provides information on research, policy and practice in education and training in the UK. Sources include over 300 journals, mostly published in the UK, plus other material including reports, series and conference papers.	searched via Dialog Datastar 04/03/11
British Education Index Free Collections	The free collections search interface of the British Education Index (BEI) (formerly the British Education Internet Resource Catalogue) includes access to a range of freely available internet	searched 17/03/11

Table B-1: The bibliographic databases included in the search strategy			
Database	Description	Search details	
	resources as well as records for the most recently indexed journal articles not yet included in the full BEI subscription database.		
Education Resources Information Center (ERIC)	ERIC is sponsored by the United States Department of Education and is the largest education database in the world. Coverage includes research documents, journal articles, technical reports, program descriptions and evaluations and curricula material.	searched via Dialog Datastar 15/03/11	
Elsevier Economics and Finance	Elsevier is the world's leading publisher of science and health information.	searched via Elsevier 14/03/11	
Emerald	Emerald is a long established publisher with over 200 titles in the fields of management, information science and engineering.	searched via Emerald 14/03/11	
Oxford Economic Papers	Oxford Economic Papers is a general journal publishing papers in a wide range of areas in theoretical and applied economics.	searched via Oxford Journals 14/03/11	
PsycINFO	PsycINFO contains references to the psychological literature including articles from over 1,300 journals in psychology and related fields, chapters and books, dissertations and technical reports.	searched via Ovid SP 17/03/11	
Social Policy and Practice	Social Policy and Practice is a bibliographic database with abstracts covering evidence-based social policy, public health, social services, and mental and	searched via Ovid SP 17/03/11	

Table B-1: The bibliographic databases included in the search strategy		
Database	Description	Search details
	community health. Content is from the UK with some material from the USA and Europe. Searches were carried out across the descriptors, heading word, title and abstract fields, to enable retrieval of terms both as keywords and free text.	
Social Science Research Network (SSRN)	Social Science Research Network (SSRN) is devoted to the rapid worldwide dissemination of social science research and is composed of a number of specialized research networks in each of the social sciences.	searched via SSRN 11/03/11

Source: NFER

Table B-2: The websites included in the search strategy		
Organisation	URL	
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS)	http://www.bis.gov.uk/	
Confederation of British Industries (CBI)	http://www.cbi.org.uk/	
CfBT	http://www.cfbt.com/	
Department for Education (DfE)	http://www.education.gov.uk/	
Excellence Gateway	http://www.excellencegateway.org.uk/	
IDeA (now LG Improvement and Development)	http://www.idea.gov.uk/	
International Labour Organisation (ILO)	http://www.ilo.org/	
National Audit Office (NAO)	http://www.nao.org.uk/	

Table B-2: The websites included in the search strategy		
Organisation	URL	
National Literacy Trust	http://www.literacytrust.org.uk/	
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)	http://www.oecd.org/	
Scottish Government	http://www.scotland.gov.uk/	
Trades Union Congress (TUC)	http://www.tuc.org.uk/	
United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO)	http://www.unesco.org.uk/	
US Commission for Skills	http://www.skillscommission.org/	
US Office of Management and Budget	http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/	
World Bank	http://www.worldbank.org/	

Source: NFER

- B.7 The results of the search strategy are shown in Tables B-3 and B-4. Three of the bibliographic databases produced more than 1,000 items, including more than 4,000 in the case of the Education Resources Information Center (ERIC). The NFER information specialists then carried out a manual review of these search results and selected shorter lists of items for consideration by the SQW and NRDC review team. The basis for selection was the relevance of the items to the research questions and pertinence to one or more of the four cross-cutting considerations.
- B.8 Based on these short-listed results, the SQW/NRDC review team created a database of unique source references. The review team then graded the importance of each source (none, low, medium, high) for the purposes of the review. The Expert Panel members were then asked to review the list of high priority items suggesting additions or deletions as appropriate. In addition, relevant sources were also identified by members of the SQW/NRDC review team and also through citations in the reviews that were included in this Rapid Review. The following lists the numbers of high priority items identified in these ways:
- expert panel members 19
- review team members 45
- cited in a review 83 (including 53 which were not identified elsewhere).
- B.9 The final list included 175 high priority items, drawing on a database of over 1,600 unique items. In the case of a portion of these sources, the review team relied

upon the summaries or syntheses that had been carried out for earlier literature reviews.

Table B-3: Items found and selected from the bibliographic database searches **Database** Items found Items selected **Items** by NFER for identified as consideration high priority for this review Australian Education Index 2109 291 5 (AEI) 1661 38 British Education Index (BEI) 405 **Education Resources** 4365 376 16 Information Center (ERIC) **PsycINFO** 10 9 0 Social Policy and Practice 36 13 2 British Education Index Free 7 7 0 Collections Elsevier Economics and 331 8 0 Finance Emerald 230 11 0 3 3 Oxford Economic Papers 58 Social Science Research 123 29 2 Network (SSRN)

Source: NFER and SQW

Table B-4: Items found and selected from the websites of key organisations		
Organisation	Items selected by NFER for consideration	Items identified as high priority for this review
Department for Business, Innovation and	7	2

Table B-4: Items found and selected from the websites of key organisations		
Organisation	Items selected by NFER for consideration	Items identified as high priority for this review
Skills (BIS)		
Confederation of British Industries (CBI)	15	0
CfBT	6	4
Department for Education (DfE)	42	11
Excellence Gateway	24	1
IDeA (now LG Improvement and Development)	10	0
International Labour Organisation (ILO)	32	2
National Audit Office (NAO)	8	4
National Literacy Trust	6	1
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)	14	1
Scottish Government	20	2
Trades Union Congress (TUC)	8	1
United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO)	1	0
US Commission for Skills	7	0
US Office of Management and Budget	1	0
World Bank	10	1

Source: NFER and SQW

Step 2: populating the Rapid Review templates

- B.10 The literature review itself, the second stage, involved a small team of reviewers reviewing the sources and completing a template for each source. A copy of the template is presented in Table B-5. The templates were completed and then stored using QSR NVivo qualitative research software, which was also used at the analysis and report writing stage. The template captured basic information about each source, including the full bibliographic reference, the abstract, key research questions and research methods and sources of evidence. The core of the template was used by the reviewers to record all findings relating to any of the six themes of the study, including the sub-themes under 'quality and effectiveness of provision' and 'learning outcomes'. After each thematic section of the template, there was also space for adding 'significant citations', where the reviewer recorded the full bibliographic reference for any significant findings drawn from another source.
- B.11 In addition to capturing the findings against the six themes (what literacy and numeracy skills are needed, quality and effectiveness of provision, etc), the reviewers also identified where those findings pertained to one or more of the four cross-cutting 'considerations' that BIS required the review and recommendations to take account of. These considerations were:
- workplace vs non-workplace provision
- meeting the needs of 'hard-to-reach' learners
- the difference between literacy and numeracy
- cost-effective, outcome-based approaches to skills provision (any evidence of approaches that are demonstrably cost-effective).
- B.12 These were captured by using the coding functionality within NVivo to code any appropriate text to one or more of the four cross-cutting considerations.

Table B-5: A copy of the template used to capture information on each source for the Rapid Review		
Template section	Required contents of each section	
Full bibliographic reference	Use the Harvard referencing system.	
Abstract or summary	Where an abstract is provided, simply copy and paste it here. Otherwise provide a short summary of the source.	
Reviewer / Date of review		
Reason for rejection	If, when reviewing the source, the	

Table B-5: A copy of the template used to capture information on each source for the Rapid Review		
Template section	Required contents of each section	
	reviewer decides that the source is not relevant, s/he should explain the reason for this decision. Otherwise this should be left blank.	
Glossary	All acronyms used within the template and their expanded versions.	
Key research questions	i.e. those addressed by the source.	
Research methods and sources of evidence	If primary research specify quantitative, qualitative or mixed methods. If secondary research specify data source (e.g. LFS) or published source (e.g. lit. review). Identify the research methods used, e.g. RCT, (non RCT) experimental study, quasi-experimental study, case study, ethnographic study, grounded theory study. Where relevant, specify: • sample and population • whether or not causality is claimed. State if any of these details are absent.	
What literacy and numeracy skills are needed	What literacy and numeracy skills are most needed / demanded by learners, employers and society (to support progression, employability, improved productivity and civic participation)?	
Significant citations – skills	Significant citations from which the findings above are derived. The full citation should be given.	
Quality and effectiveness of provision - adult learning - teaching - quality - effectiveness	What does the research tell us about current provision in terms of the amount and quality of teaching that takes place, the motivation of learners and the link to expected benefits / outcomes?	

Table B-5: A copy of the template used to capture information on each source for the Rapid Review		
Template section	Required contents of each section	
efficiencymotivationtechnologyother and cross-cutting	What do we know about the most effective and efficient modes and models of engaging learners and delivering literacy and numeracy provision?	
	What are the most effective pedagogical approaches and how have they been applied through different delivery models?	
	What is the available evidence on the use of technology to deliver literacy and numeracy provision? To what extent is it currently used? Which types of learners use it? What is the relative effectiveness of different approaches?	
	Where possible, the findings should be placed under one of the following headings: adult learning; teaching; quality; effectiveness; efficiency; motivation; technology. Otherwise please place findings under the 'other and crosscutting' heading.	
Significant citations - provision	Significant citations from which the findings above are derived. The full bibliographic reference should be given.	
	What does the evidence tell us about the number of learning hours needed for skills gain?	
Number of learning hours	To what extent does own-time learning impact on the length of courses and the outcomes? What do we know about current practice and expectation in terms of the balance between guided (tutored) learning and own-time learning?	
Significant citations – learning hours	Significant citations from which the findings above are derived. The full citation should be given	
Learning outcomes - economic	What are the economic, personal (including progression) and social returns	

Table B-5: A copy of the template used to capture information on each source for the Rapid Review		
Template section	Required contents of each section	
- personal - social - other and cross-cutting	of improving adults' literacy and numeracy skills and how can we improve our evidence base in this area?	
	Where possible, findings should be separated for economic, personal and social returns. Otherwise please place findings under the 'other and crosscutting' heading.	
	Where do positive outcomes occur and why do they occur? (i.e. the link between the features of provision and the outcome, and how we can improve outcomes. Economic and personal outcomes include getting a job, sustaining employment, progressing in employment, wage returns, increasing productivity.)	
Significant citations - outcomes	Significant citations from which the findings above are derived. The full citation should be given.	
Skills acquisition and retention / loss over time	What does the research tell us about retention rates, why skills loss occurs and what can and has been done to reduce it?	
Significant citations - retention	Significant citations from which the findings above are derived. The full citation should be given.	
Persistence in literacy and numeracy learning	What does the research tell us about the current culture and practice relating to learner persistence and the most effective ways to keep people in learning for long enough to make significant progress?	
Significant citations - persistence	Significant citations from which the findings above are derived. The full citation should be given.	

Step 3: analysing the review templates and drafting the report.

B.13 The third stage of the Rapid Review entailed reviewing the review templates, from which the review team then drafted the findings sections of this Rapid Review. This analysis was carried out by a four person team from SQW and NRDC: Michael Frearson and Stuart Johnson from SQW and John Vorhaus and Jennifer Litster from NRDC. Members of the Expert Panel were also asked to comment on an early draft of the review.

Keywords used for each bibliographic database

B.14 Below we present the precise search strategies used with each of the bibliographic databases in terms of the keywords used and, in some cases, the combinations of keywords. The search strategy for each database reflects the differences in database structure and vocabulary. Smaller sets of keywords were used in the more specialist databases. Throughout, the abbreviation 'ft' denotes that a free-text search term was used, the symbol \$ denotes truncation of terms and the symbol ? is used as a wildcard to accommodate variant spellings. NEAR finds words within a five-word range either before or after the first search term. Ti, Ab restricts the search terms so that they are only found in the title and abstract fields. Terms were not automatically 'exploded' to search on all narrower terms in those databases offering this facility. However, wherever possible, narrower terms were included in the search string.

Australian Education Index (AEI)

Skills set

- #1 Adult basic skills
- #2 Adult literacy
- #3 Adult numeracy (ft)
- #4 Adult literacy and numeracy (ft)
- #5 Adult literacy numeracy (ft)
- #6 Adult literacy language
- #7 ALAN. Ti, Ab
- #8 ALLN (ft)
- #9 ALNE (ft)
- #10 Basic skills
- #11 Communication skills
- #12 Core skills (ft)
- #13 Essential skills (ft)
- #14 Foundation skills (ft)
- #15 Functional literacy
- #16 Functional reading
- #17 Functional English (ft)
- #18 Functional numeracy (ft)
- #19 Functional mathematics (ft)
- #20 Key competences (ft)
- #21 Literacy
- #22 Literacy skills (ft)

- #23 Mathematics skills
- #24 Numeracy
- #25 Numeracy skills (ft)
- #26 Oracy (ft)
- #27 Reading skills (ft)
- #28 Study skills
- #29 Upskilling (ft)
- #30 Workplace based literacy (ft)
- #31 Workplace based numeracy (ft)
- #32 Workplace based skills (ft)
- #33 Writing skills
- #34 #1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 or #7 or #8 or #9 or #10 or #11 or #12 or #13 or #14 or #15 or #16 or #17 or #18 or #19 or #20 or #21 or #22 or #23 or #24 or #25 or #26 or #27 or #28 or #29 or #30 or #31 or #32 or #33

People requiring the skills set

- #35 Adult learners (ft)
- #36 Adults
- #37 Businesses (ft)
- #38 Disabilities
- #39 Disaffected (ft)
- #40 Disengaged (ft)
- #41 Early school leavers (ft)
- #42 Employers
- #43 Employees
- #44 Hard to reach learners (ft)
- #45 Individuals (ft)
- #46 Job applicants
- #47 Job seekers (ft)
- #48 Labo?r market
- #49 Learners (ft)
- #50 Learning difficulties (ft)
- #51 Learning disabilities (ft)
- #52 NEET\$ or 'not in education, employment or training' (ft)
- #53 Education employment near training
- #54 Offenders (ft)
- #55 Social partners (ft)
- #56 Society (ft)
- #57 Special educational needs (ft)
- #58 Unemployed (ft)
- #59 Unions
- #60 #35 or #36 or #37 or #38 or #39 or #40 or #41 or #42 or #43 or #44 or #45 or #46 or #47 or #48 or #49 or #50 or #51 or #52 or #53 or #54 or #55 or #56 or #57 or #58 or #59
- #61 #34 and #60

Adult learning set

- #62 Adult and community education (ft)
- #63 Adult basic education
- #64 Adult education
- #65 Adult education curriculum
- #66 Adult learning

```
#67
      Adult learners (ft)
#68
      Adult secondary education (ft)
#69
      Basic skills training (ft)
#70
      Blended learning (ft)
#71
      Community learning and development (ft)
#72
      Community education
#73
      Embedded learning (ft)
#74
      Family learning (ft)
#75
      Family literacy language (ft)
#76
      FLLN
#77
      Flexible learning (ft)
#78
      Further education
#79
      General educational development (ft)
#80
      GED (ft)
#81
      GED program?s (ft)
#82
      Lifelong learning
#83
      Literacy education
#84
      Literacy program?s (ft)
#85
      Second chance education (ft)
#86
      Skills for Life (ft)
#87
      Train near Gain (ft)
#88
      Union learning (ft)
#89
      Vocational education
#90
      Workplace learning (ft)
#91
      Work based learning (ft)
#92
      #62 or #63 or #64 or #65 or #66 or #67 or #68 or #69 or #70 or #71 or #72 or #73 or
      #74 or #75 or #76 or #77 or #78 or #79 or #80 or #81 or #82 or #83 or #84 or #85 or
      #86 or #87 or #88 or #89 or #90 or #91
#93
      (#34 and #92) not #60
Teaching set
#94
      Adult education teachers (ft)
#95
      Adult educators
#96
      Adult literacy tutors
#97
      Delivery systems
#98
      Delivery models (ft)
#99
      Distance education
#100 Educational methods
#101 FE teachers(ft)
#102 FE trainers(ft)
#103 Informal learning (ft)
#104 Nonformal education
#105 Nontraditional education
#106 Instructional design
#107 Instructional methods (ft)
#108 Off the job training
#109 On the job training
#110 Pedagogy (ft)
```

#111 Teaching process #112 Teaching methods

```
#113 #94 or #95 or #96 or #97 or #98 or #99 or #100 or #101 or #102 or #103 or #104 or
      #105 or #106 or #107 or #108 or #109 or #110 or #111 or #112
#114 (#34 and #113) not (#60 or #92)
Quality set
#115 Assessment
#116 Continuing professional development (ft)
#117 CPD (ft)
#118 Costs
#119 Educational quality
#120 Initial teacher training (ft)
#121 Preservice teacher education
#122 Teacher qualifications
#123 Teacher quality (ft)
#124 Teaching quality (ft)
#125 Teacher mobility
#126 Teacher turnover (ft)
#127 #115 or #116 or #117 or #118 or #119 or #120 or #121 or #122 or #123 or #124 or
      #125 or #126
#128 (#34 and #127) not (#60 or #92 or #113)
Effectiveness set
#129 Achievement rate (ft)
#130 Effective approach$ (ft)
#131 Evaluation
#132 Impact
#133 Success rate (ft)
#134 Teacher effectiveness
#135 #129 or #130 or #131 or #132 or #133 or #134
#136 (#34 and #135) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127)
Efficiency set
#137 Cost analysis (ft)
#138 Cost benefit analysis (ft)
#139 Cost effectiveness
#140 Educational economics
#141 #137 or #138 or #139 or #140
#142 (#34 and #141) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135)
Motivation set
#143 Aspiration
#144 Individual learning accounts (ft)
#145 ILA (ft)
#146 Learner aims (ft)
#147 Learning aims (ft)
#148 Learner educational objectives
#149 Learner goals (ft)
#150 Learning goals (ft)
#151 Motivation
#152 Learning motivation
#153 Learner motivation (ft)
#154 Learner support (ft)
```

#155 Learning support (ft)

```
#156 Self motivation
#157 Sponsors (ft)
#158 #143 or #144 or #145 or #146 or #147 or #148 or #149 or #150 or #151 or #152 or
      #153 or #154 or #155 or #156 or #157
#159 (#34 and #158) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141)
Technology set
#160 Computer assisted learning (ft)
#161 Computer assisted teaching (ft)
#162 Computer mediated communication
#163 Computers
#164 Distance learning (ft)
#165 E learning (ft)
#166 ICT
#167 Information technology
#168 Information and communication technology (ft)
#169 Independent learning (ft)
#170 Internet
#171 Internet learning (ft)
#172 Learning technology (ft)
#173 M learning (ft)
#174 Mobile learning (ft)
#175 Online learning (ft)
#176 Video conferencing (ft)
#177 Virtual learning environment$ (ft)
#178 VLE (ft)
#179 Web 1(ft)
#180 Web 2 (ft)
#181 Web 3 (ft)
#182 #160 or #161 or #162 or #163 or #164 or #165 or #166 or #167 or #168 or #169 or
      #170 or #171 or #172 or #173 or #174 or #175 or #176 or #177 or #178 or #179 or
      #180 or #181
#183 (#34 and #182) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141 or #158)
Learning hours set
#184 Attention span
#185 Engaged time (ft)
#186 Flexible progression
#187 Guided learning hours (ft)
#188 Home study
#189 Independent study
#190 Instruction hours (ft)
#191 Intensive courses (ft)
#192 Learning time (ft)
#193 Own time learning (ft)
#194 Self paced courses (ft)
#195 Self study (ft)
#196 Study time (ft)
#197 Supported self study (ft)
#198 Time factors (learning)
#199 Time off task (ft)
#200 Time on task
```

- #201 Tutored learning
- #202 #184 or #185 or #186 or #187 or #188 or #189 or #190 or #191 or #192 or #193 or #194 or #195 or #196 or #197 or #198 or #199 or #200 or #201
- #203 (#34 and #202) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141 or #158 or #182)

Learning outcomes set

- #204 Absenteeism
- #205 Benefit\$
- #206 Confidence
- #207 Earnings (ft)
- #208 Educational benefits
- #209 Educational mobility
- #210 Educational outcomes (ft)
- #211 Employability (ft)
- #212 Employee productivity (ft)
- #213 Employment
- #214 Employment level
- #215 Employment potential
- #216 Employment status
- #217 Health benefits (ft)
- #218 Human capital
- #219 Human resource development (ft)
- #220 Income
- #221 Outcomes
- #222 Outcomes of education
- #223 Productivity
- #224 Qualifications
- #225 Return on investment (ft)
- #226 Salaries
- #227 Self esteem
- #228 Self confidence
- #229 Self efficacy
- #230 Social capital
- #231 Social cohesion (ft)
- #232 Social inclusion (ft)
- #233 Social integration
- #234 Social return (ft)
- #235 Social return on investment (ft)
- #236 Staff retention (ft)
- #237 Wages
- #238 Workforce performance (ft)
- #239 #204 or #205 or #206 or #207 or #208 or #209 or #210 or #211 or #212 or #213 or #214 or #215 or #216 or #217 or #218 or #219 or #220 or #221 or #222 or #223 or #224 or #225 or #226 or #227 or #228 or #229 or #230 or #231 or #232 or #233 or #234 or #235 or #236 or #237 or #238
- #240 (#34 and #239) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141 or #158 or #182 or #202)

Skills acquisition, retention and loss set

- #241 Cognitive processes
- #242 Cognitive style
- #243 Learner characteristics (ft)

```
#244 Learner fatigue (ft)
#245 Learning loss (ft)
#246 Skill$ application (ft)
#247 Skill$ atrophy (ft)
#248 Skill$ fade (ft)
#249 Skill$ loss (ft)
#250 Skill$ retention (ft)
#251 Skill$ utili?ation (ft)
#252 #241 or #242 or #243 or #244 or #245 or #246 or #247 or #248 or #249 or #250 or
#253 (#34 and #252) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141 or #158 or #182 or
      #202 or #239)
Persistence set
#254 Academic persistence
#255 Access to education
#256 Access to learning
#257 Attendance
#258 Barriers to learning (ft)
#259 Completion (ft)
#260 Cost$ of learning (ft)
#261 Course completion rate (ft)
#262 Disadvantaged learners (ft)
#263 Dropouts
#264 Adult dropouts
#265 Financial incentives (ft)
#266 Flexible progression
#267 Hard to reach learners (ft)
#268 Learner autonomy (ft)
#269 Learner persistence (ft)
#270 Learner retention (ft)
#271 Learning journey (ft)
#272 Non completion (ft)
#273 Outreach (ft)
#274 Outreach program?es
#275 Participant satisfaction
#276 Participation
#277 Persistence
#278 Personal autonomy
#279 Progression (ft)
#280 Satisfaction (ft)
#281 'Stick with it' (ft)
#282 Study habits
#283 #254 or #255 or #256 or #257 or #258 or #259 or #260 or #261 or #262 or #263 or
      #264 or #265 or #266 or #267 or #268 or #269 or #270 or #271 or #272 or #273 or
      #274 or #275 or #276 or #277 or #278 or #279 or #280 or #281 or #282
#284 (#34 and #283) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141 or #158 or #182 or
```

British Education Index (BEI)

#202 or #239 or #252)

Skills set

- #1 Adult basic skills
- #2 Adult literacy
- #3 Adult numeracy (ft)
- #4 Adult literacy and numeracy (ft)
- #5 Adult literacy numeracy (ft)
- #6 Adult literacy language
- #7 ALAN. Ti, Ab
- #8 ALLN (ft)
- #9 ALNE (ft)
- #10 Basic skills
- #11 Communication skills
- #12 Core skills (ft)
- #13 Essential skills (ft)
- #14 Foundation skills (ft)
- #15 Functional literacy
- #16 Functional reading
- #17 Functional English (ft)
- #18 Functional numeracy (ft)
- #19 Functional mathematics (ft)
- #20 Key competences (ft)
- #21 Literacy
- #22 Literacy skills (ft)
- #23 Mathematics skills
- #24 Numeracy
- #25 Numeracy skills (ft)
- #26 Oracy (ft)
- #27 Reading skills (ft)
- #28 Study skills
- #29 Upskilling (ft)
- #30 Workplace based literacy (ft)
- #31 Workplace based numeracy (ft)
- #32 Workplace based skills (ft)
- #33 Writing skills
- #34 #1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 or #7 or #8 or #9 or #10 or #11 or #12 or #13 or #14 or #15 or #16 or #17 or #18 or #19 or #20 or #21 or #22 or #23 or #24 or #25 or #26 or #27 or #28 or #29 or #30 or #31 or #32 or #33

People requiring the skills set

- #35 Adult learners (ft)
- #36 Adults
- #37 Businesses (ft)
- #38 Disabilities
- #39 Disaffected (ft)
- #40 Disengaged (ft)
- #41 Early school leavers (ft)
- #42 Employers
- #43 Employees
- #44 Hard to reach learners (ft)
- #45 Individuals (ft)
- #46 Job applicants
- #47 Job seekers (ft)

```
#48
      Labour market
#49
      Learners (ft)
      Learning difficulties (ft)
#50
      Learning disabilities (ft)
#51
#52
      NEET$ or 'not in education, employment or training' (ft)
#53
      Education employment near training
      Offenders (ft)
#54
#55
      Social partners (ft)
#56
      Society (ft)
      Special educational needs (ft)
#57
#58
      Unemployed (ft)
#59
      Unions
      #35 or #36 or #37 or #38 or #39 or #40 or #41 or #42 or #43 or #44 or #45 or #46 or
#60
      #47 or #48 or #49 or #50 or #51 or #52 or #53 or #54 or #55 or #56 or #57 or #58 or
      #59
#61
      #34 and #60
Adult learning set
#62
      Adult and community education (ft)
#63
      Adult basic education
#64
      Adult education
      Adult education curriculum
#65
#66
      Adult learning
#67
      Adult learners (ft)
#68
      Adult secondary education (ft)
      Basic skills training (ft)
#69
#70
      Blended learning (ft)
#71
      Community learning and development (ft)
#72
      Community education
#73
      Embedded learning (ft)
#74
      Family learning (ft)
#75
      Family literacy language (ft)
#76
      FLLN
#77
      Flexible learning (ft)
#78
      Further education
      General educational development (ft)
#79
#80
      GED (ft)
      GED program?s (ft)
#81
#82
      Lifelong learning
#83
      Literacy education
#84
      Literacy program?s (ft)
#85
      Second chance education (ft)
#86
      Skills for Life (ft)
#87
      Train near Gain (ft)
#88
      Union learning (ft)
#89
      Vocational education
#90
      Workplace learning (ft)
#91
      Work based learning (ft)
      #62 or #63 or #64 or #65 or #66 or #67 or #68 or #69 or #70 or #71 or #72 or #73 or
#92
      #74 or #75 or #76 or #77 or #78 or #79 or #80 or #81 or #82 or #83 or #84 or #85 or
```

#86 or #87 or #88 or #89 or #90 or #91 or #92

```
#93
      (#34 and #92) not #60
Teaching set
#94
      Adult education teachers (ft)
#95
      Adult educators
#96
      Adult literacy tutors
#97
      Delivery systems
      Delivery models (ft)
#98
#99 Distance education
#100 Educational methods
#101 FE teachers(ft)
#102 FE trainers(ft)
#103 Informal learning (ft)
#104 Nonformal education
#105 Nontraditional education
#106 Instructional design
#107 Instructional methods (ft)
#108 Off the job training
#109 On the job training
#110 Pedagogy (ft)
#111 Teaching process
#112 Teaching methods
#113 #94 or #95 or #96 or #97 or #98 or #99 or #100 or #101 or #102 or #103 or #104 or
      #105 or #106 or #107 or #108 or #109 or #110 or #111 or #112
#114 (#34 and #113) not (#60 or #92)
Quality set
#115 Assessment
#116 Continuing professional development (ft)
#117 CPD (ft)
#118 Costs
#119 Educational quality
#120 Initial teacher training (ft)
#121 Preservice teacher education
#122 Teacher qualifications
#123 Teacher quality (ft)
#124 Teaching quality (ft)
#125 Teacher mobility
#126 Teacher turnover (ft)
#127 #115 or #116 or #117 or #118 or #119 or #120 or #121 or #122 or #123 or #124 or
      #125 or #126
#128 (#34 and #127) not (#60 or #92 or #113)
Effectiveness set
#129 Achievement rate (ft)
#130 Effective approach$ (ft)
#131 Evaluation
#132 Impact
#133 Success rate (ft)
#134 Teacher effectiveness
#135 #129 or #130 or #131 or #132 or #133 or #134
#136 (#34 and #135) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127)
```

Efficiency set

```
#137 Cost analysis (ft)
#138 Cost benefit analysis (ft)
#139 Cost effectiveness
#140 Educational economics
#141 #137 or #138 or #139 or #140
#142 (#34 and #141) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135)
Motivation set
#143 Aspiration
#144 Individual learning accounts (ft)
#145 ILA (ft)
#146 Learner aims (ft)
#147 Learning aims (ft)
#148 Learner educational objectives
#149 Learner goals (ft)
#150 Learning goals (ft)
#151 Motivation
#152 Learning motivation
#153 Learner motivation (ft)
#154 Learner support (ft)
#155 Learning support (ft)
#156 Self motivation
#157 Sponsors (ft)
#158 #143 or #144 or #145 or #146 or #147 or #148 or #149 or #150 or #151 or #152 or
      #153 or #154 or #155 or #156 or #157
#159 (#34 and #158) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141)
Technology set
#160 Computer assisted learning (ft)
#161 Computer assisted teaching (ft)
#162 Computer mediated communication
#163 Computers
#164 Distance learning (ft)
#165 E learning (ft)
#166 ICT
#167 Information technology
#168 Information and communication technology (ft)
#169 Independent learning (ft)
#170 Internet
#171 Internet learning (ft)
#172 Learning technology (ft)
#173 M learning (ft)
#174 Mobile learning (ft)
#175 Online learning (ft)
#176 Video conferencing (ft)
#177 Virtual learning environment$ (ft)
#178 VLE (ft)
#179 Web 1(ft)
#180 Web 2 (ft)
#181 Web 3 (ft)
```

```
#182 #160 or #161 or #162 or #163 or #164 or #165 or #166 or #167 or #168 or #169 or
      #170 or #171 or #172 or #173 or #174 or #175 or #176 or #177 or #178 or #179 or
      #180 or #181
#183 (#34 and #182) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141 or #158)
Learning hours set
#184 Attention span
#185 Engaged time (ft)
#186 Flexible progression
#187 Guided learning hours (ft)
#188 Home study
#189 Independent study
#190 Instruction hours (ft)
#191 Intensive courses (ft)
#192 Learning time (ft)
#193 Own time learning (ft)
#194 Self paced courses (ft)
#195 Self study (ft)
#196 Study time (ft)
#197 Supported self study (ft)
#198 Time factors (learning)
#199 Time off task (ft)
#200 Time on task
#201 Tutored learning
#202 #184 or #185 or #186 or #187 or #188 or #189 or #190 or #191 or #192 or #193 or
      #194 or #195 or #196 or #197 or #198 or #199 or #200 or #201
#203 (#34 and #202) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141 or #158 or #182)
Learning outcomes set
#204 Absenteeism
#205 Benefit$
#206 Confidence
#207 Earnings (ft)
#208 Educational benefits (ft)
#209 Educational mobility (ft)
#210 Educational outcomes (ft)
#211 Employability (ft)
#212 Employee productivity (ft)
#213 Employment
#214 Employment level
#215 Employment potential
#216 Employment status
#217 Health benefits (ft)
#218 Human capital
#219 Human resource development (ft)
#220 Income
#221 Outcomes
#222 Outcomes of education
#223 Productivity
#224 Qualifications
#225 Return on investment (ft)
```

#226 Salaries

```
#227 Self esteem
#228 Self confidence (ft)
#229 Self efficacy (ft)
#230 Social capital (ft)
#231 Social cohesion (ft)
#232 Social inclusion (ft)
#233 Social integration
#234 Social return (ft)
#235 Social return on investment (ft)
#236 Staff retention (ft)
#237 Wages
#238 Workforce performance (ft)
#239 #204 or #205 or #206 or #207 or #208 or #209 or #210 or #211 or #212 or #213 or
      #214 or #215 or #216 or #217 or #218 or #219 or #220 or #221 or #222 or #223 or
      #224 or #225 or #226 or #227 or #228 or #229 or #230 or #231 or #232 or #233 or
      #234 or #235 or #236 or #237 or #238
#240 (#34 and #239) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141 or #158 or #182 or
      #202)
Skills acquisition, retention and loss set
#241 Cognitive processes
#242 Cognitive style
#243 Learner characteristics (ft)
#244 Learner fatigue (ft)
#245 Learning loss (ft)
#246 Skill$ application (ft)
#247 Skill$ atrophy (ft)
#248 Skill$ fade (ft)
#249 Skill$ loss (ft)
#250 Skill$ retention (ft)
#251 Skill$ utilisation (ft)
#252 #241 or #242 or #243 or #244 or #245 or #246 or #247 or #248 or #249 or #250 or
```

#253 (#34 and #252) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141 or #158 or #182 or

#202 or #239) Persistence set

#251

- #254 Academic persistence
- #255 Access to education
- #256 Access to learning
- #257 Attendance
- #258 Barriers to learning (ft)
- #259 Completion (ft)
- #260 Cost\$ of learning (ft)
- #261 Course completion rate (ft)
- #262 Disadvantaged learners (ft)
- #263 Dropouts
- #264 Adult dropouts
- #265 Financial incentives (ft)
- #266 Flexible progression
- #267 Hard to reach learners (ft)
- #268 Learner autonomy (ft)

- #269 Learner persistence (ft)
- #270 Learner retention (ft)
- #271 Learning journey (ft)
- #272 Non completion (ft)
- #273 Outreach (ft)
- #274 Outreach program?es
- #275 Participant satisfaction
- #276 Participation
- #277 Persistence
- #278 Personal autonomy
- #279 Progression (ft)
- #280 Satisfaction (ft)
- #281 'Stick with it' (ft)
- #282 Study habits
- #283 #254 or #255 or #256 or #257 or #258 or #259 or #260 or #261 or #262 or #263 or #264 or #265 or #266 or #267 or #268 or #269 or #270 or #271 or #272 or #273 or #274 or #275 or #276 or #277 or #278 or #279 or #280 or #281 or #282
- #284 (#34 and #283) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141 or #158 or #182 or #202 or #239 or #252)

British Education Index Free Collections

- #1 Adult literacy and numeracy (ft)
- #2 Adult literacy
- #3 Adult numeracy (ft)
- #4 Adult basic skills (ft)
- #5 Basic skills
- #6 Adult education
- #7 Adult learners (ft)
- #8 Adult learning (ft)
- #9 #1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 or #7 or #8

Education Resources Information Center (ERIC)

Skills set

- #1 Adult basic skills
- #2 Adult literacy
- #3 Adult numeracy (ft)
- #4 Adult literacy and numeracy (ft)
- #5 Adult literacy numeracy (ft)
- #6 Adult literacy language
- #7 ALAN. Ti, Ab
- #8 ALLN (ft)
- #9 ALNE (ft)
- #10 Basic skills
- #11 Communication skills
- #12 Core skills (ft)
- #13 Essential skills (ft)
- #14 Foundation skills (ft)

- #15 Functional literacy
- #16 Functional reading
- #17 Functional English (ft)
- #18 Functional numeracy (ft)
- #19 Functional mathematics (ft)
- #20 Key competences (ft)
- #21 Literacy
- #22 Literacy skills (ft)
- #23 Mathematics skills
- #24 Numeracy
- #25 Numeracy skills (ft)
- #26 Oracy (ft)
- #27 Reading skills (ft)
- #28 Study skills
- #29 Upskilling (ft)
- #30 Workplace based literacy (ft)
- #31 Workplace based numeracy (ft)
- #32 Workplace based skills (ft)
- #33 Writing skills
- #34 #1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 or #7 or #8 or #9 or #10 or #11 or #12 or #13 or #14 or #15 or #16 or #17 or #18 or #19 or #20 or #21 or #22 or #23 or #24 or #25 or #26 or #27 or #28 or #29 or #30 or #31 or #32 or #33

People requiring the skills set

- #35 Adult learners (ft)
- #36 Adults
- #37 Businesses (ft)
- #38 Disabilities
- #39 Disaffected (ft)
- #40 Disengaged (ft)
- #41 Early school leavers (ft)
- #42 Employers
- #43 Employees
- #44 Hard to reach learners (ft)
- #45 Individuals (ft)
- #46 Job applicants
- #47 Job seekers (ft)
- #48 Labo?r market
- #49 Learners (ft)
- #50 Learning difficulties (ft)
- #51 Learning disabilities (ft)
- #52 NEET\$ or 'not in education, employment or training' (ft)
- #53 Education employment near training
- #54 Offenders (ft)
- #55 Social partners (ft)
- #56 Society (ft)
- #57 Special educational needs (ft)
- #58 Unemployed (ft)
- #59 Unions
- #60 #35 or #36 or #37 or #38 or #39 or #40 or #41 or #42 or #43 or #44 or #45 or #46 or
- #47 or #48 or #49 or #50 or #51 or #52 or #53 or #54 or #55 or #56 or #57 or #58 or #59

#61 #34 and #60 Adult learning set #62 Adult and community education (ft) #63 Adult basic education #64 Adult education #65 Adult education curriculum #66 Adult learning #67 Adult learners (ft) #68 Adult secondary education (ft) Basic skills training (ft) #69 #70 Blended learning (ft) Community learning and development (ft) #71 #72 Community education Embedded learning (ft) #73 #74 Family learning (ft) Family literacy language (ft) #75 #76 **FLLN** #77 Flexible learning (ft) #78 Further education #79 General educational development (ft) #80 GED (ft) #81 GED program?s (ft) #82 Lifelong learning #83 Literacy education #84 Literacy program?s (ft) #85 Second chance education (ft) #86 Skills for Life (ft) #87 Train near Gain (ft) Union learning (ft) #88 #89 Vocational education #90 Workplace learning (ft) #91 Work based learning (ft) #62 or #63 or #64 or #65 or #66 or #67 or #68 or #69 or #70 or #71 or #72 or #73 or #74 or #75 or #76 or #77 or #78 or #79 or #80 or #81 or #82 or #83 or #84 or #85 or #86 or #87 or #88 or #89 or #90 or #91 or #92 #93 (#34 and #92) not #60 Teaching set #94 Adult education teachers (ft) #95 Adult educators #96 Adult literacy tutors #97 **Delivery systems** #98 Delivery models (ft) #99 Distance education #100 Educational methods #101 FE teachers(ft) #102 FE trainers(ft) #103 Informal learning (ft) #104 Nonformal education #105 Nontraditional education

#106 Instructional design

```
#107 Instructional methods (ft)
#108 Off the job training
#109 On the job training
#110 Pedagogy (ft)
#111 Teaching process
#112 Teaching methods
#113 #94 or #95 or #96 or #97 or #98 or #99 or #100 or #101 or #102 or #103 or #104 or
#105 or #106 or #107 or #108 or #109 or #110 or #111 or #112
#114 (#34 and #113) not (#60 or #92)
Quality set
#115 Assessment
#116 Continuing professional development (ft)
#117 CPD (ft)
#118 Costs
#119 Educational quality
#120 Initial teacher training (ft)
#121 Preservice teacher education
#122 Teacher qualifications
#123 Teacher quality (ft)
#124 Teaching quality (ft)
#125 Teacher mobility
#126 Teacher turnover (ft)
#127 #115 or #116 or #117 or #118 or #119 or #120 or #121 or #122 or #123 or #124 or
#125 or #126
#128 (#34 and #127) not (#60 or #92 or #113)
Effectiveness set
#129 Achievement rate (ft)
#130 Effective approach$ (ft)
#131 Evaluation
#132 Impact
#133 Success rate (ft)
#134 Teacher effectiveness
#135 #129 or #130 or #131 or #132 or #133 or #134
#136 (#34 and #135) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127)
Efficiency set
#137 Cost analysis (ft)
#138 Cost benefit analysis (ft)
#139 Cost effectiveness
#140 Educational economics
#141 #137 or #138 or #139 or #140
#142 (#34 and #141) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135)
Motivation set
#143 Aspiration
#144 Individual learning accounts (ft)
#145 ILA (ft)
#146 Learner aims (ft)
#147 Learning aims (ft)
#148 Learner educational objectives
#149 Learner goals (ft)
```

```
#150 Learning goals (ft)
#151 Motivation
#152 Learning motivation
#153 Learner motivation (ft)
#154 Learner support (ft)
#155 Learning support (ft)
#156 Self motivation
#157 Sponsors (ft)
#158 #143 or #144 or #145 or #146 or #147 or #148 or #149 or #150 or #151 or #152 or
#153 or #154 or #155 or #156 or #157
#159 (#34 and #158) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141)
Technology set
#160 Computer assisted learning (ft)
#161 Computer assisted teaching (ft)
#162 Computer mediated communication
#163 Computers
#164 Distance learning (ft)
#165 E learning (ft)
#166 ICT
#167 Information technology
#168 Information and communication technology (ft)
#169 Independent learning (ft)
#170 Internet
#171 Internet learning (ft)
#172 Learning technology (ft)
#173 M learning (ft)
#174 Mobile learning (ft)
#175 Online learning (ft)
#176 Video conferencing (ft)
#177 Virtual learning environment$ (ft)
#178 VLE (ft)
#179 Web 1(ft)
#180 Web 2 (ft)
#181 Web 3 (ft)
#182 #160 or #161 or #162 or #163 or #164 or #165 or #166 or #167 or #168 or #169 or
#170 or #171 or #172 or #173 or #174 or #175 or #176 or #177 or #178 or #179 or #180 or
#181
#183 (#34 and #182) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141 or #158)
Learning hours set
#184 Attention span
#185 Engaged time (ft)
#186 Flexible progression
#187 Guided learning hours (ft)
#188 Home study
#189 Independent study
#190 Instruction hours (ft)
#191 Intensive courses (ft)
#192 Learning time (ft)
#193 Own time learning (ft)
#194 Self paced courses (ft)
```

```
#195 Self study (ft)
#196 Study time (ft)
#197 Supported self study (ft)
#198 Time factors (learning)
#199 Time off task (ft)
#200 Time on task
#201 Tutored learning
#202 #184 or #185 or #186 or #187 or #188 or #189 or #190 or #191 or #192 or #193 or
#194 or #195 or #196 or #197 or #198 or #199 or #200 or #201
#203 (#34 and #202) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141 or #158 or #182)
Learning outcomes set
#204 Absenteeism
#205 Benefit$
#206 Confidence
#207 Earnings (ft)
#208 Educational benefits (ft)
#209 Educational mobility (ft)
#210 Educational outcomes (ft)
#211 Employability (ft)
#212 Employee productivity (ft)
#213 Employment
#214 Employment level
#215 Employment potential
#216 Employment status
#217 Health benefits (ft)
#218 Human capital
#219 Human resource development (ft)
#220 Income
#221 Outcomes
#222 Outcomes of education
#223 Productivity
#224 Qualifications
#225 Return on investment (ft)
#226 Salaries
#227 Self esteem
#228 Self confidence (ft)
#229 Self efficacy (ft)
#230 Social capital (ft)
#231 Social cohesion (ft)
#232 Social inclusion (ft)
#233 Social integration
#234 Social return (ft)
#235 Social return on investment (ft)
#236 Staff retention (ft)
#237 Wages
#238 Workforce performance (ft)
#239 #204 or #205 or #206 or #207 or #208 or #209 or #210 or #211 or #212 or #213 or
#214 or #215 or #216 or #217 or #218 or #219 or #220 or #221 or #222 or #223 or #224 or
#225 or #226 or #227 or #228 or #229 or #230 or #231 or #232 or #233 or #234 or #235 or
#236 or #237 or #238
```

#240 (#34 and #239) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141 or #158 or #182 or #202)

Skills acquisition, retention and loss set

- #241 Cognitive processes
- #242 Cognitive style
- #243 Learner characteristics (ft)
- #244 Learner fatigue (ft)
- #245 Learning loss (ft)
- #246 Skill\$ application (ft)
- #247 Skill\$ atrophy (ft)
- #248 Skill\$ fade (ft)
- #249 Skill\$ loss (ft)
- #250 Skill\$ retention (ft)
- #251 Skill\$ utili?ation (ft)
- #252 #241 or #242 or #243 or #244 or #245 or #246 or #247 or #248 or #249 or #250 or #251
- #253 (#34 and #252) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141 or #158 or #182 or #202 or #239)

Persistence set

- #254 Academic persistence
- #255 Access to education
- #256 Access to learning
- #257 Attendance
- #258 Barriers to learning (ft)
- #259 Completion (ft)
- #260 Cost\$ of learning (ft)
- #261 Course completion rate (ft)
- #262 Disadvantaged learners (ft)
- #263 Dropouts
- #264 Adult dropouts
- #265 Financial incentives (ft)
- #266 Flexible progression
- #267 Hard to reach learners (ft)
- #268 Learner autonomy (ft)
- #269 Learner persistence (ft)
- #270 Learner retention (ft)
- #271 Learning journey (ft)
- #272 Non completion (ft)
- #273 Outreach (ft)
- #274 Outreach program?es
- #275 Participant satisfaction
- #276 Participation
- #277 Persistence
- #278 Personal autonomy
- #279 Progression (ft)
- #280 Satisfaction (ft)
- #281 'Stick with it' (ft)
- #282 Study habits

#283 #254 or #255 or #256 or #257 or #258 or #259 or #260 or #261 or #262 or #263 or #264 or #265 or #266 or #267 or #268 or #269 or #270 or #271 or #272 or #273 or #274 or #275 or #276 or #277 or #278 or #279 or #280 or #281 or #282 #284 (#34 and #283) not (#60 or #92 or #113 or #127 or #135 or #141 or #158 or #182 or

Elsevier Economics and Finance

- #1 Adult literacy and numeracy (ft)
- #2 Adult literacy (ft)

#202 or #239 or #252)

- #3 Adult numeracy (ft)
- #4 Adult basic skills (ft)
- #5 Basic skills (ft)
- #6 Adult education (ft)
- #7 Adult learners (ft)
- #8 Adult learning (ft)

Emerald

- #1 Adult literacy and numeracy (ft)
- #2 Adult literacy (ft)
- #3 Adult numeracy (ft)
- #4 Adult basic skills (ft)
- #5 Basic skills (ft)
- #6 Adult education (ft)
- #7 Adult learners (ft)
- #8 Adult learning (ft)

Oxford Economic Papers

- #1 Adult literacy and numeracy (ft)
- #2 Adult literacy (ft)
- #3 Adult numeracy (ft)
- #4 Adult basic skills (ft)
- #5 Basic skills (ft)
- #6 Adult education (ft)
- #7 Adult learners (ft)
- #8 Adult learning (ft)

PsycINFO

- #1 Adult literacy and numeracy (ft)
- #2 Adult literacy (ft)
- #3 Adult numeracy (ft)
- #4 Adult basic skills (ft)
- #5 Basic skills (ft)
- #6 Adult education
- #7 Adult learners (ft)
- #8 Adult learning (ft)
- #9 #1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 or #7 or #8

Social Policy and Practice

- #1 Adult literacy and numeracy (ft)
- #2 Adult literacy (ft)
- #3 Adult numeracy (ft)
- #4 Adult basic skills (ft)
- #5 Basic skills (ft)

#6 Adult education (ft) Adult learners (ft) #7 #8 Adult learning (ft) #9 #1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 or #7 or #8 Social Science Research Network (SSRN) Adult literacy and numeracy (ft) #1 #2 Adult literacy (ft) Adult numeracy (ft) #3 #4 Adult basic skills (ft) #5 Basic skills (ft) #6 Adult education (ft) Adult learners (ft) #7 Adult learning (ft) #8

© Crown copyright 2011 You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. Visit http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/ or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or e-mail: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk.

This publication is also available on our website at http://www.bis.gov.uk

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to:

Department for Business, Innovation and Skills 1 Victoria Street London SW1H 0ET Tel: 020 7215 5000

If you require this publication in an alternative format, email enquiries@bis.gsi.gov.uk, or call 020 7215 5000.

URN 11/1418